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Chairlady’s Statement
FIEmE

To Our Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of CT Vision S.L. (International)
Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present you with
the annual report for the year ended 31 December 2020.

BUILDING CONSTRUCTION BUSINESS

The outbreak of the 2019 coronavirus ("“COVID-19") pandemic
in early 2020 and the subsequent quarantine measures as well
as the travel restrictions imposed by many countries have had
negative impacts to the global economy, business environment
and directly and indirectly affect the operations of the Group. The
Group stopped its construction activities from January 2020 to April
2020 due to mandatory government quarantine measures in an
effort to contain the spread of the pandemic. The outbreak of the
COVID-19 pandemic has also prompted many countries to adopt
travel restrictions and lockdown measures to contain the spread of
the pandemic, but the relevant inbound travel restrictions have also
disrupted some construction-related supply chains, including the
flow of construction materials and labor. Coupled with the impact
of mandatory government quarantine measures, these also led to
further delay in the progress of the Saipan project that was originally
scheduled to resume work in the middle of 2020.

In view of the uncertain economic outlook, the investment
atmosphere in the construction industry has been greatly affected
and the reduced market risk appetite resulted in a sharp decline in
the number of projects available for tender as well as a significant
reduction in profit margin of construction projects. Therefore,
only seven new contracts for the foundation works and ancillary
services was awarded to the Group, and no new contract for general
building works project was awarded during the current period. In
addition, certain construction projects were at their ending phase.
The revenue for the year ended 31 December 2020 of the Group
generated from construction services has further decreased as
compared with that of the corresponding period last year.

In response to the market challenges, the Group will continue to
adopt energy-saving measures and building information models to
the properties to be built, with the aim of providing customers with
more comprehensive construction services and enhancing their
competitiveness in tendering for construction contracts.
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Chairlady’s Statement
TREHRE

RENEWABLE ENERGY BUSINESS

In response to the above-mentioned business risks arising from
the COVID-19 pandemic in Hong Kong and overseas markets, the
management takes a prudent step and seize the opportunities
brought by the macroeconomic policy of the PRC. Furthermore,
benefited from the introduction of various policies and measures
by official authorities of the PRC to support the development of
renewable energy industry in 2019, we decided to develop energy
storage related projects of domestic grids (the “Energy Storage
Projects”) based on the original clean energy business.

On 29 June 2020, the Company has entered into an cooperation
framework agreement with State Power Investment Group (Beijing)
New Energy Investment Co. Ltd* (Bl R B & &£ & (db 1) #T LR
% & B BR A 7 ) (“SPIC Beijing”) and a cooperation agreement
with Contemporary Amperex Technology Co., Limited* ( % & B
RETBEREHE AR 5 B BR 2 8]) (“CATL"), respectively, in order to
work together on the Energy Storage Projects. Such cooperation
diversified the risks of revenues of the Group in different regions,
and also enabled diversity of the Group's renewable energy
business. It is expected that the integration of the project resources
of SPIC Beijing and the market-leading advantages of CATL in
products and technical services can help the Company further
develop the integrated energy service business on the basis of the
renewable energy business.

E-COMMERCE BUSINESS

In order to broaden the revenue base and diversify the Group's
source of income, the Company seized the huge potential in the
e-commerce (“e-commerce”) industry in the PRC and established
Zhejiang CT Shunlian Network Technology Company Limited* (4
LR 2B A48 BHE B R A F]) (“CT Shunlian”) with Zhejiang
Shunlian Network Technology Company Limited* (47T BB 48 4%
B AR AR ("Zhejiang Shunlian”) and a senior management
staff of Zhejiang Shunlian, who was responsible for procurement
function for the e-commerce retail platform, to provide
procurement service and related online and offline consultation
services to e-commerce companies.
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Chairlady’s Statement
FIEmE

Zhejiang Shunlian is principally engaged in the e-commerce
industry with social experience and self-marketing strategies. The
online platform operated by Zhejiang Shunlian accommodates a
wide variety of products including but not limited to agricultural
products and healthcare products. Zhejiang Shunlian has extensive
experience in e-commerce and also possesses relevant permits and
qualifications including but not limited to Internet Content Provider
(ICP) qualification of e-commerce, streaming operation license
and qualifications relating to providing pharmaceutical product
information on the internet.

CT Shunlian has entered into a strategic cooperation agreement
with Zhonghe Yajiankang Service Center (% 130 FE AR 757 L)
(supervised by the National Administration of Traditional Chinese
Medicine (BIZX A B L2 E IR D)) in relation to, inter alia, setting
up of an online platform for the sales of healthcare products and
provision of health-related training programmes. CT Shunlian has
also entered into a strategic cooperation framework agreement
with Tianjiang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (TR TEEFRE R
A]), a group company of China National Pharmaceutical Group
Corporation (1 BJ & 24 @) and a subsidiary of China Traditional
Chinese Medicine Holdings Co. Limited (7P B Fp 25322 fG AR A &), a
company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in relation to, inter alia, the
joint establishment of an industry-recognised brand for healthcare
products, and provision of technical support for the expansion of
the other party's e-commerce business. The Company believes that,
through cooperation with Zhejiang Shunlian, CT Shunlian is able
to diversify income stream by virtue of broadening the Group's
business, thereby maximising the return for the Shareholders and
promoting the Company’s growth and development.

OUTLOOK

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is more profound than
expected. In early 2021, WHO announced the variants of the
coronavirus causing COVID-19 are discovered in Denmark, the
United Kingdom, South Africa and Japan subsequently, with some
being more contagious. While the global economic activities are
in the hope of gradual recovery with vaccination programmes
launched by many countries, the real economy remains under the
impact of epidemic prevention measures from time to time and we
have to accept “the New Normal” of co-existing with the virus in the
long run, including a more comprehensive application of remote
working and adapting to the rapid growth of e-commerce.

6 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

WOT ERE = B2 E AR BRI A HRIEN
EEROTE -MIIEBEENB LYo ZRBE
i BREETRREER MRS o T IEE

ERANALELRARARENATELD &
BETRNEFEHENRTHERICHEE B
BEEER  URAREERA LRHEERER

7= ERE D R MR 2B RSPO (RBEIRP S
EEREE ) BRAFHE  ASARES
B E LT B AHEREERKIBHERRE
BRENIEIE 8 - P RIER RE TR RTEER
RAB(FHRBHESENKERRREEHERS
FRAMR AR ([BRZFT]) EAR L A=) B 2e4%
AR A BB R BRI L ERE A EER R
NEEBR(ERBR)BFRIXAMANEEE
mmmhE - RAHTHERRRERRNIES
ARBRE - BBETER S (F - R R
MHARAEEED - BRAKREZ T BRR
ERBEAEH - HMEEARANERRER -

RE

COVID-19Z EM R BIRWIBHIRER 2021 F /1t
FEE ARS8 BCOVID- 19N BB SZ L%
ERE R mIERAREREE  HHAEE
BERE BEREELRZEEEHLEEER
FTEE - REEEEBE R EEE - ETEER
LENETRZHREBNEZET BMTE2E
THRSERPRTHN [(FFL] BEEEIER
EREBANEBERSE THBENIRRERE -

Annual Report 2020 3



Chairlady’s Statement
TREHRE

The management swiftly responded to the market changes and
gained insight into the potential of the e-commerce business in
the PRC leveraging on the relationship with Zhejiang Shunlian and
established a joint venture to provide procurement service and
related online and offline consultation services to e-commerce
companies. At the same time, the Company work with SPIC Beijing
and CATL on the Energy Storage Project, which is expected to
develop the integrated service business.

Looking forward, the management will continue to prudently
respond to the market changes and challenges arising from the
COVID-19 pandemic, seize the opportunities brought by the
macroeconomic policy of the PRC, by leveraging on the on the
substantial resources of CT Vision Investment, our controlling
shareholder, and the in-depth corporation with Zhejiang Shunlian.
We will explore possibilities to diversify our business for spreading
risks, drive business growth and create value for shareholders.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to extend my sincere
appreciation to our shareholders, customers, subcontractors and
suppliers for their continuous support. In the meantime, | would
also like to thank our Board of Directors, the management team and
the staff of the Group for their hard work and dedication. The Group
will continue to adhere to its commitment of “putting our hearts
together and work hand in hand to create win-win” and take on
various challenges in the business environment together.

DuYi
Chairlady

Hong Kong, 15 December 2021
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I\/\anagement Discussion and Analysis

BIEE R wm B AT

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activities of CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings
Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, collectively
the “Group”) are (i) building construction business which mainly
includes foundation works and ancillary services and general
building works, (ii) renewable energy business, (iii) e-commerce
business, and (iv) others which mainly include building information
modelling services and sales of piles.

In October 2014, the Group entered into a construction contract
(the “Contract”) as the main contractor, providing foundation works
and ancillary services and general building works (the “Project”), for a
construction project. The foundation works lasted from May 2015 to
October 2015. The general building works commenced in May 2016
and was preliminary expected to complete in or around February
2018. However, due to (i) the inclement weather; (ii) change of
policy on worker visa application, such that a substantial amount of
workers could not obtain the necessary work permit carry out the
work at the site; (i) change in design as instructed by the customer
("Customer A"), and permit for this work not having been obtained,
the progress of the Project was hindered. On 19 March 2018
Customer A has issued a letter to us indicating its agreement to our
application for extension of time and the completion date of the
Project was extended to February 2019. Due to the changes of policy
in worker visa application of the US Consulate, Customer A has
issued a letter to us on 21 December 2019 agreeing our application
for extension of time and the completion date of the Project was
extended to 18 months after the recommencement of construction
work. During the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date
of this annual report, the quarantine measures as well as the travel
restrictions imposed by many countries due to novel coronavirus
("COVID-19") pandemic, and the visa approval process by the local
authorities are still affecting the progress of the Project.

The Project is now expected to complete in 18 months upon the
recommencement of construction work, which depends on the
easing of quarantine measures and travel restrictions, and the visa
approval process by the local authorities. The Board will continue to
closely monitor the progress of the Project.

8 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

£ e

R IER: (B ZERBER QB ([ARE] - ERE
MEBARGRER [ AREDNETEXBER1EE
TRER T2EMETIEMEERBA L —

MREBETIE : (WA BERERER  (IWETHEKEE
% REM » EERIEEEEBRIRG K E
EIBHE -

R2014F 108  AEEFTLEZGHN([ZE
wl) o tERBERER A EEZELERREMET
BERERBGUAR —MBETRR([ZER]) o #
AETRE2015F5AARBRE2015F108 - — K2
HETREP2016Fs AT - W1 TBER20184F2 A
YW%EI R AROBLRA (DT AR

FREREE  SAETAELDEREST
#%ﬁMﬁﬁ:m}EﬁU%ﬁADh%E&ﬁ
i RIDAZBEILREEHA  ZBENEE
FEm=PE - K2018FE3 8190 - BEAMRBAIZH
i RAAEERTERENERE  BZEE
MELHHMEE2019F28 - EREREEEY
TAZZRBHEES  BFEAR2019F 1221
BREMEL &Yt REERIEREIBRE
BZEEN T HHFREEEETEZ 18
A > REZE20200F12831B It FERBEEAFR
BE - AR EMRRES ([CoVID-19]) ZIEEH %
IEMM@%?WM&W%@ﬁ'M&%%%W
FEMNEFEKATEESZIEBNHEE -

ZIEE BATEMNEREETRRENISEARNT

&’E@%FH%E%?%&KL@%'&%E
BEREHEREF  EFTGREETYERZA
EE

Annual Report 2020 3



Management Discussion and Analysis

B B A am B AT

The outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic and the subsequent
quarantine measures as well as the travel restrictions imposed
by many countries have had negative impacts to the global
economy, business environment and directly and indirectly affect
the operations of the Group. The Group stopped its construction
activities from January 2020 to April 2020 due to mandatory
government quarantine measures in an effort to contain the
spread of the pandemic. On the other hand, the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region government has announced some financial
measures and supports for corporates to overcome the negative
impact arising from the pandemic. As such, the financial positions
and performance of the Group were affected in different aspects,
including reduction in revenue and government grants in respect of
COVID-19-related subsidies as disclosed in the relevant notes.

Building construction business

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of 15 contracts
(2019: 12 contracts) on hand (including contracts in progress and
contracts yet to be commenced). The amount of contact sum yet to
be recognised as at 31 December 2020 amounted to approximately
HK$440.1 million (2019: HK$469.6 million).

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services

Foundation works mainly include mini-piling, percussive piling, rock
socketed in steel H-pile and bored pile, together with construction
of pile caps. Ancillary services mainly include site formation and
demolition works, for example, clearance of the site, excavation,
demolition of a building or any substantial part of a building.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, there were 19 (2019:
18) foundation works and ancillary services projects contributing
revenue of approximately HK$114.8 million (2019: HK$143.5 million)
to this business stream.

General Buildings Works

General building works mainly include structural alteration and
additional works, development of superstructures such as entire
dwelling, office buildings, stores, public utility buildings, farm
buildings, etc.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, there were 4 (2019:
8) general building works projects contributing revenue of
approximately HK$9.6 million (2019: HK$63.7 million) to this
business stream.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B B A wm R AT

Renewable energy business

TIEN New Energy Development Limited (“TIEN New Energy”) is an
investment holding company and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in engineering development and qualified form main
engineering, procurement and construction ("EPC") in electric
power projects in the People’s Republic of China ("PRC") with a focus
in application of renewable in the construction sector of the PRC.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, renewable energy
business contributed approximately HK$122.4 million revenue
(2019: HK$36.7 million) of the Group. As at the date of this annual
report, the Group had a total of 3 contracts (2019: 3 contracts)
on hand (including contracts in progress and contracts yet to be
commenced) and the relevant awarded contract sum of these
contracts on hand amounted to approximately RMB141.5 million
(2019: RMB192.2 million).

E-commerce business

Zhejiang CT Shunlian Network Technology Company Limited*
T T PR 72 BB B 48 B B BR A B)) is principally engaged in the
provision of procurement service and related online and offline
consultation services to e-commerce companies.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the e-commerce
business contributed approximately HK$3.0 million revenue (2019:
HKSNil) to the Group.

Others

Building information modelling services

Nanjing CT Vision Smart City Technology Limited* (B R AZR1E
BEHMERARAR) is principally engaged in the provision of
building information modelling services.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the building information

modelling business contributed approximately HK$1.2 million
revenue (2019: HKSNil) to the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B B A am B AT

Sales of Piles

The piles are manufactured and supplied by EMEMEEER
A RI("GZYC"). Win Win Way Materials Supply Limited, the indirect
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, has been granted the
exclusive distribution right by GZYC for its pile products in Hong
Kong from August 2010 to July 2020. The piles sourced from GZYC
are "YANGCHENG" precast prestressed concrete piles.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, sales of piles contributed
HKSNIl (2019: HKS2.9 million) revenue to the Group. The decrement
is mainly due to decrease in the demand of concrete piles used for
certain geological areas with different soil type.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s revenue
amounted to approximately HK$250.9 million (2019: HK$246.9
million). The increase was mainly attributable to decrease in revenue
from building construction business of approximately HK$82.9
million offset against increase in renewable energy business of
approximately HK$85.6 million.

Since (i) only seven new contracts for foundation works and ancillary
services were awarded to the Group during the Period and no new
contract for general building work projects was awarded due to
the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic, which has severely affected
the construction industry and caused a decrease in the number of
projects which are available for tender; (i) the decrease in revenue
recognised from construction projects but increase in cost incurred
as some construction projects on hand were under suspension
or at their ending phases, which has resulted in negative gross
profit margin; (iii) the demand of concrete piles used for certain
geological areas with different soil types decreased, which has
resulted in no sales recorded during the Period; and (iv) a deed of
settlement was signed for two projects as a result of mediation
with customers, which resulted in significant loss of contract assets.
The Group's gross profit decreased from approximately HK$24.0
million during the year ended 31 December 2019 to gross loss of
approximately HK$30.4 million during the year ended 31 December
2020. The Group's gross profit margin decreased significantly from
approximately 9.7% during the year ended 31 December 2019 to
gross loss margin of approximately 12.1% during the year ended 31
December 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Selling and administrative expenses (the "S&A Expenses”)

primarily comprise staff costs, business development expenses,

transportation expenses, depreciation, bank charges, office
expenses and professional charges. The S&A Expenses for the year
increased by HK$13.0 million to approximately HK$58.6 million,
compared with approximately HK$45.6 million in last year, which
was mainly due to salaries and consulting fee incurred.

As a result, the Group recorded a loss for the year attributable

to owners of the Company of approximately HK$55.5 million as
compared with the loss of approximately HK$108.1 million in 2019.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND

HERTBRAX(HERTHRAX ) TEEBFEE

THA - FIEERER

CRBRAX C TE - RTT

B MAEAIREEER - AFEHERT
BEASXBREFL456 8 EBTEMZEEETE
HsseBEBBL TBRRELENFEREHRE
FRFTER °

it REBARFEHRESANRFER ARLEE
#5555 BB TT 0 M2019F EHE4)108. 1 BEB T °

RBES - MBERRERRE

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
As at As at
31 December 2020 31 December 2019
720205 R2019%F
12A31H 12A31H
Current ratio' BN R 2.2 16
Gearing ratio (%)> B 2 (%)2 29.0 51.5
Net debt to equity ratio (%) FERS R R R (%)° 17.5 338
Interest coverage ratio* F BB & (9.5) (21.8)

Notes:

12

Current ratio based on the total current assets divided by the total
current liabilities.

Gearing ratio based on the total debt (which includes borrowings
and bank overdrafts, lease liabilities and amount due to immediate
holding company) divided by total equity and multiplied by 100%.

Net debt to equity ratios based on net debts (which include
borrowings and bank overdrafts, lease liabilities and amount due to
immediate holding company less pledged bank deposits and cash
and bank balances) divided by total equity (which comprises all
components of equity attributable to owners of the Company) and
multiplied by 100%.

Interest coverage based on the loss before tax and interest divided by
the total interest expenses incurred.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS

Net proceeds from the subscription and placing under specific
mandate

On 22 January 2020, the Company entered into a subscription
and placing agreement with the controlling shareholder and a
placing agent respectively in relation to the subscription of a
maximum number of 77,000,000 new shares of the Company
(the “Subscription”) and placing of 73,000,000 new shares of the
Company (the “Placing”), respectively, at the price of HK$0.80 per
share. The completion of the Subscription took place on 14 July
2020 and a total of 77,000,000 new shares of the Company have
been successfully subscribed by the controlling shareholder. The
completion of the Placing took place on 21 July 2020 and an
aggregate of 11,830,000 new shares of the Company have been
placed by the placing agent to not less than six placees. The total
net proceeds from the Subscription and the Placing amounted
to approximately HK$69.76 million. The table below sets out the
proposed applications of the net proceeds and actual usage up to
31 December 2020:

FrEREFEAR

REBHREZBRESHEREFE

20201 A228  ARQ G5 B EE I E &
EREIVURBERESH:E  NABERERS
77,000,000 R AR FR GO ([REFIE]) REE
73,000,000 RN ABFTRM ([EEESRIE]) - ERA
Bl m0.80/E T - REEFIEMN2020F7H1485E
B SRR AR R B A R A ££77,000,000f% A8 A A
R - BB EEEMN2020F7A21B =K - BRER
BEMADRINBEEARE S 2£11,830,00008 28
NAFERD - REEENEESE L MERIEF
HAREL) R69.76 B BT o TREVIFTBHIEF
HOWMTERE  UAREZE2020F12A31 HNER
EA

Actual
usage up to
Proposed 31 December Remaining
application 2020 balance
HZE20205F
12A318M
BEAR BREAR BREE
HKS'million HKS'million HKS'million
BEET BEAT BEBT
Provision of construction service IRHEEERELRERER
and development of business in B8R BAREIR 2 %75
relation to renewable energy 51.9 51.9 -
General working capital —REEES 17.9 17.9 -
69.8 69.8 -
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Net proceeds from the subscription under general mandate

On 12 October 2020 (after trading hours), the Company entered into
the Subscription Agreement with the Subscriber (an Independent
Third Party), pursuant to which the Subscriber has conditionally
agreed to subscribe for and the Company has conditionally agreed
to allot and issue a total of 60,000,000 Subscription Shares at the

RiIE— R REZBIERRFE
2020510 B 12 R (RS BRIR) - AR ERHE
ANRBIYFE=77)FLRB W Bt - BEA

=il
SN

EBMAAREBBRERERE R
’ wuﬁgﬁﬁlﬂx B
ZE N2 2EEtEe

EEGHRE
E£1T 4 $£60,000,000% 32 48 IZ 17
A% 19 0.8078 7T » R =

Subscription Price of HK$0.80 per Subscription Share. All conditions — 3ZAk » MARE EIED R 2020910 A28 E TR o T
under the Subscription Agreement have been fulfilled and the %%ﬁﬁ‘]ﬁﬁ%i\lﬁﬁr%ﬁﬁ’]%ﬁ;{ﬁﬁ @& - AR EE2020
completion of the Subscription took place on 28 October 2020. The 12 A3TBHERIER :
table below sets out the proposed applications of the net proceeds
and actual usage up to 31 December 2020:
Actual
usage up to
Proposed 31 December Remaining
application 2020 balance
EZ20205F
12A318W
BERZ BERER BRER
HKS'million HKS'million HKS'million
BEET BEET BEET
Development of business in ERBEEHERRS
relation to renewable energy %7?‘ 34.0 34.0 -
General working capital BEEES 10.2 10.2 -
442 442 -

EMPLOYEES

The Group had 99 employees as at 31 December 2020. The Group
offers competitive remuneration package that is based on overall
market rates and employee performance, as well as performance
of the Group. Remuneration package is comprised of salary,
performance-based bonus, and other benefits including training
and provident funds.

14
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had no capital commitments as at 31 December 2020.
CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, bank deposits of HKSNil (31 December
2019: HKS40.1 million) and a life insurance contract were pledged
to secure the banking facilities granted to the Group. As at 31
December 2020, the lease liability (31 December 2019: obligation
under finance lease) of a solar power system granted to the Group
was secured by the trade receivables of HK$137,000 (31 December
2019: HK$88,000) and registered capital of a wholly-owned
subsidiary amounted to RMB10 million (31 December 2019: RMB10
million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in note 31 to the Financial Statements, the Group
had no other contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2020.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group has no significant exposure to foreign currency risk as
substantially all of the Group’s transactions are denominated in
Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars (“USD") and Renminbi
("RMB"). In this respect, the only risk it is faced arose from exposure
mainly to RMB and USD. These risks were mitigated as the Group
held Hong Kong dollars, USD and RMB bank accounts to finance
transactions denominated in these currencies respectively.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of its foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its
foreign currency exposure closely and will consider using hedging
instruments in respect of significant foreign currency exposure as
and when appropriate.
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SHARE OPTIONS

Written resolutions of the sole shareholder were passed on 23
June 2017 to adopt the share option scheme (the “Scheme”). No
share options have been granted, exercised or cancelled under the
Scheme since its adoption date and up to the date of this annual
report. The Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years after
the date of adoption.

PROSPECTS

Since the worldwide outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in early
2020, all sectors have been severely affected with no exception to
the construction industry. Coupled with the impact of the Sino-US
trade disputes that began in mid-2019, the investment atmosphere
in the construction industry has been greatly affected under the
uncertain economic outlook. The reduced market risk appetite
resulted in a sharp decline in the number of projects available
for tender as well as a significant reduction in profit margin of
construction projects. Therefore, only seven new contracts for
the foundation works and ancillary services was awarded to the
Group, and no new contract for general building works project was
awarded during the current period.

The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic has also prompted many
countries to adopt travel restrictions and lockdown measures to
contain the spread of the pandemic, but the relevant inbound travel
restrictions have also disrupted some construction-related supply
chains, including the flow of construction materials and labor.
Coupled with the impact of mandatory government quarantine
measures, these also led to further delay in the progress of the
Saipan project that was originally scheduled to resume work in the
middle of 2020.

In response to the above-mentioned business risks arising from
the COVID-19 pandemic in Hong Kong and overseas markets, the
management takes a prudent step and seize the opportunities
brought by the macroeconomic policy of the PRC. Furthermore,
benefited from the introduction of various policies and measures
by official authorities of the PRC to support the development of
renewable energy industry in 2019, we decided to develop energy
storage related projects of domestic grids (the “Energy Storage
Projects”) based on the original clean energy business.

1 6 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)
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On 29 June 2020, the Company has entered into an cooperation
framework agreement with State Power Investment Group (Beijing)
New Energy Investment Co. Ltd* (Bl R BEHR E B (db 7 ) ¥R
& B R A 8]) ("SPIC Beijing”) and a cooperation agreement
with Contemporary Amperex Technology Co., Limited* ( % & B
RETEEIRBHE R 1D B BR A 7)) ("CATL"), respectively, in order to
work together on the Energy Storage Projects. Such cooperation
diversified the risks of revenues of the Group in different regions,
and also enabled diversity of the Group’s renewable energy
business. It is expected that the integration of the project resources
of SPIC Beijing and the market-leading advantages of CATL in
products and technical services can help the Company further
develop the integrated energy service business on the basis of the
renewable energy business.

In order to broaden the revenue base and diversify the Group's
source of income, the Company seized the huge potential in the
e-commerce (“e-commerce”) industry of the PRC and established
Zhejiang CT Shunlian Network Technology Company Limited* (4
TR RN A LS B B BR 2 B]) with Zhejiang Shunlian Network
Technology Company Limited* G /T BB 48 48 B B BR A 7))
("Zhejiang Shunlian”) and a senior management staff of Zhejiang
Shunlian, who was responsible for procurement function for the
e-commerce retail platform, to provide procurement service and
related online and offline consultation services to e-commerce
companies.

A majority of the construction activities of the Group have been
resumed since April 2020, and the progress of projects have
also gradually resumed normal. Also, the Group will continue to
submit tenders for suitable potential projects to maximize the
Group's profits in relation to construction. It is expected that the
construction business will be back on track step by step after the
economic recovery. Together with the Group’s development plan
on Energy Storage Projects and e-commerce business, the Board is
confident with the outlook of the Group.

The Group will continue to assess the development of the
COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on the operation and financial
performance of the Group. We will make further announcement to
our stakeholders as and when appropriate.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

(a)

18

Pursuant to a shareholders’ resolution passed on 23 February
2021, the authorised share capital of the Company was
increased from HK$10,000,000 divided into 1,000,000,000
shares of the Company of HK$0.01 each to HK$15,600,000
divided into 1,560,000,000 shares by the creation of
560,000,000 additional shares, which will, upon issue and
being fully paid, rank pari passu in all respects with the Shares
inissue.

Pursuant to a shareholders’ resolution passed on 23 February
2021, the existing English name of the Company will be
changed from “CT Vision (International) Holdings Limited”
to “CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited” and the
dual foreign name in Chinese of the Company be changed
from " RZEE (BB ) ZERBR A F]" to “H R IEHE (B )
R AR A F)" with effect from the date of the certificate of
incorporation on change of name issued by the Registrar of
Companies in the Cayman Islands. The change was effective
from 25 March 2021.

On 23 August 2021, Win Win Way Constructions Co., Limited
("WWWC") and Well Famous International Investment Limited
("Well Famous”) entered into an Agreement, pursuant to
which WWWC has conditionally agreed to assign and novate
all rights, titles, interests, benefits, covenants, liabilities,
duties and obligations of WWWC in respect of Saipan
Project contract and the subcontracts with effect from the
Completion Date at the Consideration of HK$179,584,366. The
consideration was arrived after taking into account, among
other things, (i) the aggregate amount of prepayments of
HK$113,543,812 made by WWWC pursuant to the Saipan
Project; (i) the aggregate receivable balance of HK$51,441,232
to be received by WWWGC; (iii) the retention deposit of
HK$18,299,322 paid by WWWC; and (iv) the aggregate payable
balance of HK$3,700,000 to be paid by WWWC.
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The Consideration for the Assignment and Novation is
HKS$179,584,366 which shall be paid by Well Famous to
WWWC in the following manner: (a) HK$30,000,000, being
the non-refundable deposit, has been paid in cash by Well
Famous to WWWC prior to the execution of the Agreement;
and (b) HK$149,584,366 shall be satisfied by the issue of the
Promissory Note by Well Famous in favour of WWWC upon
Completion. Details of the transaction were disclosed in the
Company's announcement dated 23 August 2021.

On 2 November 2021, WWWC and Well Famous mutually
agreed not to proceed with the Assignment and Novation. As
such, on 2 November 2021, WWWC and Well Famous entered
into a deed of termination (the “Termination Deed”) to
terminate the Agreement with immediate effect. With effect
from the date of the Termination Deed, each of WWWC and
Well Famous shall be fully released and discharged forthwith
from their respective outstanding obligations (if any) under
the Agreement and each of them has no further obligations or
rights or any claims against the other under the Agreement.
Details of the termination were disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 2 November 2021.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The composition of the Board of Directors during the year end up to
the date of this annual report is set out below:

Executive Director

Mr. Wu Rui (“Mr. Wu"), aged 47, is an executive Director and
the vice chairman of our Group. Mr. Wu has extensive experience
in international trading business and transnational investment.
He graduated from Shanghai Customs College in July 1995
and subsequently joined the Ford Motor Company, a vehicle
manufacturer based in the United States of America, as a customs
specialist since September 1995, where he was responsible for
analysing the import and export data, managing the supply chain
of the company and conducting research on General Agreement
on Tariff and Trade. From December 1998 to January 2002, Mr. Wu
worked for GE Healthcare Corp. (formerly known as Amersham
Pharmaceutical PLC), a company with principal business of research
and development of medical technology and life science as the
director of the global supply chain development (Far East) and was
responsible for managing the supply chain of the company and the
project “Sourcing from China”. From March 2002 to June 2015, he
served as the general manager of Beijing Grand Integrity Merchants
Company* t RGP E B AR (a company principally
engaged in trading of construction materials), where he was
responsible for looking for global business opportunities in relation
to new material of architecture. Since December 2015, Mr. Wu
served as the managing director of Xinjiang Kaige Energy Company,
a company that is principally engaged in clean energy business,
where he was responsible for searching for global green technology
business opportunities and handling new-energy-related projects of
the company.

20
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Dr. Ho Chun Kit Gregory (“Dr. Ho"), aged 43, is an executive
Director and the chief executive officer of our Group. Dr. Ho
obtained his bachelor degree of Business Accounting from
the Monash University of Australia in 2002 and completed his
dissertation of “One Belt, One Road Post-Doctoral Research
Programme” at the University of Oxford in May 2018. Dr. Ho has
extensive experience in finance and investment, especially in the
renewable energy and technology, media and telecom (TMT)
industry. He has previously participated in the investment in smart
energy cities in the PRC, which involved green building construction
projects and application of renewable energy in the construction
sector. Dr. Ho is currently the chairman of Asia-Pacific Smarter
Energy Alliance (ZE A% BZELIREZEEEER). Dr. Ho was an executive
director of China Oil Gangran Energy Group Holdings Limited,
a company listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 8132) from May 2013 to
February 2019. He was also an independent non-executive director
of Asia Resources Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 899) from February 2015
to October 2016, and an independent non-executive director of
Sunrise (China) Technology Group Limited (now known as Koala
Financial Group Limited), a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8226) from April 2014 to August 2016.

Mr. Guo Jianfeng (“Mr. Guo”), aged 49, is an executive Director
of our Group. He holds a degree in Engineering Management
from Jiangsu Radio and Television University* (L& /EEER
KE) in the PRC. He also holds the professional qualification as
certified senior engineer issued by Human Resources and Social
Security Development of Jiangsu Province* (T#k & A 71 & R H
S {RFEEE) of the PRC. He has over 27 years of experience in the
construction industry and has participated in various large-scale
construction projects and new energy investment projects. From
August 1991 to June 2006, he worked in Yancheng Transaction
Bureau, Jiangsu Province* (T %R B4 X3 /F), holding his last
position as project manager. From July 2006 to March 2010, he
worked in China City Construction 2nd Engineering Bureau Co., Ltd.*
(RIS — T2 BAEMR AT, holding his last position as branch
company general manager. From April 2010 to August 2014, he was
the chief executive officer of Jiangsu Zhongmeng Energy Group
Co. Ltd* (T &k BBaLREE FBR A R]). From September 2014 to
October 2015, he was the general manager of the Jiangsu branch
company of Tian Hong Yang Guang New Energy Investment Co.
Ltd.* (R[5 KB IRIZE B R A 7). He has joined Jiangsu Zhong
Tian Hui New Energy Technology Co. Ltd.* (T &k K BB ¥ 88 R R}
R AR A R]) since November 2015 as chief operation officer. He is
currently a director of TIEN New Energy Development Limited.

Annual Report 2020 G

RS (TAEL]) @ 435% - BEEAREEHT
BERITHEE o (8L R2002F &5 R AF o
SRR EEESHBELTEN - WR2018F5 A
EFRERBERR [~ —BiELefRaa /0%
Yo MBLEeMMEEN AEELYELR &
BIRTER BARETRIA LY - B EBETMNIT
¥ opBAEgLuEdRE SRR THNRE 5
RigeREEE RTEREEENERATHERR -
AIETIEATASZRREXBHBENETR o [iF
5 2013F5 8 E 201992 AT H BB RE
EERERAR(EBBARZMERAT([H
R GEMZ ETAR] - BRDREE - 8132) AT
BE o IR 2015F2 AE2016F 10 AETEMNE
FRIERBRAR(BIAERZ ETAR - &K
K% - 899) MBI IENITES - RN2014F4/8 =
2016F8 AEEFR SR EB AR AR CGRIB 5
CREBARAR]) (BRAGEMZ ETAR -« %
MR - 8226) I FEBITES o

SREIUE e (TSR 4E ]) » 495% @ BAEAREEHTT
EZ - BRETEIHERERREIEEES
il « WAFEFRBEIEHE ANBE RN SIRERE
FENREBSRLEMEEER - HREBETHE
BHB7FER  TRHESBAREEEL K
BERILETBR » R199148 A Z=2006%F 6 A HifE -
BAEBNIHEAERREBER  SEBUAEBEL
# - 7200657 A E 2010563 A B - RTBN
BEEF-IRBARAA  REBUAD RAE
R o 201054 A E 20148 B BiRE - AL &
PERREIRE B AR A RIMITHBAEE - R201459 A
E2015F 1088 - BRAREGXHERIEER
FRAGHLER D R AW ARLZIE - B2015F11 HiE -
WIATEREREFRERBHEER AR - EEH
FEEE WA ARKRHERAEEARAFN
£

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BI85 ik A R A &) 2 1



Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EENSNEERANEER

Mr. Wong Kee Chung (“Mr. Wong”), aged 64, is an executive
Director of our Group. He has over 38 years of experience in
construction industry, property consultancy and business
development in China and various parts of Asia. Mr. Wong obtained
his bachelor of science degree in environmental planning from the
Chelmer Institute of Higher Education (now known as Anglia Ruskin
University) in the United Kingdom in 1983. He worked for Jones
Lang Wootton from 1983 to 1987 and his last position was associate
director. He was a partner of Vigers Hong Kong Limited from 1988
to 1996 and a managing director of Vigers Asia Limited from 1996 to
1998.

Mr. Wong was an executive director of Kingbo Strike Limited (stock
code: 1421), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, the principal business of which is solar power and
electrical engineering services, from May 2016 to June 2017. He
was an executive director of Chuan Holdings Limited (stock code:
1420), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, the principal business of which is earthwork and general
construction works, from July 2017 to July 2020. From March 2020 to
July 2020, he served as a non-executive director of GSN Corporations
Limited (stock code: 8242), the shares of which are listed on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange, the principal business of which is the
development and sales of integrated circuits.

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Du Yi (“Ms. Du”), aged 79, is a non-executive Director and the
Chairlady of our Group. Ms. Du is a daughter of Mr. Du Zhongyuan,
one of the renowned revolutionary martyrs of China during the
second Sino-Japanese War. From March 1998 to March 2013, Ms. Du
served as a member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference and has currently been an honourable retired member.
Since September 1995, she has been acting as a director of Doo's
Trading Limited* (it K& S B R A A), a company with principal
business of foreign investment introduction to infrastructure
development in the PRC and export agency for coal.

Ms. Yip Man Shan (“Ms. Yip”), aged 69, is a non-executive
Director of our Group. Ms. Yip is a daughter of Mr. Ye Jianying
(the PRC's Communist general, Marshal of the People’s Liberation
Army and chairman of the Standing Committee of the National
People’s Congress from 1978 to 1983). She is currently the legal
representative of CITIC Land (Guangzhou) Co. Limited* (F{Z & %
(EM)ABPFR A7), whose principal business is property investment
and management.
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Mr. Lu Qiwei (“Mr. Lu”), aged 38, is a non-executive Director of
our Group. Mr. Lu obtained his bachelor's degree in information
engineering from Chengdu University of Technology in June 2007
and his master’s degree in business administration from Sun Yat-
sen University in June 2014. He is currently a national economics
professional, first level/senior technician in relation to corporate
human resources management (BIZR — R ¥ A N E R EILAM),
senior enterprise trainer certified by the China Adult Education
Association (CAEA) of the Ministry of Education of the People’s
Republic of China and certified international senior professional
lecturer of the American Certification Institute. Mr. Lu has more
than 10 years of experience in working with foreign enterprises and
management experience. He worked in various companies including
but not limited to UTAC Dongguan Ltd. (Z4{k 888 (Rz2) A
FR A |]), Magneti Marelli Automotive Electronics (Guangzhou) Co.,
Ltd. (FImF) B EF (EM) B PR A A and Delphi Packard Electric
System Co., Ltd. (fEFIfRIK 52 E R R # B PR 2 7)) before working in
Zhejiang Shunlian Network Technology Company Limited* (4,1 JI&
B4R 4X B AR 22 A)) as the vice president and the president of the
research institute.

Independent non-executive directors

Ms. Ng Yi Kum, Estella (“Ms. Ng”), aged 64, is an independent non-
executive Director of our Group.

Ms. Ng is currently an executive director, the deputy chairman, the
chief strategy officer, the chief financial officer and the company
secretary of Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International) Limited (stock
code: 417) and also a director of its certain subsidiaries. She is
currently an independent non-executive director of Powerlong
Commercial Management Holdings Limited (stock code: 9909),
CMGE Technology Group Limited (stock code: 302), Tianjin
Development Holdings Limited (stock code: 882), Comba Telecom
Systems Holdings Limited (stock code: 2342) and KWG Living Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 3913).
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Prior to 2003, Ms. Ng worked in The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited in a number of senior positions with her last position as the
senior vice president of the Listing Division. She was an executive
director of Hang Lung Properties Limited (stock code: 101) from
September 2005 to November 2007. She was the chief financial
officer of Country Garden Holdings Company Limited (stock code:
2007) from January 2008 to April 2014. From September 2008 to
July 2015, Ms. Ng served as an independent non-executive director
of Hong Kong Resources Holdings Company Limited (stock code:
2882). She served as an independent non-executive director of
China Mobile Games and Entertainment Group Limited, the shares
of which are listed by way of American Depositary Shares on
the Nasdaq Global Market in the United States, from September
2012 to August 2015. She served as an independent director of
DS Healthcare Group, Inc.,, the shares of which were listed on the
Nasdaq Capital Market in the United States until they were delisted
in December 2016, from May 2016 to May 2017. Ms. Ng served
as an independent non-executive director of China Power Clean
Energy Development Company Limited (stock code: 735), which was
delisted from the Stock Exchange in August 2019.

Ms. Ng is a qualified accountant and obtained the Master of
Business Administration degree from the Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology. She is an associate of The Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, an associate of
The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators, a fellow
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, a fellow
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Ms. Ng has been an elected member of Quality Tourism Services
Association Governing Council (Retailer Category) since 28 February
2019. Ms. Ng has also contributed her time to various public service
appointments, including being a co-opted member of the audit
committee of the Hospital Authority from December 2002 until
November 2013.
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Mr. Wong Wing Cheong Philip (“Mr. Wong”), aged 58, is an
independent non-executive Director of our Group.

Mr. Wong is currently a Partner and Head of the Commercial
Department of Gallant, a firm of solicitors and notaries in Hong
Kong. Mr. Wong has contributed his time to various public
service appointments, including being the Chairman of Practice
Management Committee of The Law Society of Hong Kong. He has
also been appointed to serve on various charitable organisations
as honourable legal advisor, including the Hong Kong Chinese
Enterprises Association, the Hong Kong Chinese Enterprises
Charitable Foundation Limited, Po Leung Kuk, Hong Kong Watch
Manufacturers Association Ltd and the Hong Kong Society for the
Aged.

Mr. Wong obtained the bachelor of laws degree and the master
of laws degree from the University of Hong Kong. Mr. Wong also
obtained the master degree in business administration from the
Open University of Hong Kong. He was admitted as a solicitor of
Hong Kong in 1994 and a solicitor of the England and Wales in 1995
and is currently a practising lawyer in Hong Kong. He is also a notary
public, China-appointed attesting officer and certified tax adviser of
Hong Kong.

Acting as the legal advisor of various companies in Hong Kong,
Macau and the PRC, Mr. Wong has extensive experience in providing
legal services concerning finances, securities, trusts, guarantees,
mergers and acquisitions and other cross-border transactions.

Dr. Tang Dajie (“Dr. Tang”), aged 53, is an independent non-
executive Director of our Group.

Dr. Tang has over 20 years of experience in investment, financing
and corporate management. He held various senior positions in
different companies, including the Vice President of Shenzhen
Capital Group Company Limited, the Deputy General Manager of
Shenzhen Airport (Group) Company Limited, the Managing Director
of Shenzhen High-tech Investment Group Company Limited, the
Manager of the Department of Investment of E Fund Management
Company Limited and the Director of China Southern Asset
Management. Since October 2015, Dr. Tang has been the chairman
and the founding partner of Triwise Capital Management Company
Limited.
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Dr. Tang also serves as the Vice Chairman of Shenzhen Venture
Capital Association, the Executive Vice President of Shenzhen
Science and Technology Entrepreneur Promotion Association,
Vice President of Shenzhen General Chamber of Commerce and
a part-time professor of Southwestern University of Finance and
Economics, Shenzhen Audencia Business School, Xidian University
and China University of Mining and Technology. Dr. Tang obtained
his bachelor's degree in business management from the Beijing
University of Chemical Technology in July 1990, his master's degree
in monetary banking from Xiamen University in July 1995 and his
doctorate degree in industrial economics from Jinan University in
June 2007.

Mr. Ng Kwun Wan (“Mr. Ng”), aged 57, is an independent non-
executive Director of our Group. He has over 20 years of experience
in management, accounting and finance industry. From November
1994 to August 2004, he worked for New World Development
(China) Limited and New World China Enterprises Projects Limited,
both are the wholly-owned subsidiaries of New World Development
Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 17), with his last position as a deputy general manager. He
then joined Smart Faith Management Limited, a subsidiary of South
China Holdings Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 413), as a general manager of industrial
operations in the real estate department and was responsible for
overseeing the company’s operations in the Tianjin Region from
September 2006 to March 2009. He has also been appointed as
an independent non-executive director of China Boton Group
Company Limited since December 2009, the shares of which are
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3318), an independent
non-executive director of Zhongzhi Pharmaceutical Holdings
Limited since July 2015, the shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 3737), an independent non-executive
director of Sunray Engineering Group Limited since March 2020, the
shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8616),
and an independent non-executive director of Asia Energy Logistics
Group Limited since July 2020, the shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 351).

*

For identification purpose only.
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Mr. Ng obtained his Bachelor’s degree in Accounting and
Finance from the University of Manchester (formerly known as
the Manchester Polytechnic) and his Master’s degree majoring in
Accounting from the University of New South Wales in July 1988
and May 1990 respectively. He has been a member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since July 1993.

Company Secretary

Mr. Lo Chun Man (“Mr. Lo"), aged 40, is the financial controller, the
company secretary and one of the authorised representatives of our
Group.

Mr. Lo has over 17 years of extensive working experience in the
fields of accounting, financing and auditing disciplines. Mr. Lo was
the Deputy General Manager of the Finance Department of China
Aerospace International Holdings Limited (stock code: 31) from
April 2016 to June 2019. He was the Finance Manager of the same
company from December 2008 to April 2016. Before joining China
Aerospace International Holdings Limited, he worked in Deloitte
Touche Tomatsu from September 2003 to December 2008 with his
last position as a Senior.

Mr. Lo obtained the Degree of Master of Science in Professional
Accountancy from University of London and Degree of Bachelor of
Arts (Honours) in Accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants.
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The Board submits the annual report together with the audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2020 (the “Financial Statements”).

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company is a company incorporated in Cayman Islands and
domiciled in Hong Kong. The principal place of business of the
Company at Room Nos. 808-814, 8th Floor, Sun Hung Kai Centre, 30
Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company, and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in building construction
business, sales of piles, renewable energy business and e-commerce
business. The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries
are shown under note 15 to the Financial Statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group, with the description of the
principal risk and uncertainties, for the year ended 31 December
2020 and the likely future development, are included in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report
on pages 8 to 19, which forms part of this report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS, SUBCONTRACTORS AND
SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s five largest
customers in aggregate accounted for approximately 84.1% (2019:
63.7%) of the Group's total revenue. The largest customer accounted
for approximately 34.5% (2019: 21.1%) of the Group's total revenue.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s five largest
subcontractors in aggregate accounted for approximately 85.8%
(2019: 60.9%) of the Group’s total subcontracting fee. The largest
subcontractor accounted for approximately 45.3% (2019: 20.3%) of
the Group's total subcontracting fee.

During the year ended 31 December 2020 the Group's five largest
suppliers in aggregate accounted for approximately 76.9% (2019:
57.3%). The largest supplier accounted for approximately 21.4%
(2019: 22.1%) of the Group's total material costs.
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At no time during the year have directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company)
had any interest in these major customers, subcontractors and
suppliers.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 83 to 84 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2020.

BANK LOANS AND BANK OVERDRAFTS

Particulars of bank loans and bank overdrafts of the Group as at 31
December 2020 are set out in note 28 to the Financial Statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years are included in the
section headed “Financial Summary” in this annual report on page
196, which forms part of this report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

The Company did not enter into any contract, other than the
contracts of service with the directors or any person engaged in the
full-time employment of the Company, whereby any individual, firm
or body corporate undertakes the management and administration
of the whole, or any substantial part of any business of the
Company.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s shares.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to shareholders of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$263 million (31 December 2019: HK$153 million).

Movements of the reserves of the Group are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 87 of this
annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in the
note 16 to the Financial Statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a
written resolutions of the sole shareholder of the Company passed
on 23 June 2017 for the purpose of recognizing and motivating the
contributions that the eligible participants have made or may make
to the Group.

Pursuant to the Scheme, the Company may grant options to (i)
an executive; (ii) the director or proposed director (including an
independent non-executive director) of any member of the Group;
(iii) the consultant, business or joint venture partner, franchisee,
contractor, agent or representative of any member of the Group; (iv)
the person or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support or any advisory, consultancy, professional
or other services to any member of the Group; and (v) the close
associate of any of the foregoing persons, to subscribe for shares in
the Company in accordance with the terms of the Scheme.

An offer of the grant of an option shall be deemed to have been
accepted when the acceptance letter of the option duly signed by
the grantee together with a remittance in favour of the Company
of HKS$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is received
by the Company within the period specified in the letter containing
the offer of the grant of the option. No offer shall be capable
of or remain open for acceptance after the expiry of 10 years
commencing on the Listing Date.
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The subscription price of a share shall not be less than the highest of
(i) the nominal value of the share; (ii) the closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer
date; and (iii) the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business
days immediately preceding the offer date.

The share options granted are exercisable at any time during a
period as the Directors may determine which shall not exceed 10
years from the date of an offer for the grant of the option, subject to
the provisions for early termination contained in the Scheme, and
provided that the Directors may determine the minimum period
for which an option has to be held or other restrictions before its
exercise.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Scheme and any other
schemes must not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the number of
shares of the Company in issue on the Listing Date (i.e. 51,200,000
shares). The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% in aggregate of
the shares of the Company in issue. The maximum number of shares
which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company must not, in aggregate,
exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from time to time.

The Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years after the
date of adoption.

No share options have been granted, exercised or cancelled under
the Scheme since its adoption date and up to the date of this annual
report and the total number of shares available for grant under
the Scheme was 51,200,000 Shares, representing 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company of the Listing Date.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to this annual report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wu Rui (Vice chairman)

Dr. Ho Chun Kit Gregory

Mr. Lee Kai Lun (resigned on 6 July 2021)

Mr. Guo Jianfeng

Mr. Wong Kee Chung (appointed on 23 August 2021)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Du Yi (Chairlady)
Ms. Yip Man Shan
Mr. Lu Qiwei (appointed on 25 January 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Ng Yi Kum, Estella

Mr. Wong Wing Cheong Philip

Dr. Tang Dajie

Mr. Ng Kwun Wan (appointed on 3 December 2021)

Pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles of Association, one-third of
the Directors for the time being, or if their number is not three or
a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third, shall retire from office by rotation at every annual general
meeting of the Company provided that every Director (including
those appointed for a specific item) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be
eligible for re-election.

Further, pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles of Association, any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office only until the first general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting.
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In accordance with Articles 108 and 112 of the Articles of
Association, Mr. Wu Rui, Ms. Du Yi, Ms. Yip Man Shan, Mr. Wong Kee
Chung, Mr. Lu Qiwei and Mr. Ng Kwun Wan shall retire from office at
the 2021 annual general meeting (the "2021 AGM”). All of the above
retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election
at the 2021 AGM.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management are
set out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 20 to 27 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the 2021
AGM has a service contract with any member of the Group which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is not provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association and there was no restriction against such
rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that every Director shall be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses and
liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director in the execution
of his duties or otherwise in relation thereto, provided that such
indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of fraud or
dishonesty which may attach to such Director. There is appropriate
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and officers of the Group. Such provision was in force as of date of
this annual report and during the financial year ended 31 December
2020.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which
the company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a material
interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at the 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of
the Directors in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations, within the meaning of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”"), which (a) were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to recorded in the register
referred to therein; or (c) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the "Model
Code") as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, were as follows:

(@) Long position in the Shares of associated corporation of
the Company:

EERRG RIS THES
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(a) RELQBEBEENROPHER

Name of
Name of associated Capacity/ Approximate
Directors corporation nature of interest Total interests Percentage
EEgA HEEE AR Y Vg 131 R BREDL
Dr. Ho CT Vision Investment Limited  Beneficial owner 448,000 22.4%
gL ("CT Vision Investment”) BREA A

PREEREGRAR]

([hREERE])

Mr. Wu CT Vision Investment Beneficial owner 156,000 7.8%
REE HPREERE EmlEA
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

So far as was known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2020, the
following persons (not being Directors or chief executive of the
Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or who were directly or
indirectly interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class

FERRREZPHEDS

BB - R20209F12A8318 » M FAE(IEFE
EEFLARNTEETEAR)RIRG SABRR G+
BESIWR AEEREZFRIERIEXVELE?
K37 BB ESB M AN A B B X P i TR My pE 2 =k
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AR EARMRR RS ERRNEMERIRAE
B EENEEEE10%I A R

of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general

meetings of any member of the Group:

Percentage of

Capacity/ Number of shareholding in
Name of Shareholders Nature of interest Shares held the Company
BRERBMHE Sy 131 FIEROHE (A LRREESLE
CT Vision Investment Beneficial interest 389,160,000 51.15%
PREERE BEamtEs
Ms. Lin Zhiling ("“Ms. Lin")' Interest in a controlled 389,160,000 51.15%
MEZELZ T ([Mzd ) corporation

EEGEE R
Condover Assets Limited (“Condover Assets”)  Beneficial interest 71,880,000 9.45%
Condover Assets Limited ([ Condover Assets|) BziEzE
Dr. Kan Hou Sek, Jim (“Dr. Kan")? Interest in a controlled 71,880,000 9.45%
HEHH L ([HHELT])? corporation

EEGEE R
Mr. Lee Sai Man ("Mr. SM Lee")? Interest in a controlled 71,880,000 9.45%
THREA(NFEE]): corporation

EEHEE R
Mr. Wong Siu Kwai ("“Mr. Wong")* Interest in a controlled 71,880,000 9.45%
EREEE(ELE]D corporation

EEHEE R
Ms. Poon Man Yee® Interest of spouse 71,880,000 9.45%
B Rt [T 3
Ms. Sheba Kishinchand Daswani¢ Interest of spouse 71,880,000 9.45%
Sheba Kishinchand Daswaniz ¢ [IREr
Ms. Ho Lai Kuen’ Interest of spouse 71,880,000 9.45%
fa]EBIB L7 Ao B
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Notes:

1. Ms. Lin beneficially owns 44.80% of the issued share capital of CT
Vision Investment. Therefore, Ms. Lin is deemed, or taken to be,
interested in all the Shares held by CT Vision Investment for the
purpose of the SFO.

2. Dr. Kan beneficially owns 33 13 % of the issued share capital of
Condover Assets. Therefore, Dr. Kan is deemed, or taken to be,
interested in all the Shares held by Condover Assets for the purpose of
the SFO.

3. Mr. SM Lee beneficially owns 33 /3 % of the issued share capital of
Condover Assets. Therefore, Mr. SM Lee is deemed, or taken to be,
interested in all the Shares held by Condover Assets for the purpose of
the SFO.

4. Mr. Wong beneficially owns 33 /3 % of the issued share capital of
Condover Assets. Therefore, Mr. Wong is deemed, or taken to be,
interested in all the Shares held by Condover Assets for the purpose of
the SFO.

5. Ms. Poon Man Yee is the spouse of Dr. Kan. Accordingly Ms. Poon Man
Yee is deemed, or taken to be, interested in all the Shares in which Dr.
Kan is interested for the purpose of the SFO.

6. Ms. Sheba Kishinchand Daswani is the spouse of Mr. SM Lee.
Accordingly Ms. Sheba Kishinchand Daswani is deemed, or taken to
be, interested in all the Shares in which Mr. SM Lee is interested for the
purpose of the SFO.

7. Ms. Ho Lai Kuen is the spouse of Mr. Wong. Accordingly Ms. Ho Lai
Kuen is deemed, or taken to be, interested in all the Shares in which
Mr. Wong is interested for the purpose of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the Directors were
not aware of any other person (other than the Directors) who had,
or was deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO, or who was directly or indirectly interested
in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of
any member of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Directors’
Interests in Securities” above, at no time during the year was the
Company, its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors of the Company
or their associates to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
Shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries had purchase, sell or
redeem any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2020.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The significant related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in note 32 to
the Financial Statements.

None of these related party transactions constitute a connected
transaction (as defined in the Listing Rules) that is required to be
disclosed.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules from
the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 40 to 56.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in the mandatory provident fund prescribed
by the Mandatory Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). Save as the aforesaid, the Group did not
participate in any other pension schemes during the year ended 31
December 2020.

CHANGES OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION
PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING
RULES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes of
information of the Director are as follows:

Ms. Ng Yi Kum, Estella, an independent non-executive Director, has
been appointed as an independent non-executive director of KWG
Living Group Holdings Limited (the shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange with stock code: 3913) with effect from 9 October
2020.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct of
dealings in securities of the Company by Directors. Upon specific
enquires of all the Directors, each of them confirmed that they have
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
during the year.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as the disclosure in note 33 to the Financial Statements, there
is no material subsequent event undertaken by the Company or the
Group after 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this annual
report.

AUDITOR

The Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020
have been audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, who will retire
and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the 2021
AGM.

By order of the Board

DuYi
Chairlady

Hong Kong, 15 December 2021
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The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report of
the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company has
complied with all the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the "CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules upon the Listing. All
the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code during the year ended 31
December 2020 and up to the date of this annual report in response
to the specific enquiry made by the Company.

The Board has established written guidelines no less exacting than
the Model Code for relevant employees in respect of their dealings
in the securities of the company as required under the CG Code.
No incident of non-compliance of such guidelines by the relevant
employees was noted by the Company during the year ended 31
December 2020 and up to the date of this annual report.

THE BOARD

The Board acts in good faith, with due diligence and care, to
discharge its duties concerning the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders. The primary role of the Board is to protect
and entrance long term shareholders’ value; it also oversees the
management, business, strategies and financial performance of
the Group to ensure that good corporate governance policies and
practices are implemented within the Group. The management is
responsible for the execution of the strategies in the Group’s daily
operations and the implementation of the risk management and
internal control systems.
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The composition of the Board during the year and up to the date of
this annual report is set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wu Rui (Vice chairman)

Dr. Ho Chun Kit Gregory (Chief executive officer)

Mr. Lee Kai Lun (resigned on 6 July 2021)

Mr. Guo Jianfeng

Mr. Wong Kee Chung (appointed on 23 August 2021)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Du Yi (Chairlady)
Ms. Yip Man Shan
Mr. Lu Qiwei (appointed on 25 January 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Ng Yi Kum, Estella

Mr. Wong Wing Cheong Philip

Dr. Tang Dajie

Mr. Ng Kwun Wan (appointed on 3 December 2021)

The biographies of the Directors during the year and up to the date
of this annual report and the relationships among them are set
out in the “Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management”
section on pages 20 to 27 of this annual report.

CHAIRLADY OF THE BOARD AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER (“CEO”")

The Chairlady of the Board is Ms. Du Yi and the CEO of the
Company is Dr. Ho Chun Kit Gregory. The roles of the Chairlady of
the Board and the CEO of the Company are segregated to ensure
their respective independence, accountability and responsibility.
The major duties of the Chairlady are to provide leadership to the
Board and spearhead overall corporate development and strategic
planning whilst the CEO is responsible for implementing the
decisions and strategy approved by the Board and managing day-
to-day operations of the Group with the support of the executive
Directors.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The executive Directors are responsible for running the Group
and executing the strategies adopted by the Board. They lead the
Group’s management team in accordance with the directions set
by the Board and are responsible for ensuring that proper internal
control system is in place and the Group’s business conforms to
applicable laws and regulations. The executive Directors bring a
good balance of skills and experience to the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The non-executive Directors provide a wide range of expertise
and experience and bring independent judgment on issues
relating to the Group’s strategies, development, performance and
risk management through their contribution at the Board and
committee meetings.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors provide their
independent judgment on the development, performance and
risk management of the Group. The independent non-executive
Directors serve the important function of ensuring and monitoring
the basis for an effective corporate governance framework. Their
participation provides adequate checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of the Group and its shareholders including the review
of continuing connected transactions described below. The Board
consists of four independent non-executive Directors and three of
them have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. The Board confirms
that the Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors a confirmation of independence for the
Year pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers such
Directors to be independent.

The Directors are fully aware that they individually and collectively
accountable to shareholders.
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The executive Directors have entered into employment contracts
with the Company and each of the non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors have been appointed on
a specific term of three years. Notwithstanding the specific term
of appointments, the articles of association of the Company (the
“Articles of Association”) provide that every Directors shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at the annual general meeting at
least once every three years. At each annual general meeting, one-
third of the Directors for the time being shall retire shall retire from
office by rotation and be eligible for re-election by the shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors representing
one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that
all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The management, consisting of executive Directors along with
other senior executive, is delegated with responsibilities for
implementing the strategy and direction as adopted by the Board
from time to time, and conducting the day-to-day operations of the
Group. Executive Directors and senior executives meet regularly to
review the performance of the businesses of the Group as a whole,
co-ordinate overall resources and make financial and operational
decisions. The Board also gives clear directions as to their powers of
management including circumstances where management should
report back, and will review the delegation arrangements on a
periodic basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs
of the Group.
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall
strategy as well as the operation and financial performance of
the Group. Directors may participate either in person or through

electronic means of communication.

Pursuant to code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code, the Board should
meet regularly and board meetings should be held at least four

times a year.

The attendance of the respective Directors to the board meeting

during the year are set out below:

ExgEa

BT ASEEH -

RIFEEERTA
HHE  EXT0RE

[EoiS

EETHETEARN R M E BRI R
AEBHEERMHRR - EFAHRFANE

&AL - BEEEETE
ElGE N

BEFFAHREFGERNERIAIIAT -

Number of
attendance/
Number of
meetings entitled
to attend
HEEE B
HENERYA
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Wu Rui (Vice chairman) RInFEE(FERE) 12/12
Dr. Ho Chun Kit Gregory (Chief executive officer) MEEE L (7T HEH) 12/12
Mr. Lee Kai Lun (resigned on 6 July 2021) FURRBE ST (20217 H6 H#HE) 12/12
Mr. Guo Jianfeng P S 12/12
Mr. Wong Kee Chung (appointed on 23 August 2021) BRREE(R20214E8H23HEZT) 0/0
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. Du Yi (Chairlady) HBLZE(EE) 12/12
Ms. Yip Man Shan ExMat 12/12
Mr. Lu Qiwei (appointed on 25 January 2021) BERE (B S A (R20214F 1 A 25 HEZE(T) 0/0
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFHTES
Ms. Ng Yi Kum, Estella m&EERL 12/12
Mr. Wong Wing Cheong Philip BXAERE 12/12
Dr. Tang Dajie BANEL 12/12
Mr. Ng Kwun Wan (appointed on 3 December 2021) REERE(R2021F12A30EZ () 0/0
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

OF DIRECTORS

All Directors confirmed to comply with the provision of the CG
Code in relation to continuous professional development during
the year. In doing so, the Directors have undertaken various forms of

activities relevant to the Company’s business, Directors’ duties and

responsibilities.

The record of continuous professional development relating to
director’s duties and regulatory and business development that
have been received by the Directors for the period from the Listing 23 EE0EEHI0T -

Date and up to the date of this annual report are summarised as

follows:

EEREERRE

MEEEERARERFA—BEETERKER
BRAEEERSTARI - [t %%E/Aﬁ
AARRIERY EERHGMBENSEERE -

E ¥ 3

BLMEMEREEANFRAYNE  EFEK

XNAHMEERENUNNREENEBEROFER

Type of Training

(Note)
IR
(B aE)
Executive Directors PiTES
Mr. Wu Rui (Vice chairman) RInFEEBFRE) B
Dr. Ho Chun Kit Gregory (Chiefexecutive officer) MBS (TR AEE) B
Mr. Lee Kai Lun (resigned on 6 July 2021) FIBRE S5 4 (2021467 A6 A BHT) B
Mr. Guo Jianfeng R LAE B
Mr. Wong Kee Chung (appointed on 23 August 2021) BERREE(R2021F8H23AEZ ) B
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. Du Yi (Chairlady) HBZL(EE) B
Ms. Yip Man Shan Bt B
Mr. Lu Qiwei (appointed on 25 January 2021) BEPE (8 S (R2021 1 A 25 HIEZ(F) B
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Ms. Ng Yi Kum, Estella hEELT AB
Mr. Wong Wing Cheong Philip BXKELE B
Dr. Tang Dajie HANET B
Mr. Ng Kwun Wan (appointed on 3 December 2021) REERE(R021FI12H3HEZ(T) B
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Note:
Type of Training

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and
relevant publications

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established certain committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee (collectively, the “Board Committee”), to oversee
specific aspects of the Company'’s affairs. The Board Committees are
established with specific written terms of reference which clearly
outline the committees’ authority and duties. The terms of reference
of the Board Committees are posted on the Company's website
and the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders
upon request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
independent non-executive Directors. The members of the Board
committees during the year are set out below:

Audit Committee

Ms. Ng Yi Kum, Estella (Chairlady)

Mr. Wong Wing Cheong Philip

Dr. Tang Dajie

Mr. Ng Kwun Wan (appointed on 3 December 2021)
Remuneration Committee

Mr. Wong Wing Cheong Philip (Chairman)

Mr. Wu Rui
Ms. Ng Yi Kum, Estella

46 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

BAE

AR

A HFEBIIRE  BRESRNERE  #Hag -
wiE N TIED

B: BIEAMMHMEIET W= #T MR

AR
EEZREE
EFRORUETERS m%v%a%«%w

ZEehRRZEC(RBRIEERESE])
EBARREBRNETHE EXXE Ai’ﬂaTﬁ

BTEMABEEE  SPEWYBPEZESNER
M= °§$£;ﬁmﬁ&$““$ﬁl$lJ%kﬁéZK@ﬂ%
U R  REREARE BRI MARARR
HY o
REEZESTERBUFNTESHAK - &
ELEBERNTROKEEINT ¢

EREZEE

mBEL+(E/E)

BXE LA

/’ijj(m\JEri

SEERAE (R20214F12 A3HEZEF)
HMEES

BEXERE(EE)

Sk E

mBHELL

Annual Report 2020 3



Corporate Governance Report

ﬂ:\ Hr/\lil #& =

Nomination Committee

Ms. Du Yi (Chairlady)

Dr. Ho Chun Kit Gregory

Ms. Ng Yi Kum, Estella

Mr. Wong Wing Cheong Philip
Dr. Tang Dajie

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has set up the Audit Committee on 23 June 2017 with
written terms of reference of no less exacting terms than those set
out in the CG Code. The main duties of the Audit Committee are to
assist the Board in reviewing the financial information and reporting
process, internal control and risk management systems, scope of
audit and appointment of external auditors, and arrangements to
enable employees of the Company to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters
of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, four Audit Committee
meetings were held. The attendance of each member to the Audit
Committee Meeting is as follows:

REZEES

L (ERE)
ARG E L
hEaEat
EmKERE
BANEL

BEREES

AARIER2017F6 A23BK Y EBZEES » WE]
ENBREEERTARNGROEMmBERDE -
ERZEENTIEREREMDESSRIVH
EREEBARER  ABEHREREERS  F
ZEE R INEZ BN ED - A KEARR 11@,@1
AT AR R SRR MBS s B a5 E A g8
HIRMERITRIRLEINZHE -

REE2000F12831BILFE - Ex L8 gH
THAEH - SKEHNEEZLZESZMIH
AT

Audit Committee

meeting attended/
Eligible to attend

HE/RERILE

NWERERS

2RYE

Ms. Ng Yi Kum, Estella hEat 4/4

Mr. Wong Wing Cheong Philip BKERE 4/4

Dr. Tang Dajie BANEL 4/4

Mr. Ng Kwun Wan (appointed on 3 December 2021) REERAE(R2021F12H30#Z() 0/0
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has set up the Remuneration Committee on 23
June 2017 with written terms of reference of no less exacting
terms those set out in the CG Code. The primary functions of the
Remuneration Committee include determining/reviewing and
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management,
the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior
management; and establishing transparent procedures for
developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that
no Director or any of his associates will participate in deciding his
own remuneration.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management are set out in the sections headed “Directors’
Remuneration” and “Remuneration of the Senior Management” in
this annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, two Remuneration

FMEES

NABIER2017F6 A3BKR Y FMEES - WET
ETBRTEEATAMNERNEABESE -
TNEZE ST EREREET BT ENRITE
ERSARERABNETINGESE  2EREERSH
ERENFHRELREBEYR LA EERNESS
RINEZ ¢ URERIHIRT S H B R R R
REPERFUBRRBEESIHAMNBEAZ
HETEAFHM -

EEEREEABNHFNGFEFBHENLFR
[BEEHM N [ SRERASHHISE -

RNEE20200F12831BIEFE - HE

Committee meetings were held. The attendance record of each TN & o &k B HE: ﬁ@ﬂ?,\ = %E’\Jﬁaﬁi
member of the Remuneration Committee is as follows: YT -
Remuneration
Committee
meeting attended/
Eligible to attend
LR/ RERLE
NEFEHEES
E 1 E
Mr. Wong Wing Cheong Philip (Chairman) BEKERE(LE) 2/2
Mr. Wu Rui RiEk4E 22
Ms. Ng Yi Kum, Estella HHERL 22
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has set up the Nomination Committee on 23 June
2017 with written terms of reference of no less exacting terms than
those set out in the CG Code.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating
relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment
of Directors, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of Directors, and assessing
the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board
diversity policy, including but not limited to skills, industry and
regional experience, background, race, gender and other qualities
etc. In forming its perspective on diversity, the Company will also
take into account factors based on its own business model and
specific needs from time to time. The Nomination Committee would
discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity
on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board
for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s character,
qualifications, experience, independence and other relevant criteria
necessary to complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board
diversity, where appropriate, before making recommendation to the
Board.

At present, there are 11 members in the Board of the Company,
including 8 male directors and 3 female directors. All directors
possess university or above educational level whereas some possess
professional qualifications in accountancy, chartered secretary
and laws etc., and have ample experiences of giant enterprise
management, financial management, legal and human resources
etc. in different fields.
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During the year ended 31 December 2020, two Nomination REZE2020F12A31HILFE @ RE L EgLHs
Committee meetings were held. The attendance record of each T/ @#% - EXELFEIEREESLHENTH
member of the Remuneration Committee is as follows: FHHT
Nomination
Committee
meeting attended/
Eligible to attend
HE/RERLE
NREZES
=1 G
Ms. Du Vi (Chairlady) HREL(FE) 22
Dr. Ho Chun Kit Gregory ffEgEEL 22
Ms. Ng Yi Kum, Estella fhaZx+ 22
Mr. Wong Wing Cheong Philip Epd=pits 2/2
Dr. Tang Dajie BANEL 2/2
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS EERBAE
The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the EEE& B FEHNITHR B EEATASFAEXD..]
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. KB AE ©

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board had reviewed
the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices,
training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management, the Company'’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance
of the Model Code by Directors and relevant employees, and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosures in this
Corporate Governance Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Board has the overall responsibility for
evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks it
is willing to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives,
and establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems.

The Group has established a risk management policy which sets out
the process of identification, evaluation and management of the
principal risks affecting the business.

1. Each division is responsible for identifying and assessing
principal risks within its divisions on a quarterly basis and
establishing mitigation plans to manage the risks identified.

2. The management is responsible for overseeing the Group's
risk management and internal control activities, attending
quarterly meetings with each division to ensure principal
risks are properly managed, and new or changing risks are
identified and documented.

3. The Board is responsible for reviewing and approving the
effectiveness and adequacy of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems.

The Group has maintained internal control guidance and
procedures on the Group’s operational cycles relating to revenue,
purchase and expenditure, inventory and human resources etc.,
to ensure proper accounting records are kept so that reliable
financial reporting can be provided, the effectiveness and
efficiency of operation can be achieved, and the compliance with
applicable laws and regulations and safeguarding of assets can
be maintained. These procedures, together with the Company’s
compliance manual, have also shaped the control environment
in which and how the Group operates, including the budgeting
controls, investment decision making, risk assessment and practices
of corporate governance. These systems are designed to provide
reasonable protection against errors, losses and fraud.
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The Company does not establish a standalone internal audit
department, however, the Board has put in place adequate
measures to perform the internal audit function at different aspects
of the Group.

The Company has engaged ZHONGHUI ANDA Risk Services
Limited to conduct a review on the effectiveness of the internal
controls of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.
The review covered certain operational procedures and included
recommendations for improving and strengthening the internal
control system. No significant area of concern that may affect the
financial, operational, compliance, control and risk management of
the Group has been identified.

The Boards has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Group and is satisfied that the Group
has complied with the Code in respect of internal control during the
year.

Regular meetings were held between the executive Directors
and senior management to review and monitor the business
and financial performance against the targets, the progress of
certification and contract receipts from the customers, the efficiency
in the use of the Group's resources in comparison to the budgets,
and the operational matters to ensure the Group has complied with
the regulations that have material impact to the Group’s business.
The aim is to enhance the communication and accountability of the
Directors and management so that significant strategic, financial,
operational and compliance risks or potential deviations are timely
identified and dealt with in proper manner, which significant issues
are reported back to the Board for their attention.

With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside information,
the Group has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Group's Directors, officers, senior management
and relevant employees in handling confidential information,
monitoring information disclosure and responding to enquires.
While any potential inside information will be escalated to the
executive meetings or the Board via the established reporting
channels, the Directors will assess and determine if the inside
information of the Group exist where timely disclosure is required
to be made by way of an announcement published on the Stock
Exchange website. Control procedures have been implemented to
ensure that unauthorised access and use of inside information are
strictly prohibited.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted its dividend policy on 31 December 2020.
The Board may, as it deems appropriate, determine and distribute an
interim dividend to shareholders of the Company from time to time.
The Board may recommend the payment of an annual dividend,
subject to the approval by shareholders of the Company at annual
general meetings.

The Company’s dividend policy is to allow shareholders to share
the Company’s profits whist preserving adequate reserves for
the Company's future development. Subject to the approval of
shareholders and requirement of relevant laws, if the Group makes
a profit, the operating environment remains stable and the Group
has no plans for material investment or capital contribution, the
Company shall pay annual dividends to its shareholders. The Board
may, from time to time, pay to the shareholders such interim
dividends as the Directors deem reasonable to the profit of the
Group. Moreover, the Board may, where considered appropriate,
declare special dividends.

Considerations:

In deciding or proposing the number of distribution and the amount
and form of dividend for any financial year/period, the Board shall
consider the following factors:

(@)  the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

(b)  retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and respective members of the Group;

(c)  the debt-to-equity ratio, rate of return on equity and relevant
financial covenants of the Group;

(d)  any restrictions imposed by the lenders of the Group in terms
of dividend payment;

(e)  the Group's expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

(f)  the Group’s general economic conditions, business cycle
of the Group’s business and other internal and external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial

performance and position of the Company; and

(g) any other factors the Board may consider appropriate.
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The dividend payout ratio will vary from year to year. There is no
assurance that a dividend will be declared in any particular amount
for any given period.

FORM OF DIVIDEND

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company,
dividend may be paid in cash. The Board may consider bonus
issue, and its relevant basis must comply with applicable laws and
regulations.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ emoluments are determined with reference to Directors’
duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group. In addition, the Directors’ remuneration is reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee of the Company annually. Details of
the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 10 to the Financial
Statements.

REMUNERATION OF THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the remuneration of
senior management is listed below by band:

Band of remuneration

KEERGFETR - BITRE S S L EM 15 E HRE
EIREMFESENRE

REFER

BREARAMMABMEEMA - REATIAESIK
- BEGAERBITAMR - HABEELART
BERARRER

EEHM

EEMRBESNRYE AERKBALA
SEMEREET - I EZHHNEFAART]

HWNEZEEeR:T - EHEEHFNNFBHNIG
HWEKMIFE10 ©

= REE A B M

REZ20200F 12A31BIEFE > o EBEAERN
FENEESH T

Number of Person

Mg E AE
HK$1,000,000 or below 2

1,000,000/ 7Tk LA T

HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000
1,000,001 7T 2 2,000,0007 7T

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the remunerations paid or
payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers in respect of its audit services is
HK$1,880,000.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 which
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group. In
preparing the Financial Statements which give a true and fair view, it
is fundamental that the appropriate accounting policies are selected
and applied consistently. The statement of the external auditor of
the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the Financial
Statements is set out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” on
pages 76 to 82 of this annual report. The Directors were not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which
may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company's company secretary, Mr. Lo Chun Man, coordinates
the supply of information to the Directors and is the primary
contract person within the Company for all matters relating to the
duties and responsibilities of the company secretary. All Directors
have access to company secretary to ensure that Board procedures
and all applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed. During
the year ended 31 December 2020, he had taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training as required under Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules. For details of his biography, please refer to the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”
of this annual report.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

We seriously take care of the shareholders’ interest to ensure that
they are treated fairly and are able to exercise their shareholders’
rights effectively. Shareholders are entitled by the Articles
of Association and are also encouraged to participate in the
Company’s general meetings or appoint proxies to attend meetings
may request the Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting
and put forward proposals. Such requisition should be made in
writing to the Board or the company secretary for such purpose and
should specify the objects of the meeting.

Annual Report 2020 G

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BI85 ik A R A &)

EERRBMHMBERRNER

EEARTEAEXHFEEE2020F12A83181E
FEMPBRE  NEBEMP SRR AEED

BB » AR BLE B T 5 b I BR AR ST O B 75
BRE  AULBEBYEREREZENGR

oo AARIINEXBAIBRIR S H B B HRERM R
WMEANER  HRAFRE/6E202HBM [ BIULIZ
RS | — &0 - ESWAIBE W R ATM Al g
REEELTRHECERERRNEHRMRRHE
ATBHBAREE -

REWE

ARBWARMEEEXEERERARNESR
HER  IRFRABDWERBEEBEN—Y)F

EREFARRFMNEZHEA - MEESH IS
BARIWE  UBREAETESEZIHIR
FrBE@EAERE « RBIKER - REIE2020F 128

STHIEFE - FEZRBEMRAIFEINRNRT
QDDT\QBA SE/NREEREE RS - EEERE
FRFE  S20UAFREERSREEAERE
fE|—8f o

IR ERAER

ﬁTFﬂtﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁx%E’J%\ RS ETEY

P WA BAMATREBRER - ERADRIE T
%T&”?’F'Jﬂﬁﬁbﬁiiﬁﬁﬁriiéﬁﬁﬁ%tHFFE$”AETEl’\J
BRAE U BREZSARBREINRER
REZR - FEFEBRANEHARAETIH QAW
ERZ - YAJAGHEN -

55



Corporate Governance Report

/JE Hr/\lil #& ]

The Board is not aware of any provisions allowing the shareholders
of the Company to put forward proposals at general meetings of
the Company under the Articles of Association and the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands. Shareholders who wish to put forward
proposals at general meetings may refer to the preceding paragraph
to make written requisition to require the convening of an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

In case a shareholder wishes to nominate a person for election as
director in general meeting, the particulars of the candidate must
be stated in a nomination notice signed and deposited together
with a notice of willingness signed by the candidate to the company
secretary at the Company principal place of business (Room Nos.
808-814, 8th Floor, Sun Hung Kai Centre, 30 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong) or at the Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer
office of the Company. The notice should be given at least seven
days prior to the date of such general meeting.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining effective and timely
dissemination of the Group’s information to its shareholders and
the market. The annual shareholders’ meetings of the Company
are the primary forum for communication by the Company
with its shareholders and for shareholder participation. At the
annual general meeting of the Company, the Directors (or their
delegates as appropriate) are available to meet shareholders
and answer their enquires. In addition, the Company’s website
(http://www.ctvision994.com) contains extensive company
information which is easily accessible.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Reporting Period, save as disclosed in the section headed
“Significant Events” in the Management Discussion and Analysis
section of this annual report, no amendments were made to the
constitutional documents of the Company.

ENQUIRES TO THE BOARD

Enquiries may put to the Board through the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong at Room Nos. 808-814, 8th Floor,
Sun Hung Kai Centre, 30 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong (email:
info@ctvision994.com).
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is pleased to present its Environmental, Social and Governance
(hereinafter called “"ESG”") Report of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2020 (the “Year 2020"), with an aim to provide details of the
system establishment and performance of the Group in respect
of sustainable development to both the internal and external
stakeholders.

This report was prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities made by of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”), highlighted the environmental and
social measures and activities of the Group during the Year 2020.
Corporate governance is addressed separately in the Corporate
Governance Report.

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of construction
and related services, which mainly included (a) building
construction business (b) sales of piles (c) renewable energy
business and (d) e-commerce business.

The scope of this ESG report mainly includes policies, data and
activities of the offices in Hong Kong (the “Hong Kong Offices”) and
the offices located in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") (the
“PRC Offices”) during the Year 2020. Unless otherwise specified, the
disclosed environmental and social KPIs covers Hong Kong Offices,
PRC Offices and the following construction sites in relation to three
environmental aspects and eight social aspects:

Tai Mong Tsai project — superstructure works;
Pok Fu Lam project — foundation works; and

Shatin Racecourse project — foundation works.
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The above construction sites account for approximately 66% of the
active Hong Kong construction sites revenue of the Group for the
Year 2020. The Group will continue to review the reporting scope in
the future, and extend the report coverage based on the following
criteria:

significance of revenue against the respective financial year;
potential ESG impact;

geographical location; and

associated new legislation requirements, if any.

The board of directors of the Company has reviewed and approved
this ESG report.

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group values the views and opinions of the stakeholders and
recognise the importance of their input to the Group’s sustainable
development.

The Group's key stakeholders include government, shareholders,
customers, employees, suppliers or subcontractors and community.
The Group has conducted a survey, discussed or communicated
with stakeholders to understand their views and respond to their
needs and expectations, evaluated and prioritised their inputs to
improve the Group's performance, and finally strived to provide
value to the stakeholders.

Stakeholders
A

Expectations and requirements

HERER

A TG AE B R 2020F EH B /G REE
TRz 4766% - ANEB BB BIFERFHREH
B WERUTZERRARERNES ¢

WS HERT B FENERIZE
BERE 1S
WIBAE R

HEAFNABIRE (0E) »

ARAEEGCBRHRIARES  HEREA
s -

EZASH
AEEEREHANRREER  RARSAK

SENAHERRMEEMZEEN -

$EIW££%‘Aa%ﬁﬁ BR - EP B
8 HEREN B RTE - AEBECD EiEEA
ETRERT  ARIER UWTHRERSENER

REEEFEREE TRV EERHER
EERBZERNEBLAT  IHREHN AER
ANEEEE -

Communication and response

BEREDE

Government and regulatory

Operating in compliance with the law

Law-abiding operations

bodies Tax payment in accordance with the Tax payment on time and in full
laws
NEGEPSEAR 2 FORKS & SPARE
WL AR BB
Shareholders Implementation of corporate Optimising internal control and risk
governance and create value management
Information disclosure Releasing operating data in due course
AR BIThREBTAEEE ﬁmm%@? gL
B E %%ﬁsﬁ%ﬁ

58 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

Annual Report 2020 3



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BRIR - e MEamE

Stakeholders Expectations and requirements Communication and response
Rz A MERER BEREOE
Customers - Fulfilling contracts within the law Timely completion of the works as set

High-quality services

S - RORER
BE RS
Employees - Career development platform

Remuneration and benefits
Occupational health and safety

(=] EXURTE
eSS
BEREELZE
Suppliers or subcontractors + Receiving payment on time
Business ethics and credit standing
HEREZDEE - RREFWEIN R
EEBEEREE
Community +Improving the environment of
communities
- Protecting the nature
= - BRAHERE

REB R
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out in works order

Adopting ISO 9001:2015 certification
L EAK TI2RT BB ATy THR
FE4N1SO 9001:201 55378

Transparent promotion channel
Competitive remuneration package
Implementation of health and safety
management system
HEAENETRE

B WnH M8
BieRERZTERRR

Timely payment schedule
Fulfilment of obligations under any
contract in accordance with laws
Ko B A5 R B ) &2 B
KEBITAKNE

Participation in charitable activities
Adhere to green operations

DEREEED
TR B L E
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MATERIALITY MATRIX

In Year 2020, the Group carried out materiality assessment on a
number of ESG issues in order to identify which issues were crucial
to the Group’s business and were of the utmost concerned by
stakeholders. It helps the Group to ensure its business development
meeting the expectations and requirements of stakeholders.
The Group has identified 25 ESG issues covering environmental,
social and operation, and has invited both internal and external
stakeholders to assess the materiality of the ESG issues through a
scoring tool and interviews. The Group’s management has reviewed
the ranking of materiality of the ESG issues and then disclosed the
result in this report. The results of materiality assessment prioritised
stakeholder inputs and made the Group focused on the material
aspects for actions, achievements and reporting.

EEMER

R20205 8 - AEBBZIRRE HERER
HETERNHFNE  ABIEAEEEBRER
K ABBERI TR © e A B AR BESR
HEHEXBERTABZANPRERFR - AEELC
BRI IERERE  HENREENRE H8
KEREIR - WHFANE NI ER AE B D
TAREH HZFRE HENERFENE
ZHETHG AEBEEEECEHNZERE
HEeRERFENEEURR - ARARHREANH
BER ERUNENEREHESANERLE
THEF - BAREETTE » BB M [E R EE R
TEEMNE o

The Group’s materiality matrix of ESG issues in the Year 2020:

HERANEEMY

IMPORTANCE TO STAKEHOLDERS

20200 EREENERE HEREAEEEEMEM !

IMPORTANCE TO BUSINESS
HERBNEEN
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Environmental issues
RIBEE

Social issues

HEER

Operation issues

EEEH

1. Greenhouse gas emissions

1. REREEER

Energy consumption

BETRHRE

3. Water consumption

3. FEK
4. Waste
4. FEEY)

5. Use of raw materials and packaging
materials

5. RAME RBEMHER

6. Green buildings certification
6. KEBRERE

Noise

& ==

=]

Climate change

ek

SR

9. Customer engagement in
environmental issues

9. FRYERRFENZHE

EMISSIONS

The Group recognises that environmental protection is one of
the great social concern matters. The Group formulates specific
Environmental Management Plans (EMP) for the projects to
effectively implement the mitigation measures, with proper ESRNREMIEHE - BREE R TEI
ERETH (BIEABFIRE - SEHRMIER R H
ISR )BT AR IRET JARE - LAINSRE IR
MEERER -

monitoring and remedial measures that satisfy relevant
requirements. Apart from regulatory requirements, the Group also
adheres to the BEAM Plus requirements in three of the construction

10. Use of chemicals

10. L2 mrfER

11. Local community engagement

11, ZHb 4t [ 22 B

12. Community investment

12 HERE

13. Occupational health and safety
13 BEEELRLZE

14. Labour standards in supply chain

14 BB AN S TIRE

15. Training and development

15 1R MR

16. Employee welfare

16. BB &7

17. Inclusion and equal opportunities

17. BARFE#E

18. Talent attraction and retention

18. a8 A A

23587

AEERSRERENHLEEINERETRL
— o AKREREFIAR FIERENIRTE RS -
BRERERER UYRENAHBRENES

sites including Tai Mong Tsai project, Pok Fu Lam project and Shatin

Racecourse project to further the efforts in controlling the emissions

and resource use.
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19. Economic value generated

19. EARKHEEE

20. Corporate governance
20. REER

21. Anti-corruption
2. REF

22. Supply chain management
22. HEEER

23. Customer satisfaction

3. BEFPMEE

24. Customer privacy

24. BEFLE

25. Product responsibility
25 EmBHE
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The fuel used by machinery and mobile generators during
construction will result in air emissions. Under the Air Pollution
Control (Non-road Mobile Machinery) (Emission) Regulation
approved by the Environmental Protection Department is required
for the use of regulated machines and non-road vehicles. To reduce
air emission, the Group uses ultra-low-sulphur diesel in all diesel-
operated construction plants and set up screens to reduce the
impact of exhaust fumes on the public when necessary.

For dust control, the Group regularly sprays water on unpaved roads
and exposed or loose soils surfaces to suppress dust emissions.
Vehicles would also go through wheel washing facilities before
leaving the sites to remove any dusty materials.

During the Year 2020, air emission for nitrogen oxides ("NO*"),
sulphur oxides ("SO*") and particulate matter ("PM") were mainly
generated from the combustion sources of motor vehicles of the
Group. The table below shows the key environmental performance

EieTBES - B EBE A ERER R
SELIRBHN - RE(ZERISRER GEBR

iy%bffé%m)(%#ﬁ&)%ﬁ ) - AR E N IFE
BEMARGRRREZTOIE - BRDRET
e ﬁﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ CmEPEERBUEMRBR
Bisem - WM ERRE FEAREEREEY

(===}
NRHFE o

MEEE BT E - AN BT HA A oK 4 B 1 D SE B
%%ﬁ%ﬁ%&%i%%ﬂﬁm LABL B EEBE IR
ERERER TR B SR BB AR i - A BT
0] HEERNYIEL o

R20205 2 - BB (TRE/D]) - RELY
(IR&eey]) REFhF ([ BFRF ) R
BERE2RIRNAKBERmHORER - TRIR
2020F B AR B2 BT B A S TR B R AV R

indicators of different types of air emissions emitted by the Group’s — $IRIBLEMIEZ -
operation during the Year 2020.
Unit Year 2020 Year 2019
Air emissions™ BERBERR™ EXv2 20205 E 2019 &
NO* emissions A L kg 2.43@ 6.062
T
SO* emissions AL BER kg 0.36 0.39
T
PM emissions ST R T HER kg 0.18? 0.45@
TR
Note: ke
1. Petrol data for the calculation of NO* emissions, SO* emissions and PM 1. BRETEREWEEN - FEALYHER & BOF R
emissions cover all the vehicles consumption for all construction sites FHHRE RS R E AN EERNEEFAARET
of the Group in Hong Kong. P B E R o
2. No record of travelling distance for 6 out of 12 private carsis 2 EAMERREPEPERN2020FEE N HIRE 12

maintained by the Hong Kong Offices and PRC Offices in Year 2020
(8 out of 13'in Year 2019). Hence, no figure of NO* emissions and PM
emissions of relevant private cars are disclosed.
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Greenhouse gas ("GHG") emissions refer to the sum of carbon
dioxide ("C0O2") emissions and the CO: equivalent emissions of
methane (“CH4") and nitrous oxide (“N20"). GHG emissions are
categorised into direct emissions and indirect emissions.

The main sources of direct GHG emissions from operations are the
use of motor vehicles owned or controlled by the Group. The main
sources of indirect GHG emissions from operations are the use of
purchased electricity, paper waste disposed at landfills, electricity
used for processing fresh water by government departments.

BEEREB(DREERE DERER —ALiR([ =4
ez ) B E R B ([ F ke ) Matna (|1t
FADN_EHMEEFHENEN - RERE
BRI D RERBER R BRI -

EEMELAMNBERAERBHNEIERRRER
AEBHEREANER - ©EMEENEEER
ERBHNEIERRA/EMINEESD  HERRE
BV REAR M EBFIRE IEIAOKPT R E

The table below shows the key environmental performance  F&RBER2020FERE B LBEHREL R =REE
indicators of GHG emissions emitted by the Group's operation  RHBEHERIBERIEREZ -
during the Year 2020.

Unit Year 2020 Year 2019
GHG emissions™ BERBHEHREY ==y 2020 & 20195 &
Total GHG emissions RERBATNE kg CO% 847,215 1,135,692

TR-ALRES

GHG emissions intensity (per employee) B ERELHRERE kg CO% 8,558 8,736
(BEEE) Fr-atikE=
Direct emissions due to combustion of 2 Eh 3R B BA KA kg CO% 765,568 991,446
fuels in mobile sources (Scope 1) EAMEZER TRZSHEREE
(&i881)
Indirect emissions due to consumption of SHFESMNEE S E A kg CO% 65,862 133,570
purchased electricity (Scope 2) MEn(dEE2) TR_StRkEE
Other indirect emissions due to paper WEEREERAN kg CO% 15,785 10,676
waste disposed at landfills, electricity BRI A IKET A FR-GEREE
used for processing fresh water (Scope 3) & JJE A K E A
M5 BE R (#0085 3)

Note 1: Diesel and petrol data cover all the vehicle and machinery

consumption for all sites of the Group in Hong Kong.
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The Group takes proactive measures for environmental protection,
and manage waste on site through the proper collection, storage,
transportation, disposal and treatment of wastes. To meet the waste
reduction goals, the Group formulates Waste Management Plans
for projects with clear guidance on the handling of different kinds
of waste. In addition, the Group takes measures to reduce waste
generation at source and systematically sort the wastes, followed
by the recovery of any reusable or recyclable parts such as metal
parts from temporary works, as well as paper packaging from
general refuse. To encourage recycling of waste, recycling bins at
construction sites are also provided.

The Group sends waste to construction waste sorting facilities and
public fill so more construction and demolition (C&D) wastes can be
recovered as far as possible. The Group designates storage locations
for chemical wastes such as used lubricated oil, diesel and residual
paint during site planning. The safety officers would perform regular
inspections to ensure proper storage. The collected chemical wastes
are properly disposed of by a qualified licensed chemical waste
collector.

Moreover, the Group promotes switching off lighting and air-
conditioning one hour during lunchtime and using timer to control
on/off for office electrical appliance to reduce energy consumptions
during the Year 2020.

The table below shows the key environmental performance
indicators of waste produced by the Group’s operation during the
Year 2020.

AEERBEGEERERRTRNEETHESR
Yo DEREZENRSE  #F & BRERE
BERY - REZIRERR - AKEREEHE
BEEIRAE  IREHANFRETRBRE N ERY
FYBREEHR 5| SN - AN SR B ERERSS i 1 R SRR BE
KNEEEEYA RS DR - BRI BRHA]
BIREWWZM - flanitil TR0 BT
- ARRE —RAEPHEERE - ABRER
ElREEY) - RFITIRERET IR HERDUAS -

ASKE S BRER SRR D RRIERARE
LB - ETHEERRRER - ARENAEI T
B IR G B BB SO R R S
PIRVEETTH8 © 22 A BRI ITERE TR b
HRE - ERENLBBENmA BRI IRILEE
IR R -

ESN - AN SR B 20204 E fR G 10 F IR B 1 15 AR R
AR ZEREBEEA N WA AR SRENRA
=ERNMAAE - URIERRESE -

TREBT2020FEAEE S BEMEEREEYHE

RIRBERIER -

Unit Year 2020 Year 2019

Waste BEZEW BAL 2020 20195 &

Total non-hazardous waste produced FIEABEREEYD tonnes 3,523 15,851
we M43

Non-hazardous waste produced intensity FTE4HEEREZEY) tonnes 36 122
(per employee) mE(B%ESR) A

Total hazardous waste produced FIEABEEED tonnes N/A N/A

we L7 TEA T EA

Hazardous waste produced intensity FTELEEEZEZEY tonnes N/A N/A

(per employee) EE(BHEE) g TEA T iE A
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The Group recognises that noise emission is one of the great
environmental concern matters. The Group strives to strictly
adhere to relevant laws and regulations in managing the impact of
construction noise on the surrounding environment.

The Group strictly regulates the operation of its business to
ensure the compliance with local laws and regulations relating to
environmental protection and pollutant emissions. In Year 2020,
there was no case of material non-compliance with the Water
Pollution Control Ordinance, the Air Pollution Control Ordinance,
the Waste Disposal Ordinance, Noise Control Ordinance, Dumping
at Sea Ordinance, Environmental Impact Assessment Ordinance and
other relevant laws and regulations of Hong Kong relating to air
and GHG emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste and noise that have a
significant impact on environment. In addition, there was no report
of significant fines or sanctions as a result of non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations in Year 2020.

USE OF RESOURCES

The Group recognises that efficient use of resources is one of the
significant aspects to protect environment.

The Group relies on different resources to deliver quality
construction work in operations. That includes electricity for the site
offices and headquarter, diesel for the machineries and generator
sets, petrol for the site vehicles, and water for different processes.
The Group strives to conserve resources within the operations.
Different resource-saving measures are implemented during the
various stages of construction to conserve energy, water, paper and
other office supplies. The measures taken range from improvement
in equipment efficiency, reuse and recycling of materials, to the
behavioural change of the people.
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To conserve resources, the Group continuously implements various
measures including:

converting and retrofitting construction machines to fit into
different construction sites;

reusing timber and concreting formboards in construction
sites where possible and recycling materials like metal parts,

plastics and paper packaging; and

reusing treated construction wastewater for water spraying
and wheel washing when possible.

The Group also implements green office practices at Hong Kong
Offices and PRC Offices with examples like:

replacing T5 light tubes with LED lights;

selecting computers with “Energy Star” logo;

encouraging employees to turn off or unplug any electrical
appliances that are not in use, such as light, computer or

chargers; and

encouraging duplex printing in offices.

Energy saving signs remind staff members to turn off
the lights after using in order to promote energy conservation.

SRELETRE IR SRR RE B T A RAE LAHEED BT R o

BREAR  AEBBEEHRZEER 815
ME RN RERW - MBS TRBET
i
EAJRER R T Hh 8 FRM ROESEIR
REeBENH  BRRBEBE %Mﬂ
53

A e B R AEHETR MRSERTK - AR
R bcth -

BRTREEREELTERFEERZEHA
B B

BT5HE BIRALEDE

BB (R E IZHmME
SEEREBEZTFERNER(HIWERE B
P ER)BEIEBRER &

B NEABERITEH -

Notice of Printing and photocopying control
for paper saving.

SRR 51 EN S 2 ENE 18 K1 DA B A i 4
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The below table shows the key environmental performance
indicators of the Group's use of resources during the Year 2020.

TRET200FEAEEEREANBRBRIRG
IR

Unit Year 2020 Year 2019
Total use of resources ERERABEE B 2020 2019%F &
Electricity purchases for consumption INEBEHEE kWh 120,098 230,552
TRE
Electricity consumption intensity BIHEERE kWh 1,213 1,773
(per employee) (BEEE) TRk
Amount of water consumption FEKE m3 4,006 1,394
Water consumption intensity FKEE(BRER) m3 40.46 10.72
(per employee) K
Total packaging material used for SN AT B kg N/A N/A
finished products ®ote) WRH4R & o) Fx TiEA TEA
Amount of packaging material BEEBEMNBE kg N/A N/A
per unit produced Mot MR E W T TEA T EA
Note: Pt &

The packaging material used for products or services provided by the Group
is minimal and hence no relevant data is disclosed.

THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL
RESOURCES

The Group understands that its performance in respect of emissions,
waste produced, and use of resources impacts the environment,
the Group endeavours to minimise such impacts, and communicate
the Group’s environmental policy, measures, performance, and
achievements to the stakeholders.

The Group is committed to reducing the operation impacts on
environment and natural resources. Series of guidelines are issued
to the workforce (in-house workforce as well as subcontractors) on
air pollution, water pollution, noise control and waste management
at works.
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

The Group recognises the significance of talent management
in achieving long-term business growth. In managing the
talents, the Group upholds the principles of fairness and market
competitiveness, as well as rewards on high performances.

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and oppose any form
of discrimination in the hiring process. Employment opportunities
and treatment of employees are not affected by personal attributes
like race, religion, nationality, age or gender. The Group also strictly
prohibits any act of sexual harassment.

The Group provides competitive remuneration packages to staff.
Employees who have completed the probation period are entitled
to medical insurance as well as bonuses and allowances. The Group
has set reasonable working hours, rest periods, and different types
of leave including annual, maternity and examination leave, to
further cater to the personal needs of employees. In addition to
the basic benefits, the Group also provides meals to workers at the
construction sites.

The Group conducts annual remuneration review of employees
based on their performance. As per the policy on promotion, the
Group prioritises internal promotion and would only seek to hire
through open recruitment when internal promotion is not suitable.

All human resources policies are communicated through the
employee handbook and other communication channels such as
bulletin postings or emails, to ensure all staff members are well
aware of their rights and responsibilities.
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The workforce compositions of the Hong Kong Offices and PRC
Offices as of 31 December 2020 are stated as follows:

2020 12A318 © &E
BEHESEIIAT

W2 B N R B SR B

Year 2020 Year 2019
Employee Statistics EEGTET 20205 E 2019 &
Total number of staff in head offices BMERE T B 51 53
Categorised by gender: Tziz MRIES
- Male -5 34 35
- Female — Mt 17 18
Categorised by age: BFERE D
- Aged under 30 —30F AT 5 8
- Aged 30-50 —30&508% 35 34
- Aged over 50 —505% A & 1 11
Turnover rate oK B 2 2% 42%

During Year 2020, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the Employment Ordinance for Hong Kong
Offices and construction sites in Hong Kong and Labour Law
of the PRC (Fh#E A R £ FIBI &5 &)%) for PRC Offices relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
as well as other benefits and welfare.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

As the Group is primarily involved in construction activities,
occupational health and safety is one of the top priorities. The Group
has a Safety, Health and Environment policy in place to ensure good
health and safety of employees.

The Group has designated person in charge of safety issues to
better manage health and safety issues. Safety officers will regularly
review and check for updates of the relevant laws, and make regular
inspections to ensure safety. Besides regular inspections, the Group
also provides monthly industry safety training and occupational
risk assessments to increase employees’ awareness and reduce the
chance of work accidents.
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Depending on the nature of their work, workers are required to wear
appropriate personal protective equipment. No workers are allowed
to operate machineries or perform high-risk tasks such as working in
confined space or working with electrical appliances without strict
supervision and approval of supervisors.

The Group has informed workers about planned escape routes
in case of emergencies and have provided proper signage and
instruction for caution areas in the workplace. When employees
identify potential health and safety risks, they are required to
escalate the issues to management for follow-up actions.

During the Year 2020, there were four cases of work-related injuries
at the construction site in Hong Kong. In response to the accident,
the Group has taken appropriate remedial action including training
on construction safety for the workers and putting up more safety
posters and instructions at the different areas of the site.

TABARTENEFE S ENEARERE
ERBEEASBBRBEBERMENERLT - TA
TRBEERMSETSERESE - PlNZFH=ERE
TESlBRIFERR °

AEEC ST ABRLEEZESBREH SR
R YR TIESMRAARIEERNEERT
KRIET - EREHABERFERLZ AR - &
HFAMEBEAB LHRABEE - UERE -

20205 EN - BAENBRETH BEHF4RIES
% REBEEREZNERITHREEN - 2
EAT AREBREELZZEI - R T E RS
RUFLZLE2ERIIETR °

Year 2020 Year 2019
Work-related injuries I 2020F E 2019F &
Cases of work-related fatalities ETEREMmILT B ER 0 0
Cases of work-related injuries ETEREMZ G SN 4 1
Lost-days due to work-related injuries ETEEAIIEAH 312 57

As the outbreak of coronavirus disease 2019 (the "COVID-19"),
the Group has immediately followed the local authority’s hygiene
guidelines and has established a series of Anti-COVID measures that
has been executed since early of 2020, and will be continuously
enhanced from time to time until pandemic is in basic control. The
Group Anti-COVID measures include but not limited to: (i) checking
body temperature before entering to the business premises; (ii)
providing disposable protective mask and hand sanitizers for all
employees and visitors; (iii) sterilizing designated high risk areas
frequently; (iv) keeping a proper communicating and working
distance; (v) fully disinfecting business premises regularly; and (vi)
employee diversion dinning to reduce crowd gathered.

While navigating health and safety concerns to mitigate the
outbreak of the COVID-19 and in combating to the virus, the
Group has to ensure a provision of safe working environment with
abundant supply of face masks to employees.
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The Group adheres to relevant health and safety laws, such as
Factories and Industrial Undertakings (Safety Officers and Safety
Supervisors) Regulations, Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
of Hong Kong, Law of the PRC on Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases (12 A R HAEIE 2% b7)8)%) and Work-
Related Injury Insurance Regulation (L& RE1EH]) of the PRC.
During the Year 2020, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with laws and regulations regarding occupational
health and safety.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

As employee’s capabilities can drive the long-term development
of the Group, the Group seeks to enhance their skills by providing
them with various training opportunities. The Group has a Training
Policy that is focused on imparting training and qualifications to the
management, aiming at:

Company secretarial;

China and Hong Kong tax; and

ISO training.
Employee training could be in forms of in-class learning, E-learning,
seminars and coaching. Staff members taking part in external
training are also encouraged to share their learning with other
colleagues. When necessary, employees taking part in professional
examinations are granted paid leaves as well. Under the current
policy, the major training topics include:

Regulatory compliance (e.g. relevant Listing Rules, Corporate

Governance Code, the Securities and Futures Ordinance and

other applicable rules and regulations in Hong Kong and

overseas);

Anti-money laundering and counter terrorist financing;

Environmental, health and safety regulations;

Relevant rules/regulations in the construction industry; and

Crisis response awareness.
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LABOUR STANDARDS

Use of forced and child labour is strictly prohibited by the
Group. The Group adheres to all relevant regulations and laws to
safeguard the rights of the employees and does not tolerate labour
exploitation.

All relevant laws, such as the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong,
Labour Law of the PRC (R ZE A R ANEI 25 8h)%), the Provisions on
the Prohibition of Using Child Labour (22 IFH{EAZE TR E) of the
PRC and the relevant laws and regulations relating to preventing
child or forced labour are regularly reviewed to ensure the
compliance of the labour practices by the Hong Kong Office, PRC
Offices and construction sites in Hong Kong. During the recruitment
process, the Group verifies the applicant’s age and the practice
is extended to the supplier selection process as well. Any non-
compliance will be escalated to the director for further investigation
and handling.

During the Year 2020, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with laws and regulations regarding child labour and
forced labour.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

In the construction projects, the Group works with different
subcontractors and suppliers. Therefore, supply chain management
is important to the Group's provision of quality construction work.

The Group has in place well-established procedures to select
and monitor subcontractors and supplier partners. The Group's
procedures in selecting suppliers for projects are well-documented
in the Selection of Subcontractor and Supplier policy, which requires
careful assessment of suppliers based on criteria such as reputation,
capability, work quality, experience and other relevant factors.
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During the projects, the Group continues to monitor supplier
performance and adopt adequate control measures to ensure that
the purchased products conform to project specifications. Beyond
quality and legal compliance, the Group expects the subcontractors
to adopt fair labour practices and demonstrate environmental
stewardship. The requirements for suppliers are communicated in
the Supplier Code of Conduct, and the Group evaluates supplier
performance through site visits to confirm their compliance
with the code. Only those who pass the evaluation would stay
on the Approved Subcontractors/Suppliers List, and severe non-
compliance may ultimately lead to cease of collaboration.

The Group also has a separate Procedure for Selection of External
Professional Parties, which provides guidance on appointing
external professional advisers based on factors such as quality and
independence.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

It is the goal to improve the quality of life in society and build for a
better environment. To achieve this goal, the Group strives to deliver
high-quality, safe construction services to the clients.

To ensure the delivery of high-quality services consistently, the
Group has established and implemented an ISO 9001:2015 certified
quality management system. It provides reliable assurance of the
contracted services and works and fulfils the following criteria:

meeting customer expectations and relevant regulatory
requirements;

satisfying customers through continuous improvement of
products and services; and

fulfilling contract requirements with quality management as
the top priority.

During the Year 2020, the Group is not aware of any non-compliance
with Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong, Trade
Description Ordinance of Hong Kong and the relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong and the PRC relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided and method of redress.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

Employees at all levels are required to conduct themselves with
integrity, impartiality and honesty. The Group strictly adheres to
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong. In addition,
the Group has in place an Anti-bribery and Corruption Policy,
which provides a clear definition of bribery and corruption acts,
and documents the internal control and escalation procedures in
handling suspected cases.

As a supplement to the Anti-bribery and Corruption Policy, the
Staff Discipline Policy provides guidance on employees’ behaviour,
including the acceptance of gifts and conflict of interests, to further
enhance the awareness of employees. The above policies ensure
that employees across levels adhere to anti-bribery laws and
follow the best practices in combating corruption in all business
operations of the Group.

The Group also seeks to promote awareness of the employees
through anti-corruption training. During the Year 2020, the
colleagues attended anti-money laundering training, which
covered topics including updates on regulatory changes, banking
requirements and the detection of money laundering.

The staff members are encouraged to report suspected corruption
cases. The Group has a Whistle-blowing Policy that protects
the whistle-blower from possible retaliation while discouraging
malicious allegations made in bad faith through established
mechanisms. Under the policy, the whistle-blower’s identity is
protected and retaliation is not permissible against him or her. The
Group will investigate the reported incidents thoroughly and will
take disciplinary actions against any misconduct. In addition, the
Group shall report suspected corruption cases to the Independent
Commission Against Corruption of Hong Kong.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIR - e REamE

The Group strictly regulates the operation of its business to ensure
compliance with national and local laws and regulations relating
to anti-corruption during the course of operation. In the Year
2020, there was no case of any material non-compliance with the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Anti-Unfair
Competition Law of the PRC and the relevant laws and regulations
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering that have
a significant impact. In addition, there was no report of significant
fines or sanctions as a result of non-compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations in the Year 2020.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group sincerely believes that growth is closely tied to the
surrounding community and the environment. In order to raise
the awareness of climate change and energy saving, the Group
participated in “Earth Hour 2020” held by World Wide Fund for
Nature Hong Kong (WWF), by switching off non-essential lights and
electronic appliances, as the step against climate change and for
energy saving.

FEEDBACK

The Group will continue to adopt measures for the benefit of ESG
in its operations. Stakeholders’ feedback is valuable and can help
the Group to improve its operational, environmental, social and
governance policies and procedures. Please feel free to share your
feedback on the performance via any of the following channels:

Address:  Room Nos. 808-814, 8th Floor, Sun Hung Kai Centre,
30 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Email: info@ctvision994.com
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ZHONGHUI
To the Shareholders of CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited

(formerly known as “CT Vision (International) Holdings Limited”)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CT
Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 83 to 195,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters
described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report,
the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

Revenue and profit recognition of construction service and
contract assets

Impairment losses on trade receivables and contract assets of
approximately HK$65,647,000 and HK$18,299,000, respectively,
were recognised for the year ended 31 December 2019, and
reversal of impairment on trade receivables and contract assets of
approximately HK$65,647,000 and HK$ 18,299,000, respectively, were
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2020, for a construction
service contract in Saipan.
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Included in the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2019 was contract assets with carrying amounts
of approximately HK$48,416,000, for certain construction service
contracts in Hong Kong. In related to the aforesaid contract assets,
revenue of approximately HK$48,416,000 was recognised for the
year ended 31 December 2019 and impairment losses on contract
assets of approximately HK$48,416,000 was recognised for the year
ended 31 December 2020, respectively.

Included in the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2019 was contract assets with carrying amounts
of approximately HK$29,741,000, for a number of construction
service contracts in Hong Kong. Impairment on contract assets,
reversal of revenue and cost of revenue in related to the aforesaid
contract assets of approximately HK$4,527,000, HK$18,489,000 and
HK$6,725,000 respectively, were recorded for the year ended 31
December 2020.

The management has been unable to provide sufficient evidence
to support the calculation of the aforesaid balances and due
to insufficient record, we have been unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to ascertain the recoverable amount of
aforesaid balances as at 31 December 2019. There were no other
satisfactory audit procedures that we could perform to satisfy
ourselves whether the aforesaid balances were fairly stated as at
31 December 2019. Consequently, we have been unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence on the impairment losses and
revenue recorded in the year ended 31 December 2019 and thus the
consequential effect on the impairment losses, revenue and cost of
revenue recorded in the year ended 31 December 2020.

Any adjustments to the figures as described above might have a
consequential effect on the Group's financial performance and cash
flows for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 and the
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019, and the
related disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial statements.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to
the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section, we
have determined the matters described below to be the key audit
matters to be communicated in our report.
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REVENUE RECOGNITION OF CONSTRUCTION
SERVICE

Refer to Note 5 and 22 to the consolidated financial statements

We identified the revenue recognition from these construction
contracts as a key audit matter as it is significant to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
and management’s judgment is involved in measuring the stage
of completion of construction works completed during the
year. Construction works may take several years to complete.
Management estimates the revenue by assessing the progress
of construction works. As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements, the management’s estimate of revenue and
the completion status of construction works requires significant
judgment and has a significant impact on the amount and timing of
revenue recognised.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Obtaining an understanding of the key controls over the
revenue recognition and determination of the completion
status of construction works;

- Obtaining an understanding from the project managers of the
status of completion of the construction projects during the
year on a sample basis; and

- Assessing the management’s estimate of revenue from
construction works, by checking to the Group’s latest internal
construction progress reports on a sample basis to verify the
value of construction works completed and comparing these
to the latest certificates issued by the surveyors appointed by
the customers.

We consider that the Group’s estimates of the revenue recognised
are supported by the available evidence.
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TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT ASSETS

Refer to Note 21 and 22 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amounts of trade receivables and contract
assets for impairment. This impairment test is significant to our
audit because the balances of trade receivables, prepayment
and contract assets of HK$98,742,000, HK$135,067,000 and
HK$191,957,000 respectively, as at 31 December 2020 are material
to the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group's
impairment test involves application of judgement and is based on
estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Assessing the Group's procedures on granting credit limits
and credit periods to debtors;

- Assessing the Group's relationship and transaction history
with the debtors;

- Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;

- Assessing ageing of the trade receivables;

- Assessing creditworthiness of the debtors;

- Checking subsequent settlements from the debtors;

- Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to credit risk
in the consolidated financial statements; and

- Testing subsequent contract work certification and settlement
of contract assets and receivables respectively after the
balance sheet date on a sample basis.

We consider that the Group's impairment test for trade receivables,
prepayment and contract assets is supported by the available
evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. As described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion
section above, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
evidence about the Revenue and profit recognition of construction
service and contract assets. Accordingly, we are unable to conclude
whether or not the other information is materially misstated with
respect to this matter.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Annual Report 2020 G

Htv &R

EEAHHMENAE - RENBREQRF
BANMEER  BIBREEEMERER LI
HAZ BN S o

BPEHEEMBERRNERL PREEMER
BRAT THZEEMENEREATANERS
A ©
BAERMEGAMBERENET - RANETR
FIEEMERN  HIBEREY  ZEEMENES
B AP BHRRARMNEFHRETRTHENE
MEEERBBEREUTFFEERHERBANE
7 o

ERBADATOIE  MRERMBSEMER
FHEBABREL  RAFTEREZFE - SN0
EXFREBROER S - RABEREE
MGz e loaMERARENEERGSRRA
HEERERE - At - RABZEIEEEMBEHRES
FHEEBZERNEAFERRM -

ESNERZEENGAMBHRRA
AENEE

EFAARRBEEGITNAGRONET BN
BEEARFEARGHORER EHEREM
TENGEEMBERE  YHERRARKRAME
BROBBEIFERNRFRERMEBRNERKR
£ R BRI P 75 O PO BB 51

=
= ©

ERBRAMBREAE BEFREFHERER
BRREmee ) YEEABATREEFELE
BRNFR  URERAFELCEREHER K
HEFEEHEREFRAUFLLE - HpIEHR
ERNERITER -

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BI85 ik A R A &) 8 1



Independent Auditor’s Report
TNz B R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's website at:

http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-regulations/standards/auditing-assurance/auditre/

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Fong Tak Ching

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P06353

Hong Kong, 15 December 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
ireiBm L HMEE R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

2020 2019
20205 2019%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
P sE F#&xT T
Revenue & 5 250,889 246,880
Cost of revenue W Esp AR 9 (281,259) (222,891)
Gross (loss)/profit E£(8) A (30,370) 23,989
Other income HE YA 7 6,148 5,712
Other gains/(losses), net Hinlrzs /(F18 ) g5 8 858 (397)
Net reversal of impairment loss/ SERERENEERE
(impairment losses) on financial and Eia i, CRE
contract assets E518 ) F 58 3.1(b) 32,153 (88,297)
Selling and administrative expenses HE RITHHX 9 (58,625) (45,570)
Operating loss KB EE (49,836) (104,563)
Finance costs SURCID RN 11 (5,224) (4,805)
Loss before income tax MRETBHATEE (55,060) (109,368)
Income tax (expense)/credit REBREXL) e 12 (1,104) 1,230
Loss for the year FEEE (56,164) (108,138)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) HftZ2mEWE ~(FE)
Item that may be reclassified AfEH T EEEmA
to profit or loss: EH -
Exchange differences on translation BMERINETBFIEER
of foreign operations PEH =% 2,750 (228)
Total comprehensive FEXHEEERE
loss for the year (53,414) (108,366)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020412 431 B ILEE

2020 2019
20205 20194F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt EE FET FHET
Loss for the year attributable to: AT AT RIEFEESR
Owners of the Company ZIN/NSIEZ N (55,459) (108,138)
Non-controlling interest FEIEAR M 2 (705) -
(56,164) (108,138)
Total comprehensive loss for the year LA N ATEBIEEEEE
attributable to: EiEEEE
Owners of the Company ZAN/NEIE 2= DN (52,669) (108,366)
Non-controlling interest IR =S (745) -
(53,414) (108,366)
Loss per share for loss attributable  Z&RQA T #EHE AELER
to owners of the Company ZEBREE
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EARREEE GBI 13 (8.35) (17.67)
The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other  Filt4F & 1B 25 & E b 2 W %5 2% & B AR B P 5 —

comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the — $fE3& °

accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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At 31 December 2020 20205128318

2020 2019
20204 20194
Notes HKS$’000 HKS'000
P 5 FET FET
Assets EE
Non-current assets FEREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB MR 16 2,276 2,413
Right-of-use assets FHREEE 17 11,845 15,857
Other assets Hih & E 18 - 24,409
Goodwill (EEES 19 22,607 21,670
Deposits b 21 1,897 1,970
Deferred tax assets EETIAE E 24 2,303 2,044
40,928 68,363
Current assets REEE
Trade receivables, deposits and B O RWHIA -~ ke
other receivables e Eo b FE U 5R T8 21 246,068 169,027
Contract assets EHEE 22 191,957 239,009
Other assets Bt &EE 18 23,546 -
Pledged bank deposits EEPRITFR 23(c) - 40,060
Cash and bank balances He MIRIT 23(a) 33,694 1,283
495,265 449,379
Total assets HmEE 536,193 517,742
Equity R
Share capital A&z 25 7,608 6,120
Reserves EE 26 287,976 228,109
Capital and reserves attributable to RRBEB ANERER
owners of the Company K f#tE 295,584 234,229
Non-controlling interest eI (745) -
Total equity L 294,839 234,229
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At 31 December 2020  F220205F12A31H

2020 2019
20204 20194
Notes HKS$’000 HKS$'000
P5E FET FET
Liabilities afE
Non-current liabilities FkRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 17 5,229 9,439
Borrowings B 28 9,000 -
14,229 9,439
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables B o5 N E M ENRIE 27 128,639 137,701
Contract liabilities EHBE 22 15,090 17,000
Current tax liabilities BNHAfE B & fE 12,090 8,227
Amount due to the immediate JEHEEJ NG
holding company I8 32(b) 4,581 17,847
Lease liabilities HeEadE 17 6,647 7,647
Borrowings and bank overdrafts BRMIEITE S 28 60,078 85,652
227,125 274,074
Total liabilities waE 241,354 283,513
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 536,193 517,742

The consolidated financial statements on pages 83 to 195 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 15 December 2021 and were
signed on its behalf:

FIE1ERGEVBRERE EE%%AﬁAzoﬂ &F
12A1SE#E WHATEEREKE

Ho Chun Kit Gregory Wong Kee Chung

EIRCgE BELTR
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
E o
The above consolidated statement of financial position should be itz & B FSAR LR EBLAEREPT s — 0 RIAE o

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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At 31 December 2020 20205128318

Attributable to owners of the Company

NG PN
Retained
profits/ Non-
Share Share Other  Exchange  (Accumulated controlling Total
capital ~ premium reserve reserve losses) Total interest equity
REBEH/
Rx  ROBE RtBE ENfE  (2HER) B FERER A&
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
T TR TR TEx Tér TEr  TEr  TEn
At 1 January 2019 #2019F1 518 6,120 166,239 43100 (1,094) 128,230 342,595 - 342,595
Loss for the year EEEE - - - - (108138 (108138 - (108139)
Other comprehensive loss for the year FEEMZEER - - - (229) - (229) - (228)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FELAEEER - - - (229) (108,138)  (108366) - (108,366)
At 31 December 2019 #20198128318 6,120 166,239 43100 (1322) 20092 234229 - 234229
t 1 January 2020 R00F1A1R 6,120 166,239 43,100 (1322) 20,092 234,229 - 234,229
Loss for the year FEER - - - - (55459)  (55,459) (705)  (56,164)
Other comprehensive loss for the year EEER2EER - - - 2,790 - 2,790 (40) 2,750
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEXAREER - - - 2,790 (55459)  (52,669) (145)  (53,414)
Transactions with owners in HEEAEERASHR)
their capacity of owners: FJINRS

Contributions of equity net of transaction costs S AR » MBERFHKA 1488 112,536 - - - 14,04 - 114,024
At 31 December 2020 #2020%12831R 7,608 218,775 43,100 1,468 (35367) 295,584 (745) 294839

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be  Fii4r A tEss S B ELAMEBM T — 01 3:E

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

ERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020412 431 B ILEE

2020 2019
2020%F 20194
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B aE FET FHET
Cash flows from operating activities K& EEFBRERE
Cash (used in)/ generated KB (TR, BB e
from operations 30 (87,663) 23,255
Income tax paid BFREH (772) -
Income tax refunded 2RISR 3,168 278
Net cash (used in)/generated from  R&EB(FTH) e
operating activities HE R (85,267) 23,533
Cash flows from investing activities REZEESRERE
Payment for the key management RAREIE A BRI
insurance - (22,656)
Purchases of property, plant and HEEYE - BEMERE
equipment 16 (365) (700)
Release of pledged bank deposits B RIRITIF R 40,060 50,005
Placement of pledged bank deposits B KIRERTTIERIF IR = (40,060)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME « BB K&&RG
plant and equipment FriS k78 30 1,650 500
Interest received BUH B 29 583
Net cash generated from/(used in)  REFEBFTE,(FTA)
investing activities HERE 41,374 (12,328)
Cash flows from financing activities BEZERESRERE
Proceeds from issuances of shares BT TS E0E 119,064 -
Transaction costs from issuances BT Y
of shares R G A (5,040) -
Advances from immediate holding =R UNGIE-E
company 22,108 17,847
Repayment to immediate holding EEREZ2 NCIFE
company (35,558) -
Principal elements of lease payments  FA& [t ZRHI AL EH (7,388) (9,177)
Proceeds from issues of bonds BITEFFSHIE 9,000 -
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITRERPTISSRIA 177,537 147,826
Repayments of bank borrowings EERITER (203,056) (146,815)
Interest paid BFE (5,085) (4,805)
Repayment to directors MEZER = (20,888)
Advances to a director of BRTF—EWBLRF
subsidiary g% (91,518) -
Repayment from to a director of —EZMBARIEER
subsidiary B 95,986 -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
rEReRER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

2020 2019
20205 2019%F
Note HK$’000 HKS'000
Bt aE FET FH&T
Net cash generated from/(used in) ~ BAESEBATE,(FTHA)
financing activities HEFEE 76,050 (16,012)
Net increase/(decrease) incashand RERBEEZEY
cash equivalents #in, CEd)EE 32,157 (4,807)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning REM 2R & RIS
of the year ZEY (15,740) (10,757)
Effects of exchange rate changes on ERFHEIR e RES
cash and cash equivalents ZEYHITE 309 (176)
Cash and cash equivalentsatend of REXRZHERES
the year ZEY 23(b) 16,726 (15,740)

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in  Fili4F AR S mE R EREBEW T —HE

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T A BTSRRI ET

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020412 431 B ILEE

20

GENERAL

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited (formerly
known as “CT Vision (International) Holdings Limited”)
(the "Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, (Cap. 22, Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
Its immediate holding company and ultimate holding
company is CT Vision Investment Limited, a private company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI"). The addresses
of the registered office and principal place of business of
the Company is Room Nos. 808-814, 8th Floor, Sun Hung Kai
Centre, 30 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 15.

These consolidated financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
are presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HKS$"), unless otherwise
stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to
all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

(a) Compliance with HKFRSs and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") and disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance ("HKCQO") Cap. 622.

(b) Historical cost convention
The consolidated financial statements have been

prepared on a historical cost basis, except for
financial asset measured at fair value.

—RE#

AR IR (BB IR BR AR (A& B R X
Zia (BB )ZERABR AR D ([ARRDIRE
MEBHENRDA1961FEEIFANFE2E -
KA REBEDRASHS MK AER
RBRAR  ERDEEBHERIER
NEN([ERRFT) £ - HEBEERAR k&
BIZERAR AP REREHREER AT (AR
BREZHE(|RBEZHSE ) FEMALHRL
ARE]) e RABIMEMNERRFEEHE
MBI R BB BB EEB30RFBED LS
1808-814F °

ARBB/REZERRR  HNBAGRNIE

TEBEA 5

AR REKERR (FREAEE DNES
MR AET(NET)Z2S - ZBEHAR
BRON

EXEHHERE

AU EE S R EthR & M IS MR RN ER
S BEEBE - BEAEIHHAN - BEEREE
RIT2IINEFREEREMA °

21 REEE

(a) BFEBUMBHREEIREEBAR
atEpl

FAEVBHRANGRRCERES
s mEEAN([ BN HmEE
A1) BB AP ($£622F)
(IBERBRAUEG ) 2 WBRE -

(b) ELHEFKED
BRUAFEFENEREEZ

Sh - B M BHRRCEELKA
HAERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A BT

SRR B Bt

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(c)

New and amended standards adopted by the
Group

The Group has applied the following standards
and amendments for the first time for their annual
reporting period commencing 1 January 2020:

Definition of Material — HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
(Amendments)

Definition of a Business — HKFRS 3
(Amendments)

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Phase
1) = HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7
(Amendments)

Revised Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in
the current year has had no material impact on
the Group's financial position and performance
for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

2.

BEASTHERE5)

IRBLE S (4E)
REFRA BT RAZNEETER)
AEBCDFE 202051 A1 B

B FEREHERRAIATER
RAERT AR

EEMEE—EEUHE
HIESED & SR
EACHES

EBNER BBV HR
EELIEELACCHEN)

FlREERE (F — B
) —BEMBSmELERSE
9%k - BB GETLERIE 3%
MBS EREERE7H
CHEN)

BHREZREFTHDE

R

REEERAEBVBREEL 2
EARUAEEAFELBESF
E2BBHRRRRER,RZE
RAMBREAMBZBEELES
N2 I
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020412 431 B ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(d)

92 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

New and amended standards not yet adopted (d)

The following new accounting standards and
interpretations have been published that are
not mandatory for 31 December 2020 reporting
periods and have not been early adopted by the
Group. These standards are not expected to have
a material impact on the entity in the current

2.1 RBEEEE)

HER

or future reporting periods and on foreseeable 2o

future transactions.

UTE AT E
WIEEE 2020512 831 H IEHRE
HARE Ay 98 I M 2E R
KRIBAIERA o AEZSEAT
SAIR B SRR IRE
AIFERMARZTGEEERY

BEREFTHEBRE )

i AR ER B9 7 5T R AN 5T 2 R

/E El

A +/\J gi%%
BAREEY

HA [ )32

Effective for
accounting
period beginning
on or after
BAT RSz AR
MeEtHEEN
HKFRS 16 (Amendments) Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions 1 June 2020
s e EATACHEY 019BRAESABNELER 200567 1H
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Phase 2) 1 January 2021
HKFRS 16 (Amendments)
EANBRGENFN BAGHENSR - FEEENE(E-ER) 0151718
EERBRERAETR  BENBREES
45 REBRBREERE 165 (BFTK)
HKFRS 16 (Amendments) Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions 1 April 2021
BEMBREENE 6% (BTR) 019BHRFERBHECEE 20154718
HKAS 16 (Amendments) Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds before Intended Use 1 January 2022
BRI ER 6% (BFTAK) W% - BERRE-ERE AR AEHE 20251718
HKAS 37 (Amendments) Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fuffilling a Contract 1 January 2022
BEGHENETHR(BIX) BRIEAH-BITAOORE 20251818
HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022
S G ERDACHEY PHAERZ R 2W0%1A18
Annual Improvements Projects Annual Improvements 2018-2020 Cycle 1 January 2022
EREMERR W18FENNFEH 2 FREAE 202451818
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

/T\

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

2.

BB RARM T

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1 RBEEEE)

BEASTHERE5)

(d) New and amended standards not yet adopted (d) [ERERE R FETRAZIEETER

(continued) (%)

Effective for

accounting

period beginning

on or after

EPSN:EEA L

HeEtHEEN

HKAS T (Amendments) Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 1 January 2023

GBiaeEAbACHEY GENEREE VT EE i) 2031418

HKAS T (Amendments) Amendments in relation to Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1 January 2023

BBE AR IR (BAR) RERESHIRNET WBF1A18

HKAS 8 (Amendments) Amendments in relation to Disclosure of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023

BRI EETACHES) REREE B 20351418

HKAS 12 (Amendments) Amendments in relation to Deferred Tax related to Assets and 1 January 2023

Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

BRI ENEF (BHTA) RRAE-RHELRERAREBNETNRENE] 203%1A18

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023

ERMBREERR S RRAH A3F1A18

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) Classification by Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains 1 January 2023

a Repayment on Demand Clause
BERBER(2020F) BRAHHARERETGERNOTRERND R 203%1A18

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (Amendments)

BEMBREEAR 0 REA G ERE85

(BFTE)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture

REZREBENASAELE MNARHERTE

To be determined
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020412 431 B ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

BEREFTHEBRE )

2.1 RBEEEE)

(d) New and amended standards not yet adopted (d) [HREABHETRAEIEETE R
(continued) (%)
Management does not anticipate any significant BB ALl
impact on the Company’s financial positions A - BB LR RREABEI AT

and results of operations upon adopting the
above new standards, amendments to existing

standards and interpretations.

2.2 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured

SHARNRE 2B BIRN RAEE R
RELTMNERTE -

22 MEBATE

MEAREAEEEGEHIENAAE

entities) over which the Group has control. The Group ER(REELEBEER) SsAXAEEK
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or LT RS AYERS & n] # [0 5
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with H’]J—Lﬂngz;ﬁT*;’“@#&E’]%ﬂ =
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns BENEBEHEE TN TERTE
through its power to direct the activities of the entity. u% O REF - AIAREBIEHIZES -

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to

MEARNENEEEEAKEE
EEEAE AR  ER&IEEGES
HETBERA AR -

m

AEBFERRBEEREBAHA

account for business combinations by the Group (refer R(FE2HME23) -

to Note 2.3).

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised

SEARARRS - BHREEEAR

gains on transactions between group companies are AR G REBR IR FWEE -

eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless ABEEBRITSEY  EZX5EF
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of BRNDEEEEDRBAERRI
the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries WM AT REEEEaEERE
have been changed where necessary to ensure HAAE - DBERERNEBHRMANSE

consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

/T\

BB RARM T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2

2.3

Subsidiaries (continued)

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of financial position
respectively.

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for all business combinations, regardless of
whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary comprises the:

fair values of the assets transferred;

liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business;

equity interests issued by the Group;

fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement; and

fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net
identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020412 431 B ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Business combinations (continued)

BEREFTHEBRE )

23 EBEHH(E)

96

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

The excess of the
consideration transferred,

amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity, and

acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less
than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the
business acquired, the difference is recognised directly
in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration
is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date
of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which
a similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions. Contingent consideration is classified either
as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a
financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

g (e

R UL RE B B mh e (R ] SRR A4
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received

and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds

BEREFTHEBRE )

2.4 BYBIE®E

RHE 2

K e B Bz B AR -

BRI RHE A
i B B R B PN /BB 2

EFE(BREHE)NEE

the carrying amount in the consolidated financial AIE o
statements of the investee’s net assets including

goodwill.

2.5 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM").
The CODM consists of the executive directors of the

Company.

2.6 Foreign currency translation

(i)  Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (‘the functional
currency’). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in HKS, which is also the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.

Annual Report 2020 G

25 DEER

EENEME

BMARBMITESMEX °

26 MEBME

(i) WERZIEE

BITES
2B -

CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BI85 ik A R A &)

AR E T AR AR RE
AR - RABRERENHBEEREK
Ko MBARKEEARARBRENW

AIMZENREE -
AT &A%
M EEUEE AR - SN B B SR
ROKRERAEBBRKREQAZE
bR et
REER - ABHEREREETRE

B HARE

oy A E BEER
RE([ZBREREKE D REAN LR

TN AERM B TBLERERE

REBSEENBBY BRI
SIMIEE - TIAZERBEEES
FIEFELERIBENEE([TheE
BT E - sRE M BERETIM
DIV Z VNI )=

97



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SRe BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020412 431 B ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHHEME &)

POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued) 2.6 HNEBE(E)

(ii)  Transactions and balances (ii)

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates
are generally recognised in profit or loss. They
are deferred in equity if they relate to qualifying
cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment
hedges or are attributable to part of the net
investment in a foreign operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that
relate to borrowings are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, within finance costs.
All other foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income on a net
basis.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined. Translation differences on assets
and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as
part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets
such as equities classified as fair value through
other comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)

BEREFTHEBRE )

26 INEBE(E)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(iii) FE@E2 7]

(iii)  Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated
at the closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position;

income and expenses for each statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges
of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold or any borrowings forming part
of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or
loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

BINEHNFHER2INERE T —
B EH (A I B fRE
REENEHEBRNEE)  H
KEMBARIGIRIA T IER
BRERINEE
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FE ARRXZHAME
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—R T EEE R E
EPREME2EKEERA
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RERGERER  REFINE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020412 431 B ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment

BEREFTHEBRE )

2.7 YE - BERSZE

1 OO CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

All property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to profit or loss during the reporting period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate their cost, net of their residual
values, over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Solar power system 20 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Office equipment 5 years
Plant and machinery 3to 4 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
2.9).

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8

29

Goodwill

Goodwill is measured as described in Note 2.3. Goodwill
is not amortised but it is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and
is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for
the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is
made to those cash-generating units or groups of
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the business combination in which the goodwill
arose. The units or groups of units are identified at the
lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes, being the operating segments.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are
tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows
which are largely independent of the cash inflows from
other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020412 431 B ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets

(i)

(ii)

1 02 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

those to be measured subsequently at fair
value; and

those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income (“OCl"). For investments in
equity instruments that are not held for trading,
this will depend on whether the Group has
made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“"FVOC!").

The Group reclassifies debt investments when
and only when its business model for managing
those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the financial
assets have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership.

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)

BEREFTHEBRE )

210 RERHMERMEE(E)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

(iii) Measurement (iii) &rE

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL"), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at FVTPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit or
loss and presented in other losses together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

FVTPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVTPL is recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income and presented net

in the period in which it arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020412 431 B ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

2.1

2.12

1 04 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

(iv) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the
Group applies the simplified approach permitted
by HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime
losses to be recognised from initial recognition of
the assets, see Note 3.1(b) for further details.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position where the Group currently has a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Trade receivables, deposits and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade receivables, deposits
and other receivable is expected in one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer),
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12

2.13

2.14

2.15

Trade receivables, deposits and other receivables
(continued)

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they
are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade
and other receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. See Note 3.1(b) for a description of the
Group's impairment policies.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand and deposits held at call
with financial institutions and bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity (Note 25).

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Group prior to the end of
financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are
unsecured and are usually paid within the credit term.
Trade and other payables are presented as current
liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months
after the reporting period (or in the normal cycle of the
business if longer). They are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020412 431 B ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16

2.17

2.18

1 06 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between
the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over
the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated
statement of financial position when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of a financial liability that has been extinguished or
transferred to another party and the consideration paid,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and
to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject
to interpretation and considers whether it is probable
that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax
treatment. The Group measures its tax balances either
based on the most likely amount or the expected
value, depending on which method provides a better
prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of
the reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount
and tax bases of investments in foreign operations
where the Group is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle
on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020412 431 B ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

2.19

1 08 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

Deferred income tax (continued)

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or

loss, except to the extent that it relates to items

recognised in other comprehensive income or directly

in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in

other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits that are expected to be settled
wholly within 12 months after the end of the
period in which the employees render the related
service are recognised in respect of employees’
services up to the end of the reporting period
and are measured at the amounts expected to be
paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities
are presented as current employee benefit
obligations in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

The full-time employees of the Group are covered
by various government-sponsored pension
plans under which the employees are entitled
to a monthly pension based on certain formulas.
Contributions to these plans are expensed as
incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Employee benefits (continued)

(iii)  Bonus plans

(iv)

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses taking into account of the profit of
the Group. The Group recognises a provision
where contractually obliged or where there is
a past practice that has created a constructive
obligation.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group before
the normal retirement date, or when an employee
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for
these benefits. The Group recognises termination
benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a)
when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity
recognises costs for a restructuring that is within
the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment
of terminations benefits. In the case of an offer
made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on
the number of employees expected to accept
the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period are
discounted to present value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020412 431 B ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Provisions

2.21
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Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation and the amount can
be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for
future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the end
of the reporting period. The discount rate used to
determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase
in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised
as interest expense.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the sales of
goods or services in the ordinary course of the Group's
activities.

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation
to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the
Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group
is an agent).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition (continued)

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified goods
or services before that goods or services are transferred
to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is
to arrange for the provision of the specified goods or
services by another party. In this case, the Group does
not control the specified goods or services provided
by another party before that goods or services are
transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as
an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any
fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of
the goods or services is transferred to the customer.
Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods or
services may be transferred over time or at a point in
time.

Control of the goods or services is transferred over time
if the Group's performance:

provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020412 431 B ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition (continued)
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If control of the goods or services transfer over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue
is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the goods or services. Specific criteria
where revenue is recognised are described below.

When either party to a contract has performed, the
Group presents the contract in the consolidated
statement of financial position as a contract asset or
a contract liability, depending on the relationship
between the entity’s performance and the customer’s
payment.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group
has a right to an amount of consideration that is
unconditional, before the Group transfers a good
or service to the customer, the Group presents the
contract as a contract liability when the payment is
made or a receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier).
A contract liability is the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration
is due) from the customer.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an
unconditional right to consideration. A right to
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of
time is requited before payment of that consideration is
due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition (continued)

(i)

Construction services

The Group provides construction services
under contracts with customers and may take
several years to complete the construction.
Such contracts are fixed-price contracts entered
into before the services begin except for
any variable orders or contact modification.
Under the terms of the contracts, the Group is
contractually required to perform the services
at the customers’ specified sites that creates or
enhance an asset that the customer controls as
the Group performs. Revenue from provision of
construction services is therefore recognised over
time for each individual contract by using output
method, i.e. on the basis of measurement of the
value of services transferred to the customer to
date. The measurement is based on surveys of
construction services completed by the Group to
date as certified by architects, surveyors or other
representatives appointed by the customers
and adjusted by the estimated value of work
performed but which is yet to be certified at each
of the reporting date. Management considers
that output method would faithfully depict the
Group's performance towards satisfaction of
performance obligation under HKFRS 15.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration
(variation order of construction work), the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it
will be entitled using the most likely amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020412 431 B ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition (continued)

(i)

1 1 4 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

Construction services (continued)

Variable consideration (continued)

The estimated amount of variable consideration
is included in the transaction price only to the
extent that is highly probable that such an
inclusion will not result in a significant revenue
reversal in the future when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When there is change in circumstances, the
Group updates the estimated transaction price
(including updating its assessment of whether an
estimate of variable consideration is constrained)
to better predict the circumstances present at the
end of the reporting period and the changes in
circumstances during the reporting period.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised amount of consideration
for the effects of the time value of money if the
timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or
implicitly) provides the customers or the Group
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of services to customer. In those circumstances,
the contract contains a significant financing
component. A significant financing component
may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or
implied by the payment terms agreed by the
parties of the contracts.

Notwithstanding the above, a contract does
not have a significant financing component in
circumstances where payments are in accordance
with the typical payment terms of the relevant
industry, which has a primary purpose other than
financing.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A BTSRRI T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition (continued)

(i)

Construction services (continued)

Warranty

For warranty embedded to the construction
contracts, the Group accounts for the warranty in
accordance with HKAS 37, “Provision, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets” as the warranty
provides the customer with assurance that the
contracting work complies with the agreed-upon
specifications.

Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its
construction contracts. The Group first assesses
whether these costs qualify for recognition as an
asset in terms of other relevant standards, failing
which it recognises an asset for these costs only if
they meet all of the following criteria:

(@)  the costs relate directly to a contract or to
an anticipated contract that the Group can
specifically identify;

(b)  the costs generate or enhance resources
of the Group that will be used in satisfying
(or in continuing to satisfy) performance
obligations in the future; and

(c)  the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently
amortised on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods
or services to which the assets relate. The asset is
subject to impairment review.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T A BTSRRI ET

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020412 431 B ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition (continued)

(i)

1 1 6 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

Construction services (continued)
Contract assets and contract liabilities

In accordance with the terms of the contracts
entered into with customers, the Group is
required to submit to customers monthly
payment applications for the value of work done
under the contracts along with any variation
orders performed. Customers will settle normally
from 0 to 60 days after certifying our monthly
payment applications based on their assessment
of work done by the Group. Customers usually
retain an amount up to 10% of the contract
value as retention money for the contract. The
terms and conditions in relation to the release
of retention vary from contract to contract and
the retention period generally ranged from six to
twelve months.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration from customers in exchange for
the provision of construction services that the
Group has transferred to the customers that is
not yet unconditional. Contract assets arise when
the Group has provided the construction services
under the relevant contracts but the works have
yet to be certified by architects, surveyors or other
representatives appointed by the customers and/
or the Group's right to payment is still conditional
on factors other than passage of time. Any
amount previously recognised as a contract asset
is reclassified to trade receivables at the point
when the Group’s right to payment becomes
unconditional other than passage of time, i.e. the
point when the Group receive the certificate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB RARM T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

/T\

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Construction services (continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (continued)

The Group may require a deposit before the
commencement of the contracts. This would
give rise to contract liabilities as it represents
the Group's obligation to transfer the aforesaid
services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

E-commerce-related service

The Group provides services to facilitate upstream
suppliers to sell goods to end customer through
an online platform operated by an independent
third party ("E-commerce-related services”). The
Group does not control specific goods prior to
the purchase by the end customer. Therefore, the
Group is acting as an agent in the transactions.

Revenue from the E-commerce-related services
is recognised at a point in time when the
transactions through the online platform is
completed or when the provision of the related
service is completed. The Group records the
net amount that it retains from such completed
transaction as revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020412 431 B ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

1 1 8 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

Building information modelling service

The Group provides business building information
modelling services under fixed-price contracts.
Revenue from providing services is recognised
based on the actual service provided to the end of
the reporting period as a proportion of the total
services to be provided because the customer
receives and uses the benefits simultaneously.
The revenue is determined based on the
proportion of the actual costs incurred relative
to the estimated total costs for satisfaction of the
service.

The customer pays the fixed amount based on
the contract terms. If the services rendered by the
Group exceed the payment, a contract asset is
recognised. If the payments exceed the services
rendered, a contract liability is recognised.

Sales of piles

Revenue from the sales of piles are recognised
at a point in time when the control of goods has
transferred, being when the goods have been
shipped to the customers’ specific location.

A receivable is recognised by the Group when
the goods are delivered to the customers as this
represents the Group's right to consideration
becomes unconditional, as only the passage of
time is required before payment is due.

The customers have neither rights of return
nor rights to defer or avoid payment for the
goods once they are accepted by the customers
upon receipt of goods. The contracts signed
with customers are short-term and fixed price
contracts. The normal credit term is 7 days upon
delivery.

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A BTSRRI T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22

2.23

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because
it is not probable that outflow of economic resources
will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be
measured reliably.

Earnings per share
(i)  Basicearnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

the profit attributable to equity owners
of the Company, excluding any costs of
servicing equity other than ordinary shares;
and

by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the
financial year, adjusted for bonus elements
in ordinary shares issued during the year
and excluding treasury shares.

(i)  Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures
used in the determination of basic earnings per
share to take into account:

the after-income tax effect of interest
and other financing costs associated with
dilutive potential ordinary shares; and

the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020412 431 B ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Leases
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Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to the lease and non-lease components
based on their relative stand-alone prices. However,
for leases of real estate for which the Group is a lessee,
it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease
components and instead accounts for these as a single
lease component.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
other than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payment that are based on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the group
under residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising that
option.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Leases (continued)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in
the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is
used, being the rate that the individual lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was
received;

uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-
free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases
held by the Group, which does not have recent
third-party financing; and

makes adjustments specific to the lease, such as
term, country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available
to the individual lessee (through recent financing or
market data) which has a similar payment profile to the
lease, then the group entities use that rate as a starting
point to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020412 431 B ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

any initial direct costs; and
restoration costs

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset
is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.
While the Group revalues its land and buildings that are
presented within property, plant and equipment, it has
chosen not to do so for the right-of-use buildings held
by the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases of
equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value
assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less.

Rental income from operating leases where the Group
is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line
basis over the lease term except when an alternative
basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits
to be derived from the use of the leased assets. Initial
direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset
and recognised as expense over the lease term on the
same basis as lease income. The respective leased assets
are included in the consolidated statement of financial
position based on their nature.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24

2.25

2.26

2.27

Leases (continued)

Rental income derived from the lease of solar power
system within renewable energy business are presented
as revenue.

Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend
declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer
at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of
the reporting period but not distributed at the end of
the reporting period.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they are
intended to compensate.

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVTPL is
included in the net fair value gains/(losses) on these
assets. Any other interest income is included in other
income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently
become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets the effective interest rate is applied to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction
of the loss allowance).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020412 431 B ILEE

3.

1 24 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

This note explains the Group’s exposure to financial
risks and how these risks could affect the Group’s
future financial performance. Current year profit or loss
information has been included where relevant to add
further context.

The Group's financial instruments include financial
asset at FVTPL, trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, cash and bank balances and pledged
bank deposits, trade and other payables, amount
due to immediate holding company, lease liabilities,
borrowings and bank overdrafts.

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in Note 20. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (interest rate risk and
foreign currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

There has been no change to the types of the Group's
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the
manner in which it manages and measures the risks.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group has no significant exposure to
foreign currency risk as substantially all of
the Group's transactions are denominated
in HKS, United States dollars ("USS") or
the Group entity’s respective functional
currency.

As the HKS is pegged to the USS, the
Group considers the risk of movements in
exchange rates between the HKS and the
USS to be insignificant.

In addition, the subsidiaries with functional
currency as Renminbi ("RMB”) have intra-
group liabilities that are denominated in
HKS, the exposure to RMB exchange rates
fluctuation is also expected to be not
significant. Sensitivity analysis is therefore
not presented.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(if)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair
value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Group
is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to lease liabilities. The Group is
also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank balances
and pledged bank deposit and variable-rate
borrowings and bank overdrafts.

The Group has not used financial derivatives
to hedge against the interest rate risk.
However, from time to time, if interest
rate fluctuates significantly, appropriate
measures would be taken to manage
interest risk exposure. The interest rates
and terms of repayment of interest-bearing
borrowings of the Group are disclosed in
Note 28 to these consolidated financial
statements.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2020, it is estimated that a
general increase/decrease of 50 basis points
in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, would have increased/decreased
the Group's loss after tax by approximately
HK$320,000 (2019: HK$223,000), in response
to the general increase/decrease in interest
rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the end of the
reporting period and had been applied to
the exposure to interest rate risk for non-
derivative financial instruments in existence
at that date. There has been no change
on the basis in preparing the sensitivity
analysis.
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3.

1 26 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk

(i)

Risk management

Credit risk is managed on a group basis.
The credit risk of the Group mainly arises
from financial asset at FVTPL, cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, contract
assets, deposit and other receivables.
The carrying amounts of these balances
represent the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk in relation to these assets.

To manage the credit arising from cash held
at banks, the Group only makes transactions
with reputable international banks and
financial institutions. There has been no
recent history of default in relation to these
banks and financial institutions.

To manage the risk arising from trade
receivable and contract assets, the Group
has policies in place for credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts.

The Group has concentration of credit risk
of trade receivables and contract assets as
24% and 61% (2019: 39% and 71%) of the
total gross trade receivables and contract
assets was due from the Group's largest
amount debtor and top five largest debtors
respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

m

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Risk management (continued)

To manage the risk arising from other
receivables, the Group makes periodic
collective assessments as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical settlement
records and past experience.

Impairment of financial assets

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measure expected credit losses
("ECL") which uses a lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables
and contract assets have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due. The contract assets
relate to uncertified work in progress
and retention receivables, which have
substantially the same risk characteristics as
the trade receivables for the same contracts.
Management therefore concluded that the
expected loss rates for trade receivables are
a reasonable approximation of the loss rates
for the contract assets.
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3.

1 28 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(continued)

Non-credit-impaired trade receivables and
contract assets

For non-credit-impaired trade receivables
and contract assets, management has
assessed the ECL based on the customers’
past history of making payments when due
and current ability to pay, the payment
profiles of revenue and the corresponding
historical credit losses experienced.
Management also considered forward-
looking information such as unemployment
rate or gross domestic product that may
impact the customer’s ability to repay the
outstanding balances.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Creditrisk (continued)

(i)

3. BXRBREER®

3.1 BiIBERBEE(E)
(b) 1=ERERRE)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) (i) EEEEREE)
Trade receivables and contract assets BSRBAERGHNEE
(continued) (#&)
Non-credit-impaired trade receivables and MECERENE S EW
contract assets (continued) HENEBHNEEE)
The loss allowance as at 31 December 2020 BSRBAERGHNEE
was determined as follows for both trade MR2020F 12 A31 B EIE
receivables and contract assets: BiEEELT -
Within ~ Morethan ~ Morethan ~ More than
30 days 30days 60 days 90 days
Current past due past due past due past due Total
k] k] k] k]
31 December 2020 2020E12A318 M8 T##nR  ##0R  BBeA  BByA a3t
Trade receivables EAEWSE
Gross carrying amount (HKS'000)  BREAE(FAT) 14,627 2813 10,888 - 1,139 29,467
Loss allowiance (HKS000) BBRAE(TET) - - - - 12 12
Weight average expected loss rate JIEFSRAFER 0% 0% 0% 0% 1.05%
Contract assets ANEE
Gross camying amount (HKS000)  SREAE(TET) 173,658 - - - - 173,658
Loss allowance (HK$'000) EEEE(TAT) 1916 = = - = 1,916
Weight average expected loss rate JIE T EEIER 1.10% 0% 0% 0% 0%

As at 31 December 2019, the loss
allowance of approximately HK$487,000
and HK$2,533,000 were recognised for
non-credit-impaired trade receivables and
contract assets respectively based on the
ECL rates ranged from 1% to 4% applied on
different groupings.

M2019% 128318 @ B
RoMBEERMESEE
BEENT1%E4% ©
EEERENE SRR
Iﬁ&é%@ﬁ%z | 7 SR8
18 B 15 #9 487,000 78 7T &
2,533,000/ 7T ©
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3.

1 30 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(continued)

Credit impaired trade receivables and
contract assets

For credit impaired trade receivables and
contract assets, the Group determined
there are 16 (2019: 12) credit impaired
balances and has measured the ECL as the
difference between the respective gross
carrying amount at the end of reporting
period and the respective present value
of estimated future cash flows discounted
at the original effective interest rate. As
at 31 December 2020, the reversal of loss
allowances of approximately HK$65,647,000
and loss allowances of approximately
HKS$16,401,000 (2019: loss allowances
of approximately HK$65,647,000 and
HK$22,425,000) were recognised for credit-
impaired trade receivables and contract
assets respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3.

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Creditrisk (continued)

(i)

EEMEREE)

3.1 BBEBRERGE)

(b) FEmEEE)

Impairment of financial assets (continued) (i) EEEEREE)
Trade receivables and contract assets BB REBERANEE
(continued) (#&)
The following tables show the movements TREIE 5 EWFHIE R
in impairment losses for trade receivables EREEREEE 2 #E) -
and contract assets:
Non-credit- Credit-
impaired impaired Total
BEEERE EERE @gt
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FHT FAT FAT
Movements in the net impairment & 5 FEM FIE R (&
losses for trade receivables EiEFEE
At 1 January 2019 R2019F181H 145 - 145
Transfer to credit-impaired BREEERE (128) 128 -
Increase in impairment losses FARBREERE
recognised in profit or loss EEEL N
during the year 487 65,519 66,006
Reversal of previous FRTRERERER
impairment losses (17 - (17)
At 31 December 2019 R2019%F12831H 487 65,647 66,134
Decrease in loss allowance FARERERD
recognised in profit or loss BERER D
during the year (451) - (451)
Reversal of previous SRR EEERER
impairment losses (24) (65,647) (65,671)
At 31 December 2020 M2020F12A318 12 - 12
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3.

1 32 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3.

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

BRI )

31 MBERERE)

Credit risk (continued) (b) EEREEE)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (continued) (i) EEEREE)
Trade receivables and contract assets BSRBAEREGHNEE
(continued) (%)
Non-credit- Credit-
impaired impaired Total
BEEERHE EERE @t
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FET FHET
Movements in the net impairment & #)& E R B E1E
losses for contract assets TRER B
At 1 January 2019 20191818 2,650 - 2,650
Transfer to credit-impaired BREEEERE (1,810) 1810 -
Increase in impairment losses FRRIERERR
recognised in profit or loss HEEEIEM
during the year 1,789 20,615 22,404
Reversal of previous TRREEERE
impairment losses (96) - (96)
At 31 December 2019 720195 12H31H 2,533 22,425 24,958
Increase in loss allowance FARBRERH
recognised in profit or loss BRI
during the year 1,240 52,943 54,183
Exchange difference fERER 115 = 115
Reversal of previous ERIREEERE
impairment losses (1,972) (18,243) (20,215)
At 31 December 2020 12020128318 1,916 57,125 59,041
Trade receivables and contract assets are BoEKNRENENEE

written off where there is no reasonable

expectation of recovery. Indicators that

there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery include, amongst others, the
failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment
plan with the Group, and a failure to make

contractual payments.
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(continued)

Impairment losses on trade receivables
and contract assets are presented as
net impairment losses within operating
profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against
the same line item.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

The Group considers the credit risk of other
receivables is insignificant when they have
a low risk of default and the issuer has a
strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term,
and the impairment losses recognised is
therefore limited to 12 months ECL. In view
of insignificant risk of default and credit
risk since initial recognition, the ECL under
the 12 months expected losses method is
considered to be insignificant.

While cash and cash equivalents are also
subject to the impairment requirements of
HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was
insignificant.
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3.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

3. BXRBREER®

Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BIEBEER(E)
(c) Liquidity risk (c) mEBELEE
Individual subsidiaries within the Group are AREBNWERMNEBAREE R
responsible for their own cash management, SRS ER  BREESERI
including the raising of loans to cover the FETEERRIR & F 5k o AEEFE
expected cash demands. The Group’s policy is to FEBUR - EHERRRLRIEHN
regularly monitor current and expected liquidity REESERNHEHERZHH
requirements and its compliance with lending BTIER  NERAEBEETT
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient THRSHEERETE S REE
reserves of cash and adequate committed AHRTTHREREE - UmEH
funding lines from major financial institutions to CEHERAREESE K -
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.
The following table details the remaining TRFAVAEBECREBERRE
contractual maturities at the end of the reporting HJHEE’JTJ?% S4B HE R - ThE
period of the Group's financial liabilities, which AEH KRR E S RE(BRIENA
are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows BRI ER (WA FEFE) R
(including interest payments computed using EHRNBITHRAFENF SN
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates FORAEER AL NNHEFER
current at the end of the reporting period) and HA o
the earliest date the Group can be required to
pay.
Weighted ~ Ondemand ~ Between1  Between2 Total
average or within and and contractual Carrying
interest rate 1year 2 years Syears Over5years  cashflows amount
Contractual maturities of ~ SRHEEAH i EZX Cribk
financial iabilities HEHER THNE  GR-FR -ERE WMERE RENE REEE HEfE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Thr ThT ThL ThT Th7r
2020 20205
Non-derivative financial ~ ${TA2REE
liabilities
Trade and other payables B3 RE fER
E - 97,502 6,169 - - 103,671 103,671
Amount due to the immediate JE EEERAT
holding company B - 4,581 - - - 4,581 4,581
Lease liablities HERR 513 7,062 2,077 3,446 426 13,01 11,876
Borrowings and BRRETEL
bank overdrafts 5.59 63,414 9,523 - - 72,937 69,078
172,559 17,769 3,446 426 194,200 189,206
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. IKEMEREZ)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HBEABREEE)
(c)  Liquidity risk (continued) (c) REBELERE)
Weighted ~ Ondemand ~ Between| Between 2 Total
average or within and and contractual Camnying
interest rate 1 year 2 years Syears  OverSyears  cashflows amount
Contractual maturitiesof ~ £EBEAH g EEY ahRe
financial liabilties SiER TaRE  FR-FR -EZRE WERE RENME RERE HHE

%o HKS00  HKY000  HKSO0D  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSO00
T TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL

2019 20195
Non-derivative financial ~ ${T4 2 REE
liabilities
Trade and other payables B35 RE foER
Fie| - 112639 2182 - - 114821 114821
Amount due to the immediate ER E IR AT
holding company IE - 17,847 - - - 17847 17847
Lease liabilities fEEE 513 8,273 5378 2,866 1,03 17,720 17,086
Borrowings and BRRBIER
bank overdrafts 459 88,689 - - - 88,689 85,652
207448 7,560 2,866 1,203 239077 235400
Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand MAERER(E SR HIRITIRE
clause are included in the “on demand or within 1 B A B B AT [FEESK
year” time band in the above maturity analysis. SR —ER R -
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. BMBREBRER®)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HEEABREEE)
(c)  Liquidity risk (continued) (c) REBELERE)
As at 31 December 2020, the aggregate 2020812 A318 © ZER1T7E
carrying amounts of these bank borrowings THBR B #5849 /543,110,000
were approximately HK$43,110,000 (2019: TL(20194F 168,629,000 7T) ° &
HK$68,629,000). Taking into account the Group's BRAREENPTBERL  BEEE
financial position, management does not believe RARIT AR e T LB IH 1
that it is probable that the banks will exercise TR BER - BEERERE - #Z
their discretionary rights to demand immediate FRITERBRME KRB IZR
repayment. Management believes that such EXmERERIEEEREHE
bank borrowings will be repaid after the end B SHEENIN T -
of the reporting period in accordance with the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements, details of which are set out in the
table below.
Between1  Between 2 Total
Within and and Over contractual Carrying
1year 2 years 5 years 5years  cash flows amount
EHEE
- -ZRE WELE HENLE RELE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THEL THEL TET TET
2020 20204 34,887 2,231 6,692 930 44,740 43,110
2019 20196 58,730 2,231 6,693 3,160 70,814 68,629
3.2 Capital risk management 32 EXRREBER

The Group's primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern in order to fund its business,
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

1 36 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. BMBREBEE®)
3.2 Capital risk management (continued) 32 EXEKBER(E)
The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, REEMEAREOREES FE(BE
which includes the borrowings disclosed in Note 28 MIsE28 Tk BB M B s R sk 17 P i B8
and lease liabilities disclosed in Note 17, net of cash and WHEEE)  MBRIRE MIBITESRIA
bank balances and equity attributable to owners of the RARNFHRE NELER(BERER
Company, comprising share capital and reserves. ) -
The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages AEBBEGT BT AEREEER
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the 200 NERSEEKFETRES KK
higher shareholder returns that might be possible with = B 3R o] 3R B AR 2 B AN AR O BT A AR Y
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and 1 B RIRE 2 HEG T & - 3 FE EL
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes ERRO R B S AR RBIEE A -
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes
in economic conditions.
The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of REERCRAEEE FHEERRL X
an adjusted net debt-to-equity ratio. For this purpose, ERHEAARREE - M E - KLHAE
adjusted net debt is defined as total debt (which BEFEDNRTEAESRB(BIETE
includes interest bearing loans and borrowings, and f?ﬁi&fﬁ*ﬁ%&fﬂfﬁﬁﬁ)ﬂfﬁi&fﬁ
lease liabilities) less cash and bank balances. Total equity THH  EEEBEeEARFEEA
comprises all components of equity attributable to f{E*é mM T BT D - EIFFERE
owners of the Company. The net debt to equity ratio S ENT
was as follows:
2020 2019
2020 2019%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FH&T
Borrowings and bank overdrafts B MIETE 69,078 85,652
Lease liabilities HEaRE 11,876 17,086
Amount due to immediate holding R BB A RIFUR
company 4,581 17,847
Less: Cash and bank balance B IBe MIRTTERS (33,694) (1,283)
Pledged bank deposits BERITFR - (40,060)
Net debt BET% 55 51,841 79,242
Total equity L 295,584 234,229
Net debt to equity ratio EEaE-CRap Sadnaed 18% 34%
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3.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2

3.3

Capital risk management (continued)

During the year, the Group's strategy was to maintain
the adjusted net debt-to-equity ratio at a reasonable
level, not exceeding 50% (2019: same). In order to
maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new
shares, raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce
debt.

The Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (the “Government”) requires contractors on
the list of approved contractors for public works (the
“List”) to maintain certain minimum working capital
as the Government may from time to time determine
(the “Required Minimum Working Capital”). A subsidiary
of the Company is subject to the Required Minimum
Working Capital as the subsidiary is a contractor on
the List. Except for this, neither the Company nor its
subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.

Fair value estimation

This section explains the judgements and estimates
made in determining the fair values of the financial
instruments that are recognised and measured at fair
value in the consolidated financial statements. To
provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs
used in determining fair value, the Group has classified
its financial instruments into the three levels prescribed
under the accounting standards. An explanation of each
level follows underneath the table.

3.

BRI )

3.2

33

EXREBREE(E)

TR RNEBRIA K A E A
B FHEEEELRERTAEEK
o BN ERIES50% (20194 « MAME]) ©
BEFRNABRZLE  NEBEA R
BENTERENRESE  B1THK
m ERTHEBEBRERLEEEMN
A ERS ©

FRRITIRE BT (T ) Bk
ZHRBAAXTEAZERM A
1) B R 7 4 55 PR RO IS B R TE Y
ETREZEEN([HEREZESR
AK]) o RAR —FEME AR EE M
EmEEEmMREEREEEEALM
MR o BRULLASN - ARBIREMB A
A ZINER I AN B AR TE FIARAR

ATELEH

REHRARBETCHFREVBRERFIEA
FEERETENERIAENATE
FREPTYER) HI B R fh 5T - BIERETER
FEMABHNEASBENAIEREE @ K
SEREBEgHENMIBEEERTA
DEAE-FEELR - SHMHBUWTE
PR »
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3

3. BXRBREER®

Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 AFEMG(E)
Recurring fair value measurements BEMRFETE
Level 3
F=4
Notes HK$'000
5 FHET
At 31 December 2020 720205128311
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial asset at FVTPL BAFEFAEENEREE 18 22,227
At 31 December 2019 #2019%12H31H
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial asset at FVTPL BRAFEFAEENEREE 18 23,016

There were no transfers between levels 1, level 2 and FA
level 3 for recurring fair value measurements during the
year.
Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded E—
in active markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, and equity securities) is based
on quoted market prices at the end of the
reporting period. The quoted market price
used for financial assets held by the Group is
the current bid price. These instruments are
included in level 1.
Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are F4R

not traded in an active market (for example,
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined
using valuation techniques which maximise
the use of observable market data and rely as
little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If
all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in level 2.

KREMRATEFES R F

TREE =R B -

EEBMEEENTRTA
(MAFEEMETARK
REZ)ORFERREH
ROTEHREET - A5E
P £ BUE E P A M T 45
EBRAEEAEB ZFIA
FEASE -

P REERMSEENERT

A (FlanssTE T E)NA
FERBHEEIEAET - %
EHEHEHERREHFIA
AERMSEE - [UER
DY BB EGAMKE -
MstEEB I EM A FER
ENAERBARES B
AEREE - AZIAEA
FER o
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continved) 3. BITERMEE &)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 AFEME(E)

Recurring fair value measurements (continued) BEMLFEFTE(E)

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is F= W IEZIEENE AZR
not based on observable market data, the W IEE R AT R T 5% 8% -
instrument is included in level 3. This is the AIZTAEGTAE =4 - thiE
case for unlisted equity securities. ARIE ETIRARZE 5 »

The valuation techniques used for fair value AUAHESEF=he@ T AN A FE

measurement of level 3 financial instrument is ENHERMARSRLBESNT - F

discounted cash flow analysis. There are no changes in A B (B T S 3 A S o

valuation techniques during the year.

The following table presents the changes in level 3 TREJNE=HEENFTRNED :

items for the year:

HK$'000
FA&TT

Opening balance 1 January 2019 R20195F1 81 A ERFI &8k -

Addition NE 22,656

Fair value gains N EMRE 360"

Closing balance 31 December 2019 7201912831 HWHIR &R 23,016

Fair value losses NHEBE (789)"

Closing balance 31 December 2019 7201912831 HWHIR &R 22,227

1 40 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

Key unobservable inputs used include expected
cashflows, discount rates and discretionary return
estimated by the issuer. The higher the expected
cashflows or discretionary return estimated by the
issuer, the higher the fair value. The higher the discount
rates, the lower the fair value.

# Fair value losses of HK$789,000 (2019: fair value gain of
HK$360,000) was recognized for asses held at end of
reporting period.

FERNEETAERBABERRE
BHRERE MR ERBITAMG
Atz - BB RENETT
AFrfhst 2z BBRERS - A FEY
= BRREMS - A TFEBE -

# RIBERR  BEEEBRAQFE
E518789,000% 7T (20194F : R F(HIUK
#5360,00087T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires
the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will
seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs
to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s accounting
policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact
on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

(a) Revenue from construction contracts

Management measures the value of completed
construction work based on output method, which
is to recognise revenue on the basis of measurement
of the value of services transferred to the customers.
Management’s estimate of the progress of construction
works requires significant judgement and has a
significant impact on the amount and timing of revenue
recognised.

Management has periodically measured the value of
the construction work completed for each construction
project based on certification performed by architects,
surveyors or other representatives appointed by the
customers and estimated the value of work which is
completed but yet to be certified at each of the end
of reporting period. Management estimated the value
of work which is completed but yet to be certified
based on surveys carried out by internal technicians
or external expert, and revisited with reference to
certification subsequently performed by architects,
surveyors or other representatives appointed by
the customers or confirmations received from the
customers. The Group regularly reviews and revises
the estimation of construction contract progresses
whenever there is any change in circumstances. As at 31
December 2020, the value of work which is completed
but yet to be certified was disclosed in Note 22.

4.

B 5T 2 1

REUR AP MERBER GG RIBE
& ZEHARIENERER - BEET
FHREAAREES A BEREL 2 -

et R F B R ERE - RTVERE L &5
REMEE  BREAREZERERUEE
EEREHBRTRASBEIE 2 ARREM
ZTAH -

(a) REERESHNWEH

EEEBREBEEEXLTECTHRERT
BHEE DEAREERTEPOR
BEEN ERBUREE - EEE M
EETRENEEZRSEHFELERNHE

WHERWEN SR MREBEEAY
@,

EEBANREPZIMEEM A2
sk EfREEEMNFRATEHFES
BEIEE O EKEETEMER
WEFTRSREARDTHMER KRR
FRIREMER EEEERBANES
RMMABRINSERETHAE - &
KR2EZP LM EERM - B 2Rk
HiREKREEDAENERAMENER
AEXARPEENER - REFE
nﬁﬁz HEHARENTIENEE - — 2
ERFEEMES  ANEBESTFHR
FRIEETHEEAGNERNME - B
20205128318 - BEAE R RRE
MITRENEEREERHE2 -
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4. CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

(b)

(c)

1 42 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets

The loss allowances for trade receivables and contract
assets are based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. Management uses judgement
in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs
to the calculation of expected credit losses, based on
the Group's past history and existing market conditions
as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and
inputs used are disclosed in Note 3.1(b).

Impairment of goodwill

Management tests whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment on an annual basis. The recoverable amount
of cash-generating units ("“CGUs") was determined
based on value-in-use calculations which require the
use of assumptions. The calculations use cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period. Cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using
the estimated growth rates stated in Note 19. No
impairment is recognised during the year (2019: same).
Details of the recoverable amount calculations are
disclosed in Note 19.

4.

BRMAT R E 2

(b)

(c)

ESRURIEREGNEENRE

BIEBGRERGNEEFEBRETD
ERNEEENRRLBBHEBEEERNR
BAEL - REWMERK - EEERE
REERBERSE RIRETR & AIE
M BBRAEELZERERE
ErERBEEEENEAZUE - T
%mixﬁ &%A%ﬁZﬁlﬁﬁ
PBIEE3.1(

AR E
ERESFRASABERST HREMR

B REELEM([ReELEM])
WEkEeRIENEREETEE

*'%¢ﬁxL%F“ EHEER

@E%ﬁ@%ﬂi%%%%%ﬁﬁﬁ
H e AFHEzENRERENE
RMTFFE 19T IS REHESH -
F N8R R ERDBE (20194F - 48
@) o AT [E & BB R 5T H AT B IR R R M
FF19 0
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5. REVENUE 5. W
An analysis of the Group'’s revenue for the year is as follows: NEBERNKZIZODTAOT -
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#ET FH&TT
Revenue from construction contracts RERES LK
- foundation works and ancillary services — — b FZE T2 M A E R 114,786 143,548
- general building works ——RREETRE 9,579 63,743
— renewable energy systems — A BAERREB L 121,723 36,086
E-commerce-related services BB RIS 2,960 -
Building information modelling services i {z B AR A AR 1,189 -
250,237 243,377
Sales of piles SHE BT - 2,857
Revenue from contracts with customers B &S A #W 250,237 246,234
Rental income HEWA 652 646
250,889 246,880
Other than e-commerce-related services and sales of piles bR MR R AR 7% K S B A I — R R B R
which were recognised at a point in time, all the Group'’s RN - REEEREEP & H R BER
revenue from contracts with customers were recognised over MR o
time.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses by business lines in
a manner consistent with the way in which information
is reported internally to the CODM, for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment. The Group's
reportable and operating segments are as follows:

1. Building construction business: provision of foundation
works and ancillary services and general building works
to customers in Hong Kong and Saipan

2. Renewable energy business: provision of construction
service of renewable energy systems (e.g. solar power
systems and wind power systems) and rental income
from lease of solar power system in the People Republic
of China (the "PRC")

3. E-commerce business: provision of online merchant-
related service in the PRC

4. Others: building information modelling service in the
PRC and sales of piles to customers in Hong Kong

Segment results represent the loss before income tax from
each segment except for the unallocated corporate expenses.

Segment assets include all current and non-current assets
with the exception of deferred tax assets, financial assets
and other corporate assets. Segment liabilities include all
current and non-current liabilities with the exception of other
corporate liabilities.

7 ERE R

AEBILRERBREBEER  FRAELAEER
REANSEERMIERAMBEZLER
RENBMEER AR - REBHAT 2
WAREE DT

L ERIRER: ABEREBUEPR
HETEREERBA L —REE
Ti2

2. FBAERRER: RPEARLME

(FEPIJ)E’JTﬁiA“ﬁ% Euh (K5

LB B N A BB IRHIZERY
&%ﬁ%?&ﬁmﬁéﬁiﬁﬂﬁﬁi%)\

MERER

4. Hfp: AP BRREHZSEESELRE

RESEP HEBE
HBEEREESBRAEBAEE - T
EADEAANE -

NESEEBIEMERBMIERBEE - T
PREREERIBELEE  REEREMATE
E - nHBEBREMBERSLIEREBE -
ETBREEMARIEE -
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as

DEER (#)

RERNNERD B R BBRBF ML T

provided to CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and TERQERAFENNER T 2HH IERT
assessment of segment performance for the year is set out U
below:
Building  Renewable
construction energy  E-commerce
business business business Other  Unallocated Total
BEIR THE ETHEK
% EREE % Hif RAR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
THET THERT THT TER TET THT
For the year ended 31 December 2020 EZ2020F 128318
LEE
Segment revenue AEE 124,365 122,375 2,960 1,189 - 250,889
Segment (loss)/profit ABER)/ & (25,522) 632 344 (2,508) (28,006) (55,060)
Income tax expense FEHEY (1,104)
Loss for the year FEBR (56,164)
Other information (included in HER(GIALH
measure of segment profit/(loss) %%,/ (E18):B)
For the year ended 31 December 2020 EZ2020%12831H
LEE
Interest expenses FERR 4373 269 = 4 540 5,224
Depreciation for the year ﬁ M?E 1,800 2,896 - 316 1,801 6,813
Net impairment losses on financial and ANEERE
contract assets JEST ek (33,130) 977 - - = (32,153)
Interest income FIS WA 16 13 - - - 29
Gain on disposal of property, plantand  HENE * BER
equipment Bl 1,650 - - - - 1,650
Additions to non-current MERBIDEE
segment assets* NE* 389 = = 1,113 1,605 3,107

Annual Report 2020 &%  CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIFE# (BT % ) 15 B B R 2 &) 1 45



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020412 431 B ILEE

1 46 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

Annual Report 2020 %3

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEER®)
Building Renewable
construction energy
business business Others  Unallocated Total
BETRE QEL:
£% EREH Efh ROE Eh
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT T T THT
For the year ended 31 December 2019 Z2019F12R31ALLEE
Segment revenue A 207,291 36,732 2857 - 246,830
Segment (loss)/profit AH(ER)/ R (91413) 29 (820) (17,364) (109368)
Income tax credit FEHES 1230
Loss for the year FEER (108,138)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZ2019F12B31ALEE
Interest expenses RS 4110 597 - 9% 4805
Depreciation for the year ERHE 4144 2485 - 1,15 7785
Net impairment losses on financial and PRRANEENE
contract assets BiETE 88,297 - - - 88,297
Impairment losses of right-of-use assets ERESEREEE 1123 - - - 1123
Interest income =T O 580 3 - - 583
Gain on disposal of property, LEWE - BERREN
plant and equipment Wiz 500 - - - 500
Additions to non-current segment assets* FFERBAHEERE" 3,268 7859 - 3,754 14,881
* Other than financial assets and deferred tax asset * S RbE E KRR IR E ER I
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEHER (=)
Segment assets and liabilities THEERAEE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities THAEEIZA 2RO IBE D AEBEE R
by reportable segments: BENIT
2020 2019
20205 2019%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FH&T
Segment assets DEEE
Building construction business EE TR 379,478 465,581
Renewable energy business AT A EERET 147,543 69,565
E-commerce business BEFEEEB 729 -
Others Hih 16,358 15,965
Elimination of inter-segment 73 BB B FE M SR IR 5 58
receivables (14,754) (39,567)
529,354 511,544
Unallocated assets AP EE 4,536 4,154
Deferred tax assets REFIRE B 2,303 2,044
Consolidated assets SLEEBE 536,193 517,742
Segment liabilities SEEE
Building construction business TR 198,894 255,115
Renewable energy business AT A RERET 37,400 58,333
E-commerce business BEFE%EB 321 -
Others Hih 4,711 4,163
Elimination of inter-segment 73 BB [ FE S SRIE S 5H
payables (14,754) (39,567)
226,572 278,044
Unallocated liabilities APEAE 14,782 5,469
Consolidated liabilities meERE 241,354 283,513
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Entity-wide information
Geographical information

The Group's current operations are mainly located in Hong
Kong, the PRC and Saipan.

The following tables set out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group's revenue and (ii) the
Group's property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and goodwill (“Specified Non-Current Assets”).

The geographical location of revenue is based on the location
at which the services were provided or the goods delivered.
The geographical location of the Specified Non-Current Assets
is based on the physical location of the assets, in the case of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets, and
the location of the operation to which they are allocated, in
the case of goodwill.

DEER ()
EREGEER
HEER

A E
BE -

BAIRELTEMRNES  PENE

TREINBREOARE WS M)A EENY
¥ BELRE CRAREEMBE(EE
FEMBEE B EER -

Wes 2 B R BERRHIRE RN EWH
RIEME - FrEFRBEEMERUERER
BEMNBERUE (YR  BFE MEHEIR
EREEEMS)ANEERD RN EEM
H(GEEME)ME

2020 2019
2020 2019%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FH&T
Revenue: Yz

Hong Kong EE 124,365 205,813
The PRC =8 126,524 36,732
Saipan EI = 4,335
250,889 246,880

Specified non-current assets: BEERBEE !
Hong Kong B 5,100 8,322
The PRC A 31,600 31,543
Saipan ZEIR 28 75
36,728 39,940
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEER (&)
Entity-wide information (continued) ERsmEEN(E)

FEEFEH

Information about major customers

FA - REEMAEERKREBEBI0%HE

During the year, revenue from customers contributing over

10% of the total revenue of the Group is as follows: PRz T ¢
2020 2019
2020 2019%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET FH&TT
Customer A’ BEA 38,143 31,781
Customer B! ZFEB N/A*
39,151 @R
Customer C? BEC N/A*
86,641 AE R
Customer D! BED N/A*
TER* 40,636
Customer E' ZFEE N/A*
TERA 46,999
! The revenue was derived from building construction business L RERETRERD M -
segment.
2 The revenue was derived from renewable energy business 2 TRE R B ERERER D I HUES o
segment.
# The customer did not contribute over 10% of total revenue of # ZEPHIEBFEE T EEMASEB AN
the Group during the relevant year. EBiB10% °
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7. OTHERINCOME 7. HAA
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Rental income from lease of machinery H R &9 FH 4 W A 1,583 2,531
Forfeiture income (Note a) SR A (Bt 3Ea) - 1,167
Bank interest income IRITFIBUA 29 583
Other payables written back H At JE < SRIB R Bl = 363
Government grants (Note b) BZW%%E)J(W iFb) 4,234 443
Others HAth 302 625
6,148 5712
Notes: BIsE -
(@) It represented deposits forfeited due to the cancellation of @ EEE—REFPREHEEAGEZEE WM
construction of solar power systems by a customer. BRIEETE o
(b)  Government grants included receipts of Employment (b) BUTHBBEEBBITHN [RILZEIFTEIK

Support Scheme from Hong Kong government and electricity
subsidy from local government in the PRC of approximately
HK$3,793,000 and HK$441,000 (2019: HKSNil and HK$443,000)
respectively. There are no unfulfilled conditions or other
contingencies attaching to these grants.

P& BB T BT HEI 8 E S H R D R
#93,793,0007% 7T %2 441,000/8 7L (20195 + &
PETT N 443,000 7T ) © 3% S B RS R
ERI RS E AR FIR -
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8. OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET 8. Hftz (B1R)FHE
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#&xT FHET
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HE¥E - HE LR E
equipment Eolgy 1,650 500
Change in fair value of financial asset  1Z A AT ABZEH
at FVTPL THEENDTEE (789) 360
Impairment losses of FRAEEERBARBA
right-of-use assets = (1,123)
Net foreign exchange losses M 5 B8 F R (3) (134)
858 (397)
9. EXPENSES BY NATURE 9. EMEBEETHEX
2020 2019
2020 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHIT
Subcontracting charge NEER 123,762 110,576
Material costs MRS 94,316 45,539
Employee benefit expenses (including B TEFFX (BIEEZHM)
directors’ emoluments) (Note 10) (FF5E10) 53,050 57,969
Depreciation e
— Property, plant and equipment —E - HENEE 617 1,153
— Right-of-use assets —[FRAEEE 6,196 6,632
Legal and professional fees EERBEER 8,511 5,385
Auditor’s remuneration i A GTIE
— Audit services — & BRTS 1,880 1,900
- Non-audit services — FEFETIRTS 20 -
Other expenses HEMmfAx 51,532 39,307
Total cost of revenue, selling and WESAR AN ~ SHE RITHR X
administrative expenses 1BFE 339,884 268,461
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10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

10. BEEMRXX(BREESHH)

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHIT

Wages, salaries and bonuses IE - #Fae Mt 51,367 55,956

Pension costs — defined RIKREKA —ERE

contributions plan HREHE 1,276 1,486

Others Efb 407 527

53,050 57,969

Amount included in cost of revenue  FT AU ZSAKASHY 7R I8 30,151 36,848
Amount included in selling and FTASHE RITBH S A FIE

administrative expense 22,899 21,121

53,050 57,969

(@) Pensions - defined contribution plans

Contributions totalling approximately HK$158,000
(2019: HKSNil) were payable at the end of the reporting
period.

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year include two (2019:
two) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the
analysis shown in Note 29. The emoluments payable to

(a) BHE-EEHIRTE

& H#9158,0008 7T (20194 : T L)
HAERREIRI S -

(b) HEEREHAL

FAREEFMESNTIRALEE
M (20194 : MB)EE - HFHC
[RER N 29T RV AT AR o SRR
RTPEHBR=F(2019F : =) EAAH

the remaining three (2019: three) individuals during the FHan T
year are as follows:
2020 2019
2020 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THEIT
Salaries and allowances e KoERL 4,075 3,734
Pension cost — defined RINES A — ERE
contributions plan HEETE 62 54
4,137 3,788
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10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 10. EERANAX(EBIREEEHM)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (%)

(continued)
(b)  Five highest paid individuals (continued) (b) BREBESHFAL(E)

WIHARBEFEHFHMN F THIEE
M= ERMAZRNT

The number of the highest paid employees who are not
the directors of the Company whose remuneration fell
within the following bands are as follows:

Number of employees

EBE A"

2020 2019
20204 20194

HKS$ 1,000,001 to HKS 1,500,000 1,000,001 T E
1,500,000/ 7T 2 2

HKS$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 L8
2,000,000/ 7T 1 1
3 3

11. FINANCE COSTS 1. B

2020 2019
20204 20194F
HKS$’000 HK$'000
TExT FETT
Interest on bonds BEHF B 239 -
Interest on borrowings & 3R B 3,520 3,079
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEMNS 807 899
Interest on bank overdrafts RITBEZHE 658 827
5,224 4,805
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 12. Fif8BiMAx (%)
Pursuant to the enactment of two-tiered profits tax rates by RIBBEBREB(FIEH]) 6 E & /AR F
the Inland Revenue Department of Hong Kong (“IRD"), the ERBME  RNEBBRESENSHILE?
Group's first HK$2 million of assessable profits under Hong B &B T ERTR MR ZE8.25% Bt o K
Kong profits tax is subject to tax rate of 8.25%. The Group’s SEASEB2EEA TR T ERTER
remaining assessable profits above HK$2 million will continue B E16.5%8 T -

to be subject to a tax rate of 16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on Corporate Income Tax (the “CIT BIEPBENEMSTOE(TREMSHEA]) X
Law") and Implementation Regulation of the CIT Law, the tax DERESFEAERME - PEMB AR E
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%. F25%

No provision for income tax expense outside Hong Kong and AR FARER RS &R EBEINOHTE R A
the PRC has been made as the Group’s subsidiaries outside WENBER L ERES BRI AT SEEB
Hong Kong and the PRC either did not have assessable profits HIERFOENMFHEE S  ASHE B &
or have tax credits in excess of assessable profits during the PR BRI ONRY P 1S FR B S VR

year in the relevant jurisdiction.

The amount of income tax expense/(credit) represents: FrigfiBist (3K %) B EEEE ¢
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT

Current income tax BIHAFT 15 H%

- Hong Kong profits tax — BEFERS - 439
— the PRC corporate income tax — B EE 1,348 62
1,348 501
Deferred income tax (Note 24) IRIEFTIS T (B 5E24) (244) (1,731)
1,104 (1,230)
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (continued)

The income tax expense/(credit) for the year can be reconciled

to the loss before income tax per the consolidated statement

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

12. FIE8EIRAY (&) )

RARmREMEEKER T IRPTSAE
BEFEMEHAX(KR) ZHRIAT :

2020 2019
20205 2019%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAET
Loss before income tax TSR E 1R (55,060) (109,368)
Tax calculated at domestic tax WA ET BT R E 1
rates applicable to loss in BIEEARSEERY
the respective countries B8 (10,041) (18,440)
Expenses not deductible for TAFEES
tax purpose 1,255 1,026
Tax effect on temporary RIERE =50
differences not recognised M2 1,212 40
Income not taxable BERBA (1,441) (149)
Tax loss not recognised RERMIBERE 10,119 16,313
Tax concession BB ER - (20)
Income tax expense/(credit) FTsfims (ER) 1,104 (1,230)

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 18% (2019:

17%).

DR AR A18% (20194  17%) ©
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13. LOSS PER SHARE

14.

1 56 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

The basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

13. BREE

%%Zﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁimﬂ&@ﬂ%ﬁ)\ﬁﬁﬁ
1BRR AT BT BB A AR P8R

2020 2019
2020 20194
Loss attributable to owners of the NAFIHE AEEEIE
Company (in HK$'000) (F%7m) (55,459) (108,138)
Weighted average number of TR N AT E
ordinary shares for the purpose of FREAREEEE
basic and diluted loss per share (FR%)
(in thousands) 663,932 612,000
Basic loss per share FRENEE
(HK cents per share) (BILER) (8.35) (17.67)

Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share as
there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding
during the year (2019: same).

DIVIDENDS

No dividends were paid, declared or proposed for both years,
nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period.

14.

R R &R TAESN BT B A
BEREEERAGRERNEBERAR (2019
F AR ©

iR E

REFEE A SN  EIRSEFHIKTR
B MBEREMHREMEZZ RN ERK
g
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15. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

15. ZRBEEMB A AFE

Place of incorporation/

Effective economic

operation and kind of Particulars of issued interest held by
Name of entity legal entity Principal activities share capital the Group
ERUIANE 131111 REBE
ERER EEERER TEEH BERTRAFE ERGERNR
2020 2019
20205 2019%F
Zhejiang Zhonghong Shunlian The PRC, limited liability company ~ E-commerce-related Nil 51% -
Internet Technology Co, Ltd Bl BREERH services z
(IR ZIER B R ETEBIEERE
ﬁﬁﬁgﬂ”) &
Win Win Way Construction Co. Ltd  Hong Kong, limited liability company ~ Construction and engineering ~ HK$131,636,000 100% 100%
("WWWC) EHRETR BE BREMAH BRERTE ordinary shares
BRRA(MEHEE]) 131,636,00078 70 & Ak
Smart City Engineering Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company  Construction and engineering ~ HK$10,000 ordinary 100% 100%
(BMIRERAT) FE BEREALH BERIE shares
10,0008 7T & @R
Win Win Way Materials Supply Hong Kong, limited liability company  Trading of piles HK$10,000 ordinary 100% 100%
Limited (EAPHERRR) BB AREEAF BEEE shares
10,0007 & B
Win Win Way Construction Co,, Saipan, limited liability company Construction and engineering  US$200,000 ordinary 100% 100%
(Saipan) Inc. #E BREMAH BERTE shares
200000 T & Mk
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15. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

15. AT FEMBRARFE #)

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of incorporation/

Effective economic

operation and kind of Particulars of issued interest held by
Name of entity legal entity Principal activities share capital the Group
MR BEHER REB
ERER EEERER TTEH BERTRAFE ERCERE
2020 2019
20205 2019%F
Jiangsu Zhongtianhui New Energy  The PRC, limited liability company ~ Construction and engineering ~ RMB9,016,378 100% 100%
Technology Co, Ltd. MmE - BRELAH BERTRE issued share capital
(TEBREHERRR ARHE9016378TC
BRAR) e BEIRA
Sichuan Yafei Engineering Design  The PRC, limited liability company ~ Construction and engineering Nl 100% 100%
Co,Ltd (MNERIBRE  TE AREEAHF BERIRE z
ﬁﬁ T” &R
Nanjing Zhongtian Yihui New The PRC, limited liability company ~ Construction and engineering ~ RMB3,536,806 100% 100%
Energy Technology Co, Ltd Bl - BIREEAA BERTR issued share capital
(BRBREERM LR ARE35368067TC
BRARE) M BETRA
Nanjing Hengyihui New Energy ~ The PRC, limited liability company ~ Leasing of solar power system  RMB630,000 100% 100%
Technology Co, Ltd HE - BREFLR REAGREESN issued share capital
(ERERERRERRR ARB630,0007
BRAG)me BEIRA
(1) This subsidiary is registered as an enterprise of invested/ (1) AKBARREFEEEFMEBRAR
controlled by natural persons under the PRC Law. B AR E -
(2)  The English name for the PRC subsidiaries is for identification ) PEIMEA R R E BRG]
purposes only.
(3)  The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 (3)  ERINER2020F12A3BTEFELRE

I%Z HEEZARAMBAR - ERE

RE - REEGMBLAANFEEERR
fbaa BRIUE - ARFHE R RRFRRE
BITEMERE

December 2020 which principally affected the results or assets
of the Group. Management is of the opinion that to give details
of other subsidiaries would result in particulars of excessive
length. None of the Company'’s subsidiaries had issued any
debt securities at year end.
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. 1% - MERRE

Solar  Furniture,
Plant and power and Motor Office
machinery system fixtures vehicles  equipment Total
BER KER 8 RAR ‘ WOE
B BEL ®E HE B4 EH
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T FET T T
At 1 January 2019 ®201951818
Cost AR 103,793 1,297 3424 1,466 156 110,136
Accumulated depreciation 2HTE (103,369) (28) (2455) (1,249) e (107,213)
Net book amount FHFE 428 1,269 969 217 40 2923
Yearended 31 December2019  EZE2019F12A31HLEE
Opening net book amount HREFE 428 1,269 969 217 40 2923
Additions NE - - 675 - 25 700
Disposals HE - - - - - -
Depreciation charge (Note 9) TETH (M) (385) 61 (534) (143) (30) (1153)
Exchange differences EHESE - (53) (4) - - (57)
Closing net book amount HARETE 4 1,155 1,106 74 35 2413
At 31 December 2019 #2019%12431A
Cost A 89,534 1,254 4095 1,255 180 9,318
Accumulated depreciation ZEIE (89,491) (99) (2,989) (1181) (145) (93,905)
Net book amount FEHFE 4 1,155 1,106 74 35 2413
Yearended 31 December 2020  EZ2020F 128310 L FE
Opening net book amount HRE A 43 1,155 1,106 74 35 2413
Additions NE - - - 178 187 365
Disposals HE - - - - - -
Depreciation charge (Note 9) WEZH (F9) 43) (62) (399) (47) (66) (617)
Exchange differences ERES - 66 13 - 36 115
Closing net book amount HARE A = 1,159 720 205 192 2,276
At 31 December 2020 #2020%12R31H
Cost AR 76,100 1,329 4113 1,433 407 83,382
Accumulated depreciation 2:iE (76,100) (170) (3,393) (1,228) (215) (81,106)
Net book amount FHFE - 1,159 720 205 192 2,276

During the year, depreciation of HK$8,000 (2019: HK$424,000)
and HK$609,000 (2019: HK$729,000) were charged to cost of

FR - 8,000 7T (20194F © 424,000 7T )
609,000/ 7T (20194 : 729,000/ 7T ) K9 #T

I XA

o+

revenue and selling and administrative expenses respectively.

As at 31 December 2020, certain plant and machinery,
furniture and fixtures, motor vehicles and office equipment
with gross carrying amounts of approximately HK$79,767,000
(2019: HK$86,631,000), were fully depreciated but still in use.

2 RIE AU EE AR M SHE R AT ST ©

R20206F 128318 ETEEEREAED
79,767,000 7 (20194 © 86,631,000/ 7T ) 2
BE R RARES - REURRAE
REBEBEIE  EDENERF -
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17. LEASES 17. HE
This note provides information for leases where the Group is a AN IEEANEBRIEARBAZHEEZE
lessee. e
(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement () REEHBRRARERAZI

of financial position

The consolidated of financial position shows the REUBRARI THEHBEEENS
following amounts relating to leases: EEP N
As a lessee ERRFEA
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Properties LES 5,287 10,582
Solar power system N W 4,696 4,673
Motor vehicles RE 1,862 602
11,845 15,857
Lease liabilities HEEE
Current RIVHA 6,647 7,647
Non-current JERNER 5,229 9,439
11,876 17,086
Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year were FARNEFRAEEEF2742,000% T
HKS$2,742,000 (2019: HKS$14,181,000). (2019%F : 14,181,000/ 7T) °
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17. LEASES (continued) 17.

(a)

(b)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the solar power system was
secured by:

(i) trade receivables of approximately HK$137,000
(2019: HK$88,000);

(i)  registered capital of a wholly-owned subsidiary
amounting to RMB10,000,000 (2019: same); and

(i) a guarantee by the wholly-owned subsidiary in
(i) above and Dr. Ho Chun Kit Gregory ("Dr. Ho")
(2019: same).

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income show the following amounts
related to leases:

HE =)
@) REAMBRRERBE>ZE(E)

ERABEA(E)

R2020F12 A31H » ABSaeE T I8
TS IBEER

() B 5 FE U FIE 4 137,000 T
(2019%F : 88,000/87T) :

iy Z2EMBARMNEMERAAR
#10,000,0007T(20194F : FH[A])
&

iy LGP E2EKRBR G RAE
BB ([E L ]) IR ER
(2019%F : #8FA) °

(b) RESEBERHMZHKZERERZ
=8

FeEakEtEERERSIREE
SERBANSBEMT

2020 2019
20204 20194
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B &E FET FET
Depreciation charge of FHREESENESH
right-of-use assets
Properties I ES 5,784 6,322
Solar power system A5 RE3EE UL 251 253
Motor vehicles b2 161 57
9 6,196 6,632
Impairment loss of FREEEREEE
right-of-use assets (Note) (BREE) - 1,123
Interest expense FERZ [
(included in finance cost) (G AR B A) 807 899
Expense relating to short-term HGHAEREN
leases (included in cost of revenue B S (Bt AURES AR 2N )2
and selling and administrative HE MITHF )
expenses) 2,518 3,170
Sub-lease income SIEMBA 652 646
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17. LEASES (continued)

(b)

()

(d)

1 62 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
(continued)

The total cash outflow for leases for the year was
approximately HK$10,713,000 (2019: HK$13,246,000).

Note: The impairment loss is related to certain properties used
for the construction project in Saipan (“Saipan Project”)
as the estimated recoverable amount is less than the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset.

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for

The Group leases various properties, solar power system
and motor vehicles. Rental contracts are typically made
for fixed periods of 1 year to 20 years, but may have
extension options as described in (e) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
other than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

The Group sub-leases the solar power system under
an operating lease. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contain different terms and
conditions.

Variable lease payments

The sublease of solar power system in the PRC contain
variable payment terms that linked to power usage
by the lessee. Variable lease payments that depend
on the power usage are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which the condition that triggers those
payments occurs.

17. HE&#®)

(b)

(c)

(d)

REFEREREMEERERERZ
EH(E

AFERHEEEENReREAEY
10,713,000/ 7T (20194F © 13,246,000
BIL) ©

M OREEREENSRRIAR (EYA
BORTAETYERR - SITaRE
AEEEZAFAIRESEEER
HRmEE -

FEENHEEIREARLSR

AEEHEZHEYE  KGEEEL
KAE - HEANBERIFRE20FH
BElEHIRETSL - A AR BETFAE T X
o) Pt O FEH I 42 4 o

HEGRHVEBHE  BESERET
IR # {6 R B AR o %MEA%%EE
BEEEMBRFEDI  HEHRETIE

MEMRLY - HEEETFRIERER
A
AEERBEEHEODEAGREE
uh e MEKRRNEBEE BEEE
TR O IR R B fR A

EEENRK

EHE - ARG EUN oM

BEH
A AW AE S8 H A RIE
R BURRAEEMAERENTR
B3 2 S R IR B E AR R B 28
NTERR ©
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17.

18.

LEASES (continued)

(e) Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in
a number of property and equipment leases across
the Group. These are used to maximise operational
flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the
Group's operations. The majority of extension options
held are exercised only by the Group.

OTHER ASSETS

In May 2019, the Group entered into a life insurance contract
with an insurance company to insure Dr. Kan Hou Sek, Jim (“Dr.
Kan"), a shareholder and a former executive director of the
Company. Under the contract, the beneficiary and contract
holder is WWWC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and the total insured sum is US$5,000,000 (approximately
HK$39,000,000).

WWW(C paid a gross premium of approximately US$3,090,000.
WWWC may request a partial surrender or full surrender of the
contract at any time and receive cash back based on the value
of the contract at the date of withdrawal, which is determined
by the gross premium paid at inception plus accumulated
guaranteed interest earned and minus insurance premium
charged at inception. If such withdrawal is made at any time
during the first to the eighteenth year, a pre- determined
specified surrender charge would be imposed.

The insurance company will pay WWWC a guaranteed interest
of 4.25% per annum for the first year, followed by minimum
guaranteed return of 2% per annum for the following years,
with the actual return determined at the discretion of the
insurance company.

17.

18.

HE )

(e) EHIRAKRILIRERE
REENZHYEREEROTPHER
BRHRKILEEZE ZEZEERTD
BRERREMRSEENEBER
KEFTAEEMRIEFETE - KA
MR B D EH R R (B AN E A TE o

HttEE

20195 A - AEBEBE—RERE ARG
—MmASRBREH - BIREEARBRIIT
EEHEHBL((HEL) KRR - BES
4 XEARBHBBABRRGZE2EK
BRRMEBELE - MIRIRB%E 45,000,000
7 (#939,000,00078 7T ) °

TE RS D 48R B 493,090,000 7T © 1B
WA ERERPHRIELEEEL LS
4 WEREREBAHNEBRERE
EREENRRRBEMRELEINT B
2 REFEREHREANE - HRE—2
T NF BT AEEERR - SR ELETE
METRIRFES -

ME—FME  REAFTHFRENEESLN
BFRRA25%5TH 2 REBFE ﬁf&ﬁfg
AIAR B IE G B RIRE 2%§Z1‘J‘ EREO
WARBRABIBITAE °
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18. OTHER ASSETS (continued) 18. HittEE (%)

1 64 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

At the inception date, the gross premium was separated
into the investment component of a life insurance contract
and prepayment of life insurance premium. Investment
component for a life insurance contract is classified as a
financial asset at FVTPL, as contractual rights to cash flows
do not represent contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding. Prepayment of life insurance premium is
amortised on straight-line over the contractual period of
life insurance contract. As at 31 December 2020, the fair
value of investment component of a life insurance contract
was HK$22,227,000 (2019: HK$23,016,000) and the carrying
amount of prepayment of premium was HK$1,319,000 (2019:
HKS$1,393,000).

As at 31 December 2020, management of the Company
considered the Group will terminate the life insurance
contract within twelve months from the end of the reporting
period and the balance is therefore classified as current assets
(2019: Management considered the Group will not terminate
the life insurance contract within twelve months from the end
of the reporting period and the balance is therefore classified
as non-current assets).

As at 31 December 2020, the life insurance contract has been
assigned to secure the banking facilities granted to the Group
(2019: same).

RZIRAR  BRECEDBASRBRELN
ZREXDRBANTASRBRREEZR - AS
REEHNIEELDES B EIZATFETTA
EaMESRMEE  DTHNIRS MG LER
WEBRBMEMTNERASERREFIE
E’J:.,\’ﬁﬁuumo}\?f% {% ;%?ﬁHZiEH/TA
IEE?QE%?/‘Z‘EA/\?{% Aml\qmmﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁ
MBS - 2020128318 © ASRBRAEY
ZIREFH DR F{EA22,227,000%8 7T (2019
1 23,016,000%7L) - MEMNREERNE
{8 41,319,000/ 7T (20194F : 1,393,000/
JT) °

2020 12A318 » A RRIERBEREASE
B 5 5 s AR+ — @ B AR 1EASR
fad  AtEsE s EAMRBEE (2019
F:ERERATEBBTSRMEERE
AT ZEARKIEASREBEY - BHit&és
EDBAIERBDEE)

R2020F 1283180 - ABRBRANCIESE 2
LAERE T AREENIRTRE (20194 : 48
@) e
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19. GOODWILL 19. B&
HK$'000
FAET
At 1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019 720191818 K20195F12H31H
Cost PR 21,670
Accumulated impairment ZEHRIE -
Net book amount REFE 21,670
Year ended 31 December 2020 BZE2020F1283101LFE
Opening net book amount FHREFE 21,670
Exchange differences MEH ZRE 937
Closing net book amount FARREFE 22,607
At 31 December 2020 720205612H31H
Cost B %N 22,607
Accumulated impairment Z2EHRE -
Net book amount REFE 22,607

Goodwill acquired through business combination is allocated
to the CGU, “provision of construction service of renewable
energy system in the PRC’, that is expected to benefit from the
business combination.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based
on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash
flow projections based on financial forecasts approved by
management covering a period of five years. Cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using an
estimated growth rate of 2% (2019: 2%). The cash flows are
discounted using a discount rate of 25% (2019: 24%), which
reflects specific risks relating to the CGU.

In view of the fact that the recoverable amount exceeds the
carrying amount of the above CGU, there is no impairment of
goodwill allocated to the above CGU during the year (2019:
same).

Management is of the opinion that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would not have resulted
in an impairment write-down in the CGU.

BRERBAGAESNEE DK TEEK
EXBEHTESNRSELEN - B 1&
B AT B A RE IR BUAM R RARTE ] o

REeEESBNMA RO SEEHIZFEREER
HEAET - RS E AT RARKERER
ERRFHRYBEANRSRELN - AF
HEMIRE RFERMETHERE2%HEE (2019
F 2w BHeRFRARMRESEEEUR
TE R B0 BE IR F250%(20194F : 24%) BLIR ©

ERAHESEEE A REELE BN
HE RAFEDEE LR eELEMHN
B EAEFDR(E (20195 « ABR]) °

BEERR  TAZRFRENTASIE
Z 2K e YR E L BAME MR o
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20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

20. BERE D 2EMTA

2020 2019
2020%F 20194
HKS$'000 HK$'000
F#&xT FHET
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at amortised cost: R AR 2
%%E@F :
Trade receivables, deposits and BIRKFIE  Eek
other receivables ,\{”@JE%Z,\ E 112,898 166,964
Pledged bank deposits B2 RRITIF = 40,060
Cash and bank balances e RIRTTHER 33,694 1,283
Financial assets at FVTPL: BATERTAERN
TEEE
Investment component of life ASRBE LB
insurance contract A& 22,227 23,016
168,819 231,323
Financial liabilities SHMEE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: B AT BR 2
THRAE:
Trade and other payables %&Eﬁﬁﬁfﬁm (103,671) (114,821)
Amount due to the immediate J?E“\HE&TI
holding company RIE (4,581) (17,847)
Lease liabilities HEaE (11,876) (17,086)
Borrowings and bank overdrafts BRRBITEX (69,078) (85,652)
(189,206) (235,406)

The Group's exposure to various risks associated with the

financial instruments is disclosed in Note 3.1.

The maximum

exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the

carrying amount of each class of financial assets mentioned

above.
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

BEEWRE - BERK

H it

OTHER RECEIVABLES g
2020 2019
20204 20194
HKS$’000 HKS$'000
T FHEIT
Trade receivables (Note a) B 5 e (M ufa) 98,754 214,073
Loss allowance (Note 3.1(b)) BB (M RE3.1( (12) (66,134)
98,742 147,939
Deposits o 11,088 7,622
Prepayments (Note b) T FRIE (M 5ED) 135,067 4,033
Other receivables H b e U IR 3,068 11,403
149,223 23,058
247,965 170,997

Less: Amounts due within one year shown & : JRBV & EE NFIIR

under current assets —FRBEAH A (246,068) (169,027)
Non-current portion JERNHAES > 1,897 1,970

Notes:

As at 31 December 2020, gross trade receivables of
approximately HK$62,280,000 (2019: gross trade receivables
of approximately HK$169,599,000 and other receivables of
approximately HK$5,448,000) was due from a customer which
Dr. Kan is one of the beneficial owners.

As at 31 December 2020, it mainly represented prepaid
subcontracting charges of HK$71,899,000 and prepaid material
costs of HK$32,320,000 made by the Group for the resumption
of the Saipan Project. Prepaid material costs of approximately
HK$32,320,000 have been made to a supplier which Dr. Kan is
one of the directors of the intermediate holding company of
that supplier.

Further, HK$102,056,000 was paid by the Group on behalf of
the customer of Saipan Project. Such payments were related
to the resumption of the Saipan Project and have been fully
repaid by the customer during the year.

GEE

(@ H2020F12A31H

B SN GRIE AR
#62,280,00078 7T (20194F :

2 5 R

48 78 49 169,599,000 78 7T Nz H 1 8 Uk 7K I 49
5,448,000/ L) [EME —REF - mMEEL

REE

mEAAZ— °

(b)  FR2020F12A31H » EXBEALEERE

RREVIR B AN D

% 71,899,000/ 7T

o FEAS R 832,320,000 7T © B S
JE 7 #932,320,00078 T FEA MR AS » T

BE LR
—REF-

Itk S

LR R O R R

B @NEIEOE

FEERKERBEEFPRL XN

102,056,000 7T  ABE{T R LB R ZEITIE
BEEBMEEHERPNFANRHEE -
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group’s credit terms granted to customers range from 0
to 60 days.

As at the end of reporting period, the ageing analysis of the
trade receivables (before loss allowance), based on date of
certificate, were as follows:

ESERRFEE - ReEREMER
FRIE ()

AEBEETEPHEEMN FORECOK

REIBEIR - ERNEE R BHNE 5 R
(B EBHER) AR DM IR -

2020 2019

20205 20194

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FHET FHEIT

Up to 1 month E AR 14,626 20,076
1to 2 months 12218 A 9,813 12,778
2 to 3 months 2Z3ME A 10,888 1,089
3 to 6 months 326fE A 713 -
Over 6 months E - 62,714 180,130
98,754 214,073

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their
carrying amount is considered to be the same as their fair
value. Note 3.1(b) set out information about the impairment of
financial assets and contract assets and the Group's exposure
to credit risk.

The carrying amounts of the trade receivables, deposits
and other receivables are denominated in the following

ARV FE UG IR R I E (R - BRRE
BEREAEERXFERER - HE3b)#EA
EREREENANEERERAEE A
BEERBRNER -

B 5 RWHUR - e kARG RE
BATIEEHE :

currencies:
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FET
HKS BIT 217,784 164,984
RMB AR 30,181 6,013
247,965 170,997

1 68 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & K JIEE# (BB )#E AR AR A& Annual Report 2020 55



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A BTSRRI T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

22. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 22. BREERGHNEAEE
LIABILITIES
The Group has recognised the following assets and liabilities AREEBDHEATNWERFANEBZEENR
related to contracts with customers: afE:
2020 2019
20205 2019%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAET
Contract assets relating to B TNRIEE#E 2
BHREE
— building construction business — TR 167,815 234,380
— renewable energy business — P BAREIRER 83,183 29,587
250,998 263,967
Loss allowance (Note 3.1(b)) BB EEMEE3.1(b) (59,041) (24,958)
191,957 239,009
Contract liabilities relating to BTN EBEE#Z
aHaE
— building construction business —EETIREK 14,600 16,232
- renewable energy business — A BAREIRE 490 768
15,090 17,000
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22. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

(a)

1 70 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

Significant changes in contract assets and liabilities

Contract assets represent the Group's rights to
considerations from customers for the provision of
construction services, which arise when: (i) the Group
completed the relevant services under such contracts
but the works are yet to be certified by architects,
surveyors or other representatives appointed by the
customers; or (ii) the customers withhold certain
certified amounts payable to the Group as retention
money to secure the due performance of the contracts.
The terms and conditions in relation to the release
of retention vary from contract to contract and the
retention period generally ranged from six months to
twelve months. The Group does not hold any collateral
as security. Any amount previously recognised as a
contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables at the
point at which it is certified by architects, surveyors or
other representatives appointed by the customers and
becomes unconditional other than passage of time.
The change in contract assets is related to the work
in progress performed by the Group but is yet to be
certified and the release status of retention monies
throughout the year.

As at 31 December 2020, retention receivables of
approximately HK$40,414,000 (2019: HK$59,057,000)
was included in the contract assets as stated above.
They were classified as current assets based on
operating cycle. The ageing of the retention receivables,
based on the date of certificate, are as follows:

(a)

22. BHNEEREGHNEE®)

BREERBENEAES

m,\’]éfixﬁi‘%$glﬁ'fbﬁﬂ)5?mf

ERBmAEPBRBRRENET - Z
ERMPRATERTESE - ﬁ%.*ﬁ
BZEGHTHRAEMRE - BT
RESEFLLZARIESERM - AISAMK
HEMREJZE  ()BEFHNEB RN A
SENETEZENSBERRE
NH#REHNNEE o BRI RIR
BENBEREBEHERSSHME - &
FHBENFAEAZTZ@EA - &
SEWESERAEERODERR - &
AIERRENEENTMNENEE
SRPZREER - RS H A
REZE &W%?ﬁﬂ*@ﬁ—r(lﬁ—rfﬁmk
BRINEFDEEZEZ NI - 64
BENE @JE@$EIEE}%1EFLJ5H?
FNERIRRFANRBENOERE
B e

R2020F 128318 Ll A EE
B & 49 40,414,000 78 7T (2019 5 -
59,057,000 L) MEKRE S - FE
JEWMRB S RBEZBHBEDEAR
BEE - -ENEZRHNEWRERE S
RE D TEINNT -

2020 2019

20205 20194F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHBxT FHET

Within 1 year 14K 6,834 6,288
Over 1 year T 33,580 52,769
40,414 59,057
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22. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

(a)

Significant changes in contract assets and liabilities
(continued)

The retention receivables were expected to be
recovered as follows:

22. BHNEEREGHNEE®)

(a)

BHEEREEBNEREH(E)

FEY IR B £ TR a0 S EAfE e [l

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$'000 HK$'000

TFET FAT

Within 1 year 1R 8,117 9,734
Over 1 year 1A 32,297 49,323
40,414 59,057

Contract liabilities are classified as current as they
are expected to be settled within the Group’s normal
operating cycle.

The balance of contract liabilities has decreased mainly
due to the decrease in deposit received in advance
of construction contracts. When the Group receives a
deposit before the construction activity commences,
this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of
a contract, the deposit will set off against contract
assets and/or progress billings in the later stage. The
Group typically receives certain percentage of deposit
before construction work commences. Deposits may
be forfeited if construction contract is cancelled by the
customer.

FEEAREE SN ETEEBBRAER
BHRE  BWEIBARD -

BHREEHRRINEIZRRARREE
BHBRESRLD c EAKERZE
AEBFHBATKRERZRS - BIEBREH
MIrRELESNARE  KSBERY
BHENEER HEENR - K&
B —RENZETIZFH A ATUWEE T
BOLMESE - WEPBHEEA
% Al r e g o -
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22. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

22. BHNEEREGHNEE®)

(b) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities (b) BENEEWIAMKZE
The following table shows how much of the revenue TR E DI A 5 E B A P EE R U A R
recognised in the current reporting period relates HEEAS YR ER F%E’Jé—i%’ﬁﬁéﬁii*
to carried-forward contract liabilities and how much FEBRTHNBRORTHBNSE
relates to performance obligations that were satisfied in
a prior year:
2020 2019
2020 20194F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue recognised that was included B 2EETI&LEE
in the contract liability balance at AR ER
the beginning of the period g 10,432 1,176
Revenue recognised from performance FtRiB7E BRI D BT
obligations satisfied (or partially (KHPDEIT)Z
satiated) in previous periods (Note) BHEEERZ
Yezs (B EE) 3,157 14,301
Note: The revenue recognised during the year is mainly due to itk - FRE BB ST R HERNE TR
the changes in transactions price of certain construction EEHNR S ERE BT -
contracts.
(c) Unsatisfied long-term revenue contracts () XRETHRHBHEEHN

The following table shows the expected timing of
recognising revenue for the unsatisfied performance
obligations resulting from fixed-price long-term
revenue contracts.

FRIITBEEE B R ARG S OT
ARETHEOE THER R EHTRHE
fA °

2020 2019

2020 20195

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FHET

Within one year —&FR 365,508 346,269
More than one year but not more —F A L ETBIBRE

than two years 74,575 123,346

440,083 469,615

The Saipan Project with a remaining performance
obligation of approximately HK$223,724,000 (2019:
HK$223,724,000) which is currently suspended due
to the travel restrictions imposed by Saipan has been
included in the unsatisfied performance obligation.
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RETHEROSEEOERENSE M
IRATRR G & A E = EE N F R E L
& F 49 /223,724,000 7T (2019 4F -
223,724,000/ 70 ) EIAIER -
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22. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 22. EHEERENEE®)

LIABILITIES (continued)

(d) As at 31 December 2020, gross contract assets of (d) 2020 12H31H  BHEERBREL
approximately HK$18,299,000 (2019: HK$18,299,000) 18,299,000 7T (20194F : 18,299,000
was due from a customer which Dr. Kan is one of the TTEKE—REF  mMEELAHEE
beneficial owners. HZEBALZ— °

23. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND 23. BENETEAKREEIEBER

PLEDGED DEPOSITS

(a) Cash and bank balance (a) BERBITES

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$’000 HKS'000

FET FETT

Cash at banks RITR S 33,600 1,207
Cash on hand FERSE 94 76
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEeEEY 33,694 1,283
Bank balances carry interest at variable market rates RITHAMRIZB T HNEGT L - 28
which range from 0.0% to 0.3% (2019: 0.0% to 0.1%). F) = &5 B T F0.0% % 0.3% (2019 FF :

0.0%ZE0.1%) °

(b) Reconciliation to cash flow statement (b) EEBESRERMWERE
The above figures reconcile to the amount of cash B ERM BN FERGEERERE
shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows at FHIRHIRSEEEROT ¢

the end of the financial year as follows:

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$’000 HKS'000

FET FETT

Balances as above EerFE 33,694 1,283
Bank overdrafts (Note 28) RITIEZ (H5E28) (16,968) (17,023)
Balances per statement of cash flows  IR& R EREH 16,726 (15,740)
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23. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND 23. BERBITERREEFER

PLEDGED DEPOSITS (continued) (4)

() Pledged bank deposits () BEFRITIFN
Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to ERFIRITHERIE BBRAEBER
banks to secure banking facilities granted to the Group. MITMEMBERTRITOHER - B
In 2019, the pledged bank deposits carry market interest 20194 » BEMIRITHFRILTIHFEF|
rate which ranged from 0.1% to 2.5% per annum. ENTF01%E25%FT S, ©

The carrying amounts of the cash and bank balance and Be RIRTEBU LB IEBETEROERR

pledged bank deposits are approximate their fair values and BEEAFERE WA THEEHE :

are denominated in the following currencies:

2020 2019
2020 20194F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FHET
HKS BT 29,017 40,142
RMB AR 3,882 1,176
usb e 795 25
33,694 41,343
24. DEFERRED INCOME TAX 24. IEZEFTEBL
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement MBIGEMBHRAERTE - & TERERIE
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities BERAGBCEEEE - FHEEREETH
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred RIETRIBAE SR ITUOT -
tax balances on a net basis:
2020 2019
20204 20194F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FET
Deferred income tax assets BEFTSMEE 2,380 2,121
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFAIEHEE (77) (77)
2,303 2,044
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24. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued) 24. REFREBL2)
The natures of items giving rise to deferred income tax assets SIBRLEMSHEENABBEMNBEEMNEER
and liabilities and their respective movements in deferred ERFREELAEHREETHSEEH
income tax assets during the year without taking into (TZ2ER—TRWEEE N RE )N
consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax T

jurisdiction are as follows:

Loss allowance
for trade Accelerated

receivables and tax
contract assets  depreciation Tax losses Total
B 5 EWRE
RENEE
BEEE MEVUENE REEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR THER FET
At 1 January 2019 201951810 461 (148) - 313
Credited to consolidated statement T ALZAEZREK
of profit and loss and other Hin2EKEE
comprehensive income 37 71 1,623 1,731
At 31 December 2019 #2019 12A31H 498 (77) 1623 2,044
At 1 January 2020 #202061R1A 498 (77) 1,623 2,044
Credited to consolidated statement of 3t ASFA1BZ R EM
profit and loss and 2EKER
other comprehensive income 244 - - 244
Exchange difference ERES 15 - - 15
At 31 December 2020 #2020%128318 757 (77) 1,623 2,303
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24.

25.
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DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carried-
forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related
tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. At
the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of HK$79,466,000 (2019: HK$108,710,000) available for
offset against future proﬂts The tax loss of approximately
HK$73,255,000 (2019: HK$101,318,000) may be carried forward
indefinitely and the remammg tax loss of HK$6,211,000 (2019:
HK$7,392,000) will be expire within 5 years from the end of
reporting period.

Deferred income tax liabilities of approximately HK$2,356,000
(2019: HK$1,229,000) have not been provided for the
withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings of subsidiaries of approximately HK$23,557,000
(2019: HK$12,293,000) in the PRC. The unremitted earnings
are used for reinvestment. The income tax liability is not

24, EIEFIBH (2

mﬁﬁ@ﬁkﬂ 5 1R K A] B2 355 18 oK 2K B AR B U )
FEERIEEERERRELEMS
fRﬁF RBERR  AEEEXRSAH
TE 8518 79,466,0007 7T (20194F : 108,710,000
B ATARENARGEF - HIBEBEED
73,255,0007 75 (20194 : 101,318,000 JT )
TR HA 4S8 I fr TR IE E5186,211,00078 7T
(20194F : 7,392,000/ 70 ) #5 A SR &= B R #E AT
RERZDH -

PRI FT 158 B (5 492,356,000 7T (20194 -
1,229,000%75)1?%&5%%% AR A DE H &
A #723,557,00078 7T (20194F © 12,293,00075
OB BN Z FEMBL TR B E - RIED
BFTAREBERE - IEHAaERTHER
J??‘lxezkil%%ﬁ Il 43 B B B = RE A B

recognised, because the Group is able to control the timing C JRE AR N2 RN B R R B o) H s =
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable %E °
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
SHARE CAPITAL 25. R
Number of shares Share capital
RDEE [N
HKS$'000
FET
Authorised: JETE ¢

Ordinary shares at HK$0.1 each
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019,
1 January 2020 and 31 December 2020

FRR01B T E B

R2019F1H18 »
20195 12H31H -
2020F1 AH K

20209F12A31H 1,000,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRHRE
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 201951 H1H »
and 1 January 2020 2019F12A318 &
2020%F1 A1 H 612,000,000 6,120
Issuance of ordinary shares on 202057 148 897
14 July 2020 (Note (i) m AT (FEE()) 77,000,000 770
Issuance of ordinary shares on 202067 A21 B E1T
21 July 2020 (Note (ii)) -3 AR (B EE (i) 11,830,000 118
Issuance of ordinary shares on )\J’A2O2O¢ 0A28H %
28 October 2020 (Note (iii)) 17 mAR (MEEGI) 60,000,000 600
At 31 December 2020 72020512H31H 760,830,000 7,608
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25. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

V)

(i)

(iii)

On 14 July 2020, a total of 77,000,000 ordinary shares have
been issued to the immediate holding company at HK$0.80
per ordinary shares pursuant to the terms and conditions of
the subscription agreement dated 22 January 2020 and the
supplemental subscription agreement dated 16 June 2020
entered into between the Company and the immediate
holding company.

On 21 July 2020, a total of 11,830,000 ordinary shares have
been issued to the placing agent at HK$0.80 per ordinary
shares pursuant to the terms and conditions of the placing
agreement dated 22 January 2020 and the supplemental
placing agreement dated 16 June 2020 entered into between
the Company and the placing agent.

On 28 October 2020, a total of 60,000,000 ordinary shares have
been issued to an independent subscriber at HK$0.80 per
ordinary shares pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
subscription agreement dated 12 October 2020 entered into
between the Company and the independent subscriber.

26. RESERVES

(a)

Share premium

The share premium account is governed by the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and may be
applied by the Company subject to provisions, if any, of
its memorandum and articles of association in paying
distributions or dividends to equity shareholders.

No distribution or dividend may be paid to equity
shareholders out of the share premium account
unless immediately following the date on which the
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the
Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due in
the ordinary course of business.

25. BRA (%)

PaE

U]

(ifi)

M2020F7 148 « RIBARQ B EEEZER
ARIFIMEB A R /2020561 A28 &
202056 A 16 B MR HE R e R =
B IETR R A  IREREBAR080BITRE
BEIERR A RS $£889777,000,0000% L i@ AR o

202067 A218 - IRBEARRQ R EEERIE
ATSZEY B HI B A20204E1 A22 A K 20204
6 A 16 B BB E s K i 7o Fl & sk MO I6RRK
FAE - RS EAR0.80E LM AL B A I8
& HE2£9711,830,0000% L @AY ©

M2020F10A28H  IRIBEA R B EB IR
AR BEA20205F10812B0RE
WEE O GRR R G - REREER080E
TLIAVE N 3R B8 A& 8 1760,000,000% i
B o

26. f#fE

(a)

gri ey

B ERIASFERAFDERE
FEA X B AR A E A2 K AR Ko AR RIS
(WEIREBT - ATEARRFBRAS
AR BRI DRSS

BRIERREREEZ D IRSRMBE 2 A
% ARBEBERENXNERATEE
BBETAHNES SRR ENUK
I ERARRBIR D IRSORMAE
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26. RESERVES (continued)

(b) Otherreserve

The other reserve mainly represents the deemed
contributions from and distributions to the then
controlling shareholders as a result of the reorganisation
before the listing of the shares of the Company on the
Stock Exchange.

(c) Exchange reserve

Exchange differences arising on translation of the
foreign controlled entity are recognised in other
comprehensive income as described in Note 2.6 and
accumulated in a separate reserve within equity. The
cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss when
the net investment is disposed of.

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

26. @@ #)

(b)

(c)

Hth it 5

EMFEEFEREAAR ARG RER
Fr ETRIESTEAMBERIER B &
ZRRENLE KR IR RE
Hjﬁ)‘]ﬂ/ﬁ °

B

MK 2 6P - ME BN IR E R
Fi%[ﬂ%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂiﬁl& § e
R AREEANEBRFED R -
”“&éf/%%“@ﬁ%féﬁﬁv C RET2BEH

AR o

27. B R EMEARKE

2020 2019
2020 20194F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT

Trade and retention payables B RENFIER
ERHRE & 97,135 113,501
Other payables H A FE < 5RIA 2,068 897
Accrued subcontracting charges st BER 13,313 10,438
Accrued employee benefits [EsHR B R 4,440 4,421
Accrued operating expenses JERT AR 7,076 8,444
Accrued interest FERTFE 139 -
Amount due to Dr. Kan FERT RS 5B 4,468 -
128,639 137,701

Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid within
credit periods which ranged from 30 to 60 days.

B 5 e FUR R EE AR B E R F30E60
REOEEHAAT

1 78 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & X JER (BIBR )R AR A7 Annual Report 2020 F3§



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A BTSRRI T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 27. B RHEMBENRE 2
As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of REEEIR - IHBREHEH29NE S ERNK
the trade payables based on date of certificate were follows: TEHIBRER DM T -
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Within 1 month HEA A 25,586 42,747
1 to 2 months 1221 A 5,891 8,165
2to 3 months 2E 3@ A 4,647 3,449
Over 3 months 3MEA B E 36,902 37,099
73,026 91,460
In the consolidated statement of financial position, retention TR EMIRRE - B RE S BRI
payables were classified as current liabilities. The ageing AfE - RBEFBHZVNWENRE 2 2R
analysis of the retention payables, based on the date of DI

certificate, are as follows:

2020 2019
20205 20194F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAT
Within 1 year 1F R 4,406 839
Over 1 year T 19,703 21,202
24,109 22,041
During the year, Dr. Kan advanced HK$95,987,000 to the FA - BHIE T mA % BB (T95987,000 %
Group and the Group advanced HK$91,519,000 to Dr. Kan. JC + AN & W) R 8 £ #44591,519,000/8 7T ©
The carrying amounts of the trade and other payables are B 5 REMBAFIBEBNRIDEIIATIEE
denominated in the following currencies: ETE -
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
HKS BT 101,700 107,068
RMB ARHEE 26,939 30,633
128,639 137,701
The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are BEREEHTE  E5 REMENRIENR
considered to be the same as their fair values, due to their AEHERREEEAATERR -

short-term nature.
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28. BORROWINGS AND BANK OVERDRAFTS 28. ERRIRITEX

2020 2019
2020%F 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Secured EHRH
Bank overdrafts RITEX 16,968 17,023
Bank loans RITER 43,110 68,629
Unsecured fczigii
Bonds B 9,000 -
69,078 85,652
As at the end of reporting period, the Group’s borrowings and R EBR - REBMERRIRITE S ER
bank overdrafts were repayable as follows: (Note (vii)) Hﬁxﬂﬁﬂ—l— (P EE(vii))
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET TFHET
Within 1 year 1R 50,800 74,365
More than 1 year but less than 2 years ZR1FEMRE DR 2F 11,005 1,970
More than 2 years but less than 5 years Z R FEME D ASE 6,350 6,215
More than 5 years Z NS E 923 3,102
69,078 85,652
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28. BORROWINGS AND BANK OVERDRAFTS

(continued)

Notes:

U]

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

As at 31 December 2020, the borrowings and bank overdrafts
were secured and guaranteed by a counter indemnity provided
by a subsidiary for the issuance of guarantee or performance
bond (2019: same).

As at 31 December 2020, the banking facilities granted to
the Group were secured by bank deposits of HKSNil (2019:
HKS$40,060,000) (Note 23(c)) and insurance (Note 18); and were
guaranteed by a related company controlled by Dr. Kan and
secured by certain properties held by Dr. Kan (Note 32(a)).

The bank loans bear variable interest rate at 1% to 4% above
Hong Kong Inter Bank Offered Rate or London Inter Bank
Offered Rate (2019: 1% to 2%).

Bank overdrafts carry interest at the bank’s Hong Kong dollars
Best Lending Rate and are repayable on demand.

For bank loans and bank overdraft, the fair values approximate
their carrying amounts as they are either short term in maturity
or carried at commercial rates.

During the year, the Company issued HK$9,000,000 bonds
which carry 8% coupon interest and are due in 2022.

The amounts due are based on the scheduled repayment dates
set out in the bank loans. These bank borrowings contain a
repayment on demand clause and the amounts are therefore
presented as current liabilities.

ERRIBITEX (&)

PaE

()  FR2020F12A31H - B LBITEA—
I BT /BB 1 A) Bk 3% LE R R sk /B A0 R B IR Y
R EFER BRI IR R EIR (20195 ¢ $HH) o

iy  M2020%F 128318 AEEEENETR
EBRIRTTFEREHEIL(20195F 40,060,000/
T0) (B EE23(0)) BefR B (P s 18) VEAEHR - 3
HEE TS A —ERE A BERR R A
BET A S TYWEERT(ME320) °

(i) WITERREBRITRAER BN MMAEETT
B EFB M %ZE4%H)ZEF) R (20194 -
1%ZE2%)5T 8 °

(v)  RITEXIRZRITBE TREBE =
FHEAIREBRER -

(v) BEREHAIIESSIREENRTE - BT
BERRBITEIHAFERESNERE
HE o

(i)  FR - AR RETT9,000,00078 T B 8% =
B 2022F BB ES -

i) BHEZEBeBDNBRERITERAHENEE
BREE  ZERITENBSTREKEE
G35  ASEEFAREE -
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29. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS

29. EEREARER

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEHM
The remunerations of the directors are set out below: EEHME T
For the year ended 31 December 2020: HE2020F12A831HIEFE -
Employer’s
contribution to
aretirement Total
Fees Salary benefit scheme  emoluments
EEXmERK
BHIE
e ¢ B HEsE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER
Executive Directors HiTES
Mr. Wu Rui ("Mr. Wu") RinFE(TREE]) = = - -
Dr. Ho iET - 360 5 365
Mr. Lee Kai Lun (note ix) IR B4 70 A (FTEi) - 1,200 = 1,200
Mr. Guo Jianfeng ("Mr. Guo”) FRIBRE(HEE]D - 1,274 18 1,292
Sub-total INat - 2,834 23 2,857
Non-Executive Directors *¥HTES
Ms. Du Yi Mzt - = - _
Ms. Yip Man Shan Byt - - - _
Sub-total INEt - - - _
Independent Non-Executive BYFHTES
Directors
Ms. Ng Yi Kum, Estella hEELL 280 - - 280
Mr. Wong Wing Cheong, Philip EXELE 280 - - 280
Dr.Tang Dajie HAAEL 280 - - 280
Sub-total et 840 - - 840
Total Bar 840 2,834 23 3,697
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29. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS 29. EEEANRER®)

(continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EEFE(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZE2019F 128318 IEFE -
Employer's
contribution to
a retirement Total
Fees Salary  benefit scheme emoluments
EERIRIK
wAEE
2k e HfEE R s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FTET THT
Executive Directors HTEZ
Mr. Wu (note vi) REE (M) - - - -
Dr. Ho (notes ii & vi) BRI - - - -
Mr. Lee Kai Lun (note ix) MRS o 4 (P 2ix) - 1,200 - 1,200
Mr. Guo PBr4E - 1,280 17 1,297
Mr. Lee Sai Man (note iii) FHR 58 £ (B ki) - 364 6 370
Dr. Kan (note iv) BE(HEy) - 637 1 648
Mr. Wong Siu Kwai (note i) EIRE A () - 364 6 370
Mr. Kwong Po Lam (‘Mr. Kwong")  BMRAREA([BELAE])

(note iii) (BaFiin) - 400 6 406
Sub-total INEt - 4,245 46 4291
Non-Executive Directors FHTES
Ms. Du Yi (note vii) &2t (kv - - - -
Ms. Yip Man Shan (note vii) 3Oz = (B i) - - - -
Sub-total INEt - - - _
Independent Non-Executive BYFHTES

Directors
Ms. Ng Yi Kum, Estella (note viii) BAHE 2L (i viii) 129 - - 129
Mr. Wong Wing Cheong, Philip EKA S (P Fviii)

(note viii) 129 - - 129
Dr. Tang Dajie (note viii) ARG L (B viii) 129 - - 129
Mr. Fan Siu Kay (note v) BB (aEy) 130 - - 130
Mr. Leung William Wai Kai (note v) &5 4 (Fitzy) 130 - - 130
Mr. Lo Chi Leung (note v) EEREE () 130 - - 130
Sub-total Nt 777 - - 777
Total Het 777 4,245 46 5,068
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29. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS

(continued)

December 2020 #HZE20209F12A31HIEFE

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a)

Notes:

(@)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

Salary paid to a director is generally an emolument paid
or receivable in respect of that person’s other services
in connection with the management of the affairs of the
company or its subsidiary undertakings.

Dr. Ho was appointed as the chief executive officer of
the Company on 26 April 2019.

Resigned as executive director on 26 April 2019.

Resigned as executive director on 24 July 2019.

Resigned as independent non-executive director on 16
July 2019.

Appointed as executive director on 26 April 2019.

Appointed as non-executive director on 26 April 2019.

Appointed as independent non-executive director on 16

July 2019.

Resigned as executive director on 6 July 2021.

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits (b)

None

of the directors received or will receive any

retirement benefits during the year (2019: same).

(c) Directors’ termination benefits (c)

None

of the directors received or will receive any

termination benefits during the year (2019: same).

1 84 CT Vision S.L.

29. EETFAI RS ()

EE=HmM(E)

fia -

(@)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

XNTFTEENHFTBERUZEA
THER QA EHRENE R A
FEEBNEMRSC N R BUH ¥
B -

AR 2019F4 26 HEZ T AR
DRFTERARE, -

R2019F4 A26 BEHTHNITES

R2019F7 A24BBHTRITES -

R2019F7 R 16 BRHEBIERNITE
% °

R2019F 4260 ELZEABRITE
%o

R2019F4 26 B EZ T AIERTTE
% °

R2019%7 16 BIEZ T AIBIEH
TES -

R2021F7 A6 HBIHITMITES -

ESHRAER

FRBES EC RS W ET (R
RIBH (20194 : 4BRA)) ©

ESHNRLERER

FABEE F U WA T 42
1EF& A (2019%F - #EE]) °
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29. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS

(continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year, the Group did not pay consideration to
any third parties for making available directors’ services
(2019: same).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

During the year, there is no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealing arrangements in favour of directors, or
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors (2019: same).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Same as disclosed in Note 32, no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to
the Group's business to which the Group was a party
and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly; subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year (2019:
same).

2. EETA RS ()

(d)

(e)

(f)

RENEEREMAE=FIRE

FA -
EERCIED
R -

AEBEHEREREERBEM
=3 SHEAARAE (20195 -

FRUES  ZEZZZEHZEER
HERRASEAZEN  EEIRK
HteRX 5 2EH

FABMEUES EZ%%Z%V“%U
FELAEERRTEAZERN
EREEAMRF (20195 : HF) -

EENRS  RESEHN2EXER

SN SE32FT AR EE I A B A R L 2
BT 2 R R E R A3
(I EBERBE) A EELBEY
LI 5 o 4F PO B R 54 7 A 20
EARS - RHERAK(2019F : 48
A) o
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30. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING 30. REFHELENRS
ACTIVITIES
2020 2019
2020 20194F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FH&TT
Loss before tax MR B 1B (55,060) (109,368)
Adjustments for: FEE -
Depreciation of property, plant ME - BEX
and equipment BEIE 617 1,153
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 6,196 6,632
Impairment losses of right-of-use assets FERAREEERERBE - 1,123
Net reversal of impairment/(impairment RN ENEE
losses) on financial and contract assets WA CREEE)
BEFE (32,153) 88,297
Finance costs B 7% RE 7R 5,224 4,805
Interest income FLEUA (29) (583)
Change in fair value of financial asset at REZARZEATE
fair value through profit or loss J}ﬁ@ﬁ’]’i\%ﬁl;ﬁﬁ
NTEEEE 789 (360)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and Hj%%% - BE R
equipment FER W (1,650) (500)
Operating cash flows before working RiteiBEE &
capital changes BEBRERE (76,066) (8,801)
Changes in working capital: %Lé{/\“ fE) -
Trade receivables, deposits and B RINEIE - e
other receivables N E At FE W FR IR (36,576) (91,310)
Other assets HtmEE - (1,393)
Contract assets BHEE 13,731 95,251
Trade and other payables B 5 R E A JE T FIE 13,188 17,746
Contract liabilities aHEE (1,940) 11,762
Cash (used in)/generated from operations &% (FrA) /ELER S (87,663) 23,255
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30. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING 30. REFHELENRS @)
ACTIVITIES (continued)
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from REEEEEREERAN ' KEHEVE W=
sale of property, plant and equipment comprise: LB MSHRIEEE
2020 2019
20205 2019%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#&xT FHT
Cost disposed HE R AR 13,434 14,470
Accumulated depreciation ZEHinE (13,434) (14,470)
Gain on disposal of property, LEVIE - BE KRB
plant and equipment ol 1,650 500
1,650 500
(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (a) BETHELEEBHNYR
activities
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities TRAMAEERESZHEEANEE
arising from financing activities, including both cash WES  BIERe&IBEEEH - @
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing AERPEENAGBEEREREIR
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future RIEERESRAEBNGEESR
cash flows will be, classified in the Group's consolidated EXRADELARETHNESRE °

statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.

Annual Report 2020 %  CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & X JIEE ( BIBR ) #E % A R A &) 1 87



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T A BTSRRI ET

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020412 431 B ILEE

30. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING 30. RETHEEMNE S (&)
ACTIVITIES (continued)

(@) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (a) BMETHELEEBENWYIRE)
activities (continued)

Amount
Interest dueto Amount
payable  Dr.Kan due to
(included  (included Loans immediate
inother  inother Lease from  holding
payable)  payable) Bankloan Bonds liabilities  directors company Total
EAmEEL
EAME FEGIA EffER
(GrAHME HfpEf REES £RAF

EfHE)  ®E) RTERK % HERR WER  HRE st
HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000 — HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000 — HKS'000
TEr  TET  TEr  TEr  TEr  TAr  TEr  TEn

At 1 January 2019 #201951A18 - - 67618 - 12138 20,888 - 100,644
Financing cashflows ~ BARSRE - - (2,895) - (10076)  (20888) 17847 (16012
Acquisition of leases ~ WEETHE - - - - 14,181 - - 14,181
Interests expenses FIEHY - - 3,906 - 899 - - 4805
Exchange differences  [ERZE - - - - (56) - - (56)
At31December 2019 72019128318 - - 68629 - 17,086 - 17847 103562
Financing cash flows ~ BARARE (4,278) 4468  (25519) 9,000  (8,195) - (13450)  (37,974)
Acquisition of leases ~ WiEETE - - - - 2,742 - - 2,782
Lease modification REBS = = - - (1,008) - = (1,008)
Interests expenses FlEHY 4417 - - - 807 - - 5,224
Exchange differences  [Ej Z5 = - - - 444 - 184 628
At31December 2020  }2020%12A31H 139 4,468 43,110 9,000 11,876 - 4581 73,174
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31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

At 31 December 2020, the Group had contingent
liabilities in respect of performance bonds to guarantee
the due and proper performance of the obligations
undertaken by the Group’s subsidiaries for projects
amounting to HK$7,400,500 (2019: HK$14,771,500).

At 31 December 2020, the Group had contingent
liabilities in respect of potential liquidated and
ascertained damages claims for two construction
projects amounting to HK$28,964,000. Management
is of the opinion that no outflow of resources will be
required to settle the claims as supported with an
external legal opinion.

32. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE

For the purposes of the consolidated financial statements,
a party is considered to be related to the Group if the party
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise significant
influence over the Group in making financial and operating
decisions. Related parties may be individuals (being members

of key management personnel, significant shareholders and/

or their close family members) or other entities and include
entities which are under the significant influence of related
parties of the Group where those parties are individuals.
Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to
common control.

31.

32.

HREE

(@) M2020F12A318 © KEBFBERAK
SEMNBARZERITHNIER FTAE
ETMEAEBORESENKAGRE
57,400,500/ 70 (20194F © 14,771,500
JL) °

(b)  FA20209F12A318 © NEBFMIER
HIFEMAEEERBENEES Y
N 8L 98 B 1E 528,964,000 7T © B 1
EBRA  WHINEEERERL LS BT
EERLEREERE-

BARE T IR

R MIEMERMT -~ W — T EMEEKE
BEEANEBMENT S MEERRBEEX
FEN ARG SEAKEERE - B
AREBEANEZERALR  SHKRER
%&/I{&ﬂE’ULﬂtﬁ)Z}ZEm 'R BEL
%lJ*'fI/\E’JF%H‘“?‘ﬁTEEEK%%ﬁE’]E
LR B B9 & 07 TR A BE R 7T o

B o TEIK
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32. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE (continued) 32. AL IE )
Management is of the view that the following individuals EEERAETIATEARAHEMNFR
and companies were related parties that had transactions or HEAREB BB R SR IERIEE T -

balances with the Group as at and during the year.

Name of related party Relationship with the Group
BRI 5 & B ERAC SR B A BA R
Mr. Wu Executive Director
REHE WMITES
Dr. Ho Executive Director
At + WITES
Mr. Lee Kai Lun Executive Director
RSB 5% 4 WITES
Mr. Guo Executive Director
FEAE WITES
CT Vision Investment Limited Immediate holding company
PREEREBRAR] HEEERAA
(@) Related party balances (a) EERAEETT WA
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FTHET THET
Amount due to the immediate JE BB A RIFUR
holding company (Note) (B&E) 4,581 17,847
Note: BitsE
The balance is denominated in HK$, non-trade in nature, BB TTEHE - RIFBH Y - EEA
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. ke S HAREREE -
The carrying amount of amount due to the immediate ENEZEERATRENRAELER
holding company approximates its fair values. NEEESE °
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32. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE (continued)

(b)

Key management personnel compensation

The remuneration of directors and senior management
who were considered as key management personnel of
the Group during the year is as follows:

32. BEEAIE &)

(b)

FTEEEASHM

FARBERAEBEITEZEEAEBNE
ELREREEABRNFHOT

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$’000 HKS'000

FET FHEIT

Short-term benefits 2 HfR A 5,123 5,410
Pension costs — defined R — R

contribution plans HERETE 69 69

5,192 5,479

33. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

Pursuant to a shareholders’ resolution passed on 23
February 2021, the authorised share capital of the
Company was increased from HK$10,000,000 divided
into 1,000,000,000 shares of the Company of HK$0.01
each to HK$ 15,600,000 divided into 1,560,000,000 shares
by the creation of 560,000,000 additional shares, which
will, upon issue and being fully paid, rank pari passu in
all respects with the Shares in issue.

Pursuant to a shareholders’ resolution passed on
23 February 2021, the existing English name of
the Company will be changed from “CT Vision
(International) Holdings Limited” to “CT Vision S.L.
(International) Holdings Limited” and the dual foreign
name in Chinese of the Company be changed from "/
REME (B ERBR AR to “Hp RIEH: (B ) %
%A BR 2 8]” with effect from the date of the certificate
of incorporation on change of name issued by the
Registrar of Companies in the Cayman Islands. The
change was effective from 25 March 2021,

33. EHEEE

(a)

BIER2021F 28238 @B ER
FHE BB ER 560,000,000 A% 1 A%
5 RRREE R E# 10,000,000/ 7T
(% 71,000,000,000 i% & A% 0.01 7 7T &9
AN AR ) 215,600,000 7T (9 B
1,560,000,000 8% B 1) + ¥73E B2 10 PR 5%
TRHRE  HESTEHEDBEITR
DEHEREHAL o

BER2021F 28 23BRBHRE
RER  ARAIENEHIEHREAE
2 [ CT Vision (International) Holdings
Limited | ¥ 2 & [ CT VisionS.L
(International) Holdings Limited ] + K& 7K
NAZHAXEEINEEBEHFRE
BB ERERARTIERA [FHX
JER:(RBEOIERER AT - BHEE
ERFdMEEREHEREHE 2T
MEEE BRER - ZEHE20214F3
A25HBER -

Annual Report 2020 %  CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & X JIEE ( BIBR ) #E % A R A &) 1 91



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020412 431 B ILEE

33. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(continued)

(@]

1 92 CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited & & JIE &k (BB ) 12 ik A R A &)

On 23 August 2021, WWWC and Well Famous
International Investment Limited (“Well Famous”)
entered into an Agreement, pursuant to which WWWC
has conditionally agreed to assign and novate all
rights, titles, interests, benefits, covenants, liabilities,
duties and obligations of WWW(C in respect of Saipan
Project contract and the subcontracts with effect
from the Completion Date at the Consideration of
HK$179,584,366. The consideration was arrived after
taking into account, among other things, (i) the
aggregate amount of prepayments of HK$113,543,812
made by WWWC pursuant to the Saipan Project; (ii)
the aggregate receivable balance of HK$51,441,232
to be received by WWWC; (iii) the retention deposit of
HK$18,299,322 paid by WWWC; and (iv) the aggregate
payable balance of HK$3,700,000 to be paid by WWWC.

The Consideration for the Assignment and Novation is
HK$179,584,366 which shall be paid by Well Famous
to WWWC in the following manner: (a) HK$30,000,000,
being the non-refundable deposit, has been paid in
cash by Well Famous to WWWC prior to the execution
of the Agreement; and (b) HK$149,584,366 shall be
satisfied by the issue of the Promissory Note by Well
Famous in favour of WWWC upon Completion. Details
of the transaction were disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 23 August 2021.

On 2 November 2021, WWWC and Well Famous
mutually agreed not to proceed with the Assignment
and Novation. As such, on 2 November 2021, WWWC
and Well Famous entered into a deed of termination
(the “Termination Deed”) to terminate the Agreement
with immediate effect. With effect from the date of the
Termination Deed, each of WWWC and Well Famous
shall be fully released and discharged forthwith from
their respective outstanding obligations (if any) under
the Agreement and each of them has no further
obligations or rights or any claims against the other
under the Agreement. Details of the termination were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 2
November 2021.

33. /REHEREE %)

MR2021F8A23H » EEEEMFEL
BB EBRAAI([ER )T
BBl BEEEEERMHEERE
MBEAARDBANEEMERE
HEENTBRET - TERE - Exm
flzx - ¥ - BE- - EEEREB - 8
SeAK B EAREAERK - 1B /179,584,366
B REDNEEBE(HEFAERE)
(VEBRZELEBEENBEEEMNAE
113,543,812 7T + (ii) 1 3 12 25 A9 M AR
JE U 45 B4 #A BB 51,441,23278 70 5 (i) &
BEEDIRE £18,2993228 7T ¢
Ko (i) E SR EE 18 S ST ) JE S A e 1B R

3,700,000 7T ©

HERNBEBNNRER179,584,366
BT BERELREEMEERAT A
AT ¢ (a)30,000,00058 7T AT AR [E
e Em% RAEBRETE s
SN ZATAR & S 0 K (b)149,584,366
BILEHBELUNEBEEAT AR
TR ETARLEEN AL -

T HHBWERANRR B A20214F8
A23B2R%E -

R2021F 11 A28 - EREEEFELE
ERBETETEZEROBES - A
I FA20215E 11 A28 - B
BRETM R IERIE (T8 IERIR ) - AR
Wz theE - WERNBF A - BRI
BHEfRR - EREERELREZDZ

ZEEMATRET(WNE)ENRE2A
%%&%%*ﬁ&ﬁfﬁﬂmﬁﬁ&
ENE—TEXR T AL HENE

—HEFR - TAEREZBERS —
FREEMBR - KIEFFBEERR
NARIHEA201F N A2BZRE

Annual Report 2020 3



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A BTSRRI T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & %2020 12431 ILEE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF  34. A TBERRE
THE COMPANY

2020 2019
20204 20194
HKS$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT

Non-current assets FRBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE LB /B R B FR0E 177,002 63,457
Interests in subsidiaries A B A R ER 62,558 53,486
239,560 116,943

Current assets RBEE

Other receivables Hh U EIR 221 223
Amounts due from subsidiaries I EPNGIE S 43,986 46,268
Income tax receivables UL FRr 15 7% 50 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReERACEEY 141 3
44,398 46,494
Total assets BEE 283,958 163,437
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 34. AATFHMBMRREK#)
THE COMPANY (continued)

2020 2019
2020 20194F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B aE FHET FATT
Equity ER
Share capital A% A 7,608 6,120
Reserves REE (a) 263,248 153,292
Total equity ERBE 270,856 159,412
Liabilities =R+
Non-current liabilities RBEE
Borrowings EEN 9,000 -
Current liabilities RBAE
Other payables Hh T RUIR 2,492 2,679
Amount due to the immediate N EEER AT
holding company IE 1,610 1,700
Bank overdrafts RITEX - 240
Current tax liabilities BIEATRIE B & - 6
4,102 4,025
Total liabilities BERAE 13,102 4,025
Total equity and liabilities ExkEEAE 283,958 163,437
The statement of financial position of the Company was RRARMBERARKERESTSR2021F12H
approved by the board of directors on 15 December 2021 and 1SE#E WA TESREKREE
was signed on its behalf.
Ho Chun Kit Gregory Wong Kee Chung
1A 42 % BLER
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

EFE EFE
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 34. AATFMBMRRE#)
THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: MEE -
Reserves movement of the Company NAEIEEE
Share  Accumulated
premium losses Total
&8 E BEEBE A5t
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
T FHET FHT
At 1 January 2019 HR2019F1 A1H 166,239 (5,072) 161,167
Loss and total comprehensive loss FEBER
for the year FHEGEETE - (7,875) (7,875)
At 31 December 2019 FR2019F12A31H 166,239 (12,947) 153,292
Loss and total comprehensive loss FEBEEBREEBEERE
for the year - (2,580) (2,580)
Transactions with owners in their HEBAUEREEASBELT
capacity of owners: N5 :
Contributions of equity net of B 5 A R A B B
transaction costs 112,536 - 112,536
At 31 December 2020 72020512A31H 278,775 (15,527) 263,248
ﬁ
35. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 35. KBETF
Certain comparative figures of the consolidated financial RAEMBRENE THEREEEEFNHEU
statements were reclassified to conform with the current HFEREEMEIAR -

year's presentation.
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Financial Summary

B 7548 &

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for ~ AREE@BEF R EMHEEMEEREELRBER
the last five financial years are as follows. EMT -

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31ALLEE

RESULTS E 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
20205 20194 20184 20174 20164

HK$’000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000

FAET FHET FHET FHET FHET

Revenue Wz 250,889 246,880 610,761 821,907 715107
(Loss) profit before tax MELRT (R & (55,060) (109,368) 21,869 31,206 55,287
Income tax (expense) credit  FTEF (FX)iE%® (1,104) 1,230 (4,475) (8319 (13,150)
(Loss) profit for the year FE(ER)HEMN (56,164) (108,138) 17,394 22,887 42,137

At 31 December

M12831H

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERAE 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
20204 20194 2018%F 20174 2016%F

HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET FHET FHETT FET

Total assets BEAE 536,193 517,742 584,865 449,667 338,897
Total liabilities BEeE (241,354) (283,513) (241,979) (210,092) (213,033)
Net assets BEFE 294,839 234,229 342,886 239,575 125,864

This annual report is published in both English and Chinese  ZR4F i LA 1 3 32 F| & o fh 3 AR AN 40 & F1{a] &
languages. Should there be any inconsistency between the Chinese £ » A X i A 2%E o
and English versions, the English version shall prevail.
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